
 

 

North Devon Council 
Brynsworthy Environment Centre 
Barnstaple 
North Devon   EX31 3NP 
 

K. Miles 

Chief Executive. 
 

 
 

 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
A meeting of the  Planning Committee will be held as a Virtual – Online meeting on 
WEDNESDAY, 10TH FEBRUARY, 2021 at 10.00 am. 
 
Members of the Committee Councillor Ley (Chair) 

 
Councillors Chesters, Crabb, Davies, Fowler, Gubb, Lane, Leaver, Luggar, Mackie, 
Prowse, D. Spear, L. Spear, Tucker and Yabsley 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Virtual meetings procedure - briefing and etiquette.   

 Chair to report. 
 

2.   Apologies for absence   

3.   To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meetings held on 13th January 
2021 and 20th January 2021.  (Pages 5 - 12) 

4.   Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by 
the meeting as a matter of urgency   

5.   Declaration of Interests   

 (Please complete the form provided at the meeting or telephone the Corporate 
and Community Services Team to prepare a form for your signature before the 
meeting.  Items must be re-declared when the item is called, and Councillors must 
leave the room if necessary) 
 

 

PART A 

6.   66135: Outline application for erection of one Local Needs dwelling & access 
(some matters reserved) (amended plans) at: Barleycott, Muddiford, 
Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 4ES.  (Pages 13 - 44) 

 Report by Senior Planning Officer (North) (attached). 
 

7.   71660: Outline application for up to 59 residential units and associated 
infrastructure, some matters reserved (appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale) (additional information) at Land at Chivenor Cross, Chivenor, 
Braunton EX31 4BN  (Pages 45 - 126) 

Public Document Pack



 
 

 
2 

 

 Report by Senior Planning Officer (North) (attached). 
 

8.   Appeals Report  (Pages 127 - 154) 

 To consider the appeals report (attached). 
 

 

PART B (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION) 

Nil. 
 
 
 

 

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and 
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253 

 

NOTE: Pursuant to Part 3, Annexe 1, paragraph 3 of the Constitution, Members 
should note that: 
 

"If a Member: 
 

 (a) Arrives at a meeting during the consideration of an item; or 
 (b) Leaves a meeting at any time during the consideration of an item; 
 

 They shall not: 
  

 (i) propose or second any motion or amendment; or 
 (ii) cast a vote 
 

2.02.21 
 



 
 

 
3 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings 
 
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making. 
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council 
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be 
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is 
respected.  
 
The rules that the Council will apply are:  
 

1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must 
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we 
know recording is taking place and a reminder will be issued at the 
commencement of virtual meetings. 

 
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording 

if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting 
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.  

 
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public 

is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should 
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off. In a virtual 
meeting the public will be excluded from the meeting while in Part B. 

 
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that 

agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can 
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the 
earliest opportunity. Public contributions to virtual meetings will be recorded, 
unless, at the Chair’s discretion, recording is deemed in appropriate in accordance 
with point 2 above. 

 
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or 

misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of 
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in 
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.  

 
Notes for guidance: 
 
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our 
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make 
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.  
 
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271 
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team 
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk.



 
 

 
4 

 

 

Meeting Etiquette Reminder for Members  
 
Members are reminded to: 

 Join the meeting at least 10-15 minutes prior to the commencement to ensure that the 
meeting starts on time. 

 Behave as you would in a formal committee setting. 

 Address Councillors and officers by their full names. 

 Do not have Members of your household in the same room.  

 Be aware of what is in screen shot. 

 Mute your microphone when you are not talking. 

 Switch off video if you are not speaking. 

 Only speak when invited to do so by the Chair. 

 Speak clearly (if you are not using video then please state your name)  

 If you’re referring to a specific page, mention the page number. 

 Switch off your video and microphone after you have spoken. 

 The only person on video will be the Chair and the one other person speaking. 

 Only use the Chat function to register that you wish to speak or to move or second a 

motion. 

 

Virtual attendance by members of the public 

 

If members of the public wish to attend virtually, please contact Corporate and 

Community services on 01271 388253 or memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk by 12pm 

on the Monday preceding the meeting. 
 

mailto:memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk


 

Planning Committee - 13 January 2021 
 

1 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Planning Committee held at Virtual - Online meeting on 
Wednesday, 13th January, 2021 at 10.00 am 
 
PRESENT: Members: 

 
 Councillor Ley (Chair) 

 
 Councillors Chesters, Davies, Gubb, Lane, Leaver, Luggar, Mackie, 

Prowse, D. Spear, L. Spear, Tucker and Yabsley 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Solicitor (Legal Officer), Lead Planning Officer (North) and Senior 
Planning Officer 
 

 Also Present: 
 

 Councillor Wilkinson  
 
   

131.   VIRTUAL MEETINGS PROCEDURE - BRIEFING AND ETIQUETTE 
 

The Chair outlined the virtual meeting procedure and etiquette to the Committee and 
attendees. 
 
The Senior Corporate and Community Services Officer confirmed the names of 
those Councillors and officers present and advised that members of the public were 
also in attendance to address the Committee or listen to proceedings. 
 

132.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

No apologies for absence were received. 
 

133.   TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE 
MEETING HELD ON 9TH DECEMBER 2020 
 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 9th December 2020 
(circulated previously) be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chair with the amendment to minute 130 as follows: “RESOLVED that 
(unanimous) recommendation 2.1.4 “Accept no compromise on the Section 
106 and pursue delivery of five affordable dwellings and £118,201” be sought 
as per section 2.1.4 in the report by the Head of Place.” 

 
In response to a question from the Committee, the Solicitor (DH) confirmed that 
Ward Members could not attend confidential discussions (under Part B rules) in 
relation to an application in their ward.  Only those on the Committee could be privy 
to ‘Part B’ discussions. 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
Planning Committee - 13 January 2021 

 
 

 
2 

 

 

134.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 

No declarations of interest were declared. 
 

135.   71660: OUTLINE APPLICATION FOR UP TO 59 RESIDENTIAL 
UNITS AND ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE, SOME MATTERS 
RESERVED (APPEARANCE, LANDSCAPING, LAYOUT AND 
SCALE) (ADDITIONAL INFORMATION). 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Place (circulated previously). 
 
The Senior Planning Officer (MB) advised the Committee of two typographical errors 
within the report.  The site description on page 12 should have stated 3.1ha and not 
31ha and that reference to heritage asset on page 67 paragraph 4 should have 
stated “slight impact of heritage asset”. 
 
Rupert Pilkington (objector), Councillor S. Crowther (Heanton Punchardon Parish 
Council), Sue Prosper (Chair of Love Braunton) and Penny Mills (Devon CPRE 
(Campaign to Protect Rural England)) addressed the Committee. 
 
The Senior Corporate and Community Services Officer read a statement from the 
applicant to the Committee. 
 
David Relph (Braunton Parish Council) addressed the Committee. 
 
In response to questions from the Committee, Senior Planning Officer (MB) advised: 
 

 The Authority had a shortfall in its five-year housing land supply. There was 
scope for this application to assist in addressing this shortfall. 

 The report was drafted based on careful consideration of a tilted balance due 
to the lack of a five year land supply. 

 A recent High Court decision, as referred to by Cllr Crowther, was not 
believed to affect this recommendation. 

 The size and mix of buildings of various sizes and types on the site would be 
considered under the reserved matters. 
The planning conditions set out a 24 month period for seeking reserved 
matter permission. 
 

Lead Planning Officer (North) (BP) advised the Committee that the report from the 
Housing Enabling Officer did not confirm whether a Housing Needs Survey had been 
carried out, but that one would have been requested on an exception site.  
 
In response to questions from the Committee, Senior Planning Officer (MB) advised: 
  

 The site was not considered to be an exception site. 

 Provision had been made for 30% affordable housing. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



 
Planning Committee - 13 January 2021 

 
 

 
3 

 

 A previous application on the site (63047) had been refused in 2018. At that time 
it had been refused under the previous Local Plan for a number of reasons. 

 Foul waste would be pumped uphill to Heanton Punchardon but this was not a 
reason to refuse the application. 

 The Authority did not have a five-year land supply.  It was not for the applicant to 
provide proof of this, the requirement was on the Authority to be able to 
demonstrate it. 

 The applicant had confirmed they were willing to enter a legal agreement to 
agree the infrastructure requirements so there was no reason to believe there 
would be a viability issue in future. 

 
In response to questions from the Committee, Paul Young of Devon County Council 
(DCC) advised that: 
 

 The issue of past flooding of the Chivenor roundabout could be reported to the 
DCC Neighbourhood Highways Team to investigate. He also advised that 
localised flooding of the roundabout was not a sufficient concern which would 
result in recommending refusal of the application. 

 The Toucan Crossing referred to in the report was the same crossing as 
mentioned in the permissions for the site opposite this.  There would not be two 
crossings. The two developers could share the costs of the provision of the 
crossing between them. 

 As a Highways organisation, DCC would consider the cumulative impact of 
developments on the area. It recognised the increased demand on the Braunton 
cross-road junction but that it would remain below the threshold of material 
impact.  They would not recommend refusal on highways grounds, but would be 
justified to seek improvement.  

 
In response to questions from the Committee, Senior Planning Officer (MB) advised: 
  

 The red line on the plan extended to DCC Highways land.  

 The requirement for a Building for Life Assessment had not been included 
within the proposed conditions however it formed part of the planning 
application validation checklist. 

 The Design Review Panel had not been approached, however it could be 
included as an advisory note should the application be approved. 

 The response of the Environmental Health Officer in relation to air quality had 
been included in the report. He was content with the findings in relation to 
both air quality and environmental impact. 

 The Authority would seek the education contribution as requested by the 
Education Authority. 

 
Lead Planning Officer (North) (BP) advised the Committee that at the time that the 
previous application for this site (63047) was considered and subsequently refused, 
it had been considered that the Authority had demonstrated that it had a five-year 
land supply, and, as the site fell outside of the boundary it could be refused.  Any 
refusal now could not be based on the same reasons as previously set out because 
any references to the Local Plan policies would be outdated as would have changed 
when the new Local Plan was adopted. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



 
Planning Committee - 13 January 2021 

 
 

 
4 

 

 
In response to questions from the Committee, Senior Planning Officer (MB) advised: 
 

 The Authority could not now demonstrate a five-year land supply. In terms 
of the previous application, the situation had moved on. 

 The site would demonstrate a bio-diversity net gain. 
 
RESOLVED (7 for, 6 against) that the application be DEFERRED for two cycles 
pending receipt of: 
 

a) Confirmation of Housing Needs and updated information in relation to the five-
year housing land supply; and that  

b) Officers be requested to provide a response to the High Court legal decisions 
taken where the five-year land supply had been taken into account. 

 
 

136.   APPEALS REPORT 
 

The Committee noted a report by the Head of Place (circulated previously) regarding 
planning and enforcement appeal decisions received since those reported at the last 
meeting of the Committee. 
 
Councillor Prowse advised that, in relation to the appeal on the application for The 
White Hart, Bratton Fleming, the community had lost the appeal to register the public 
house as a community asset. However, new tenants had now been found and he 
requested that the enforcement team were made aware of the change. 
 
 
Chair 
The meeting ended at 12.09 pm 
 
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of 
the Committee. 
 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



 

Planning Committee - 20 January 2021 
 

1 
 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of Planning Committee held at Virtual - Online meeting on 
Wednesday, 20th January, 2021 at 10.00 am 
 
PRESENT: Members: 

 
 Councillor Ley (Chair) 

 
 Councillors Biederman, Chesters, Davies, Fowler, Lane, Leaver, 

Luggar, Mackie, Prowse, D. Spear, L. Spear, Tucker and Yabsley 
 

 Officers: 
 

 Head of Place, Solicitor (Legal Officer) and Lead Planning Officer 
(North) 
 

 Also Present: 
 

 Councillors Wilkinson and Worden. 

 
   
 

137.   VIRTUAL MEETINGS PROCEDURE - BRIEFING AND ETIQUETTE 
 

The Chair outlined the virtual meeting procedure and etiquette to the Committee and 
attendees. 
 
The Senior Corporate and Community Services Officer confirmed the names of 
those Councillors and officers present and advised that members of the public were 
also in attendance to address the Committee or listen to proceedings. 
 

138.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies were received from Councillor Gubb and Councillor Biederman had been 
appointed as her substitute for the meeting. 
 

139.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 

The following declaration of interest was announced: 
 
Councillor Lane – Planning application 60385: Personal Interest as he was a builder 
and developer. 
 

140.   TO AGREE THE AGENDA BETWEEN PART 'A' AND PART 'B' 
(CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION) 
 

The Committee agreed the agenda between part ‘A’ and part ‘B’. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3
Appendix A



 
Planning Committee - 20 January 2021 

 
 

 
2 

 

 

141.   60385 ERECTION OF 17 DWELLINGS (3 BUNGALOWS AND 14 
HOUSES), LAND ADJACENT PEARLDEAN, WEST DEVON 
 

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Place (circulated previously). 
 
Roy Drew (objector), John Stainer (West Down Community Recreational Field) and 
Mark Thomas (agent) addressed the Committee. 
 
The Chair asked whether a representative from West Down Parish Council was 
present to addressed the Committee as the Chair had registered to address the 
Committee. 
 
Councillor Wilkinson addressed the Committee as Ward Member. 
 
In response to questions from the Committee, the Head of Place advised that there 
was a mechanism in place where developers could come forward where there was 
an issue regarding a lack of viability on a site. However, there had been a mistake 
made on this application which questioned the ability to enforce the Section 106 
agreement. 
 
The Lead Planning Officer read an email to the Committee which had been received 
from Plymouth City Council in relation to the valuation of the increased calculation 
had the five dwellings been sold at market value. This was deemed to be £745,200. 
 
In response to questions from the Committee, the Lead Planning Officer confirmed 
that although the site plan did show a plot numbered 18, there were only 17 on this 
site as one plot had been removed to site a pumping station. The plots had not been 
re-numbered.  He also noted that planning for an additional dwelling had been 
awarded but that it was not as part of this application and was therefore not 
considered within the Section 106. 
 

142.   EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS AND RESTRICTION OF 
DOCUMENTS 
 

RESOLVED:  
 
(a)That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item as it involved 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 5 Part 1 
Schedule 12A of the Act (as amended from time to time), namely information 
in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained 
in legal proceedings; 
  
(b)That all documents and reports relating to the item be confirmed as “Not for 
Publication”. 

 

143.   60385 ERECTION OF 17 DWELLINGS (3 BUNGALOWS AND 14 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3
Appendix A



 
Planning Committee - 20 January 2021 

 
 

 
3 

 

HOUSES), LAND ADJACENT PEARLDEAN, WEST DOWN 
 

The Committee received legal advice from the Council’s Solicitor.  The Senior 
Corporate and Community Services Officer read out an email to the Committee on 
behalf of Carole King (Chair West Down Parish Council). 
 

RESOLVED that the public and press be re-admitted to the meeting to enable 
the Committee to consider planning application 60385 under item 6 on the 
agenda. 

 
The Senior Corporate and Community Services Officer read out an email to the 
Committee on behalf of Carole King (Chair West Down Parish Council). 
 

RESOLVED (12 for, 2 abstained, 0 against) that authority be delegated to the 
Head of Place in consultation with the Monitoring Officer, Chief Executive and 
Planning Committee Chair to negotiate an agreement with Acorn 
Developments (SW) Ltd, and in default of an agreement being reached, this 
matter be referred back to the Planning Committee. 

 
 
Chair 
The meeting ended at 12.16 pm 
 
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of 
the Committee. 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3
Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Report 
Strategic Development & 
Planning Place Services             

North Devon Council Lynton 
House, Commercial Road, 

Barnstaple, EX31 1DG 
 

 

Application No: 66135 Application 
Expiry: 

20 January 2021 

Application Type: Outline application Ext Of Time 
Expiry: 

20 January 2021 

  Publicity 
Expiry: 

6 December 
2019 

Parish/Ward: Marwood/Marwood 
Location: Barleycott, Muddiford,Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 4ES 
Proposal: Outline application for erection of one Local Needs 

dwelling & access (some matters reserved) (amended 
plans) 

Agent: Woodward Smith Chartered Architects 
Applicant: Mr G Bosence & Ms S Cockburn 
Planning Case Officer: Mr. M. Brown 
Departure: N 
EIA Development: N EIA Conclusion: Development is outside the 

scope of the Regulations. 
 
Decision Level/Reason for Report to 
Committee (If Applicable): 

 
Committee / Application Called 
In by Councillor Tucker to  
enable the Planning Committee 
to fully consider the benefits of 
providing a local needs 
dwelling for two local key 
workers at the North Devon 
District Hospital 

 

 

UPDATE JANUARY 2021 
 

Members will recall that at their June 2020 meeting they resolved (unanimous) 
that the application be DEFERRED. 

 
The Ward member has requested that the application be brought back to the 
Committee for consideration, following the presentation of the position with 
regard to preparing a supplementary planning document in relation to Rural 
Settlements; to Members at their August meeting. This report is attached as 
Insert 3 to this report. 

 
Firstly, ‘key workers’ have been excluded from the current Local Plan as they 
aren’t mentioned in policy terms. This is something that a current application 
can’t change as the Local Plan is adopted. DM24 requires a local connection 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



which could relate to key workers if they have a link to that parish. For key 
workers in relation to the hospital, which is outside of the application sites 
Parish, there are homes available on sites in Barnstaple which could meet their 
needs. 

 
Policy DM24 and ST07(3) don’t enable clusters of places (such as the Marwood 
cluster) to be considered collectively to comprise a Rural Settlement and benefit 
from the policy provisions that support particular forms of development at such 
locations. Those places that are simply clusters of housing that do not contain a 
prescribed service or facility cannot be considered to comprise a Rural 
Settlement under the Local Plan. 

 
Nevertheless, several settlements in the Marwood cluster will qualify as Rural 
Settlements in their own right: Muddiford has a public house and church; 
Milltown has a village hall; Marwood has a church. However the other 
settlements within Marwood parish not containing an identified community 
facility would not qualify, such as the application site. 

 
The list of prescribed services (community facilities) as detailed in Policy 
ST07(3)/DM24 had been prepared jointly with Torridge District Council. The list 
could be amended as part of a future review of the Joint Local Plan. A frequently 
asked questions document had been considered at the last meeting of the Joint 
Local Planning Working Group, which sets out that:- 

 
Does as a farm shop qualify as a community facility in the 
context of defining a Rural Settlement? 

 
A convenience shop is identified (paragraph 4.15) as one of the 
types of qualifying community facility that would enable a place to be 
considered as a Rural Settlement. A convenience shop would be 
expected to sell a range of food and general convenience goods to 
meet the day to day needs of the local community; such as bread, 
milk, sweets, cereal, tins of foods, newspapers etc. These are 
typically the types of goods that may be sold in a local corner shop. 
If a farm shop sells predominantly the goods a convenience shop 
would sell, then it could be a qualifying facility capable of enabling the 
place to be considered as Rural Settlement. 

 
However, to enable the place to be considered a Rural Settlement, a 
qualifying farm shop would have to be located within a small, closely 
grouped cluster of housing extending beyond a farm holding. Several 
farm cottages loosely grouped around a farm shop, whether providing 
residential or tourist accommodation, would not in itself constitute a 
place which could be reasonably considered as a Rural Settlement. 

 
If the farm shop: 
□ is not located within a small, closely grouped cluster of housing; or 
□ does not sell predominantly convenience goods; or 
□ predominantly sells goods (such as postcards and souvenirs) 
aimed at tourists or visitors; 
then the farm shop would not qualify as a community facility and the 
place would not be considered as a Rural Settlement. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6



 
The application is in a location where there is no prescribed service, 
even noting Blakewell Fisheries operation. As such the site is 
located in the open countryside which does not allow for such 
development under Policy ST07(4). 
 
The applicant has not yet secured the outstanding information:- 
(b) information regarding whether the negative impact on the 
landscape can be resolved; 
(c) receipt of an ecology report;. 
 
Devon County Council’s highway objection was reiterated, on the 
29/09/2020, as set out previously.  They set out that having 
reviewed the accident data for the period 2014-2019, there have 
been 5 no. recorded accidents within approximately 500 metres of 
the subject junction (2 no. of which were at, or within close 
proximity, to the junction (1 no. slight and 1 no. serious)). 

 
The recommendation is therefore one of refusal as set out originally:- 

 
Recommendation 
Refused 

 
Reason(s) For Refusal 

 

1. The proposal is located in the Countryside where development will be 
limited to that which meets local economic and social needs, rural 
building re-use and development which is necessarily restricted to a 
Countryside location, furthermore it will not conserve or enhance the 
character of the countryside. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
Policy ST07(4) of the adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

 
2. The increased use of the junction onto the Class II County Road, the 

B3230, resulting from the proposed development will, by reason of the 
limited visibility from and of vehicles using the junction, be likely to result in 
additional danger to all users of the road and interference with the free flow 
of traffic contrary to Policies ST10 and DM05 of the adopted North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan 

 
3. Insufficient information has been submitted to satisfy the Local 

Planning Authority that sufficient information has been submitted to 
demonstrate a net gain in biodiversity and as to whether an 
unacceptable impact on protected species and habitat and trees may 
occur contrary to Policies ST14, DM04 and DM08 of the adopted North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



UPDATE June 2020 
Members will recall that at their February 2020 meeting they resolved:- 

 

RESOLVED (9 for, 3 against, 1 abstained) that the application be DEFERRED 
for a period of four months pending receipt of the following information: 
(a) confirmation of Devon County Council’s highways stance on the proposal; 
(b) information regarding whether the negative impact on the landscape 
can be resolved; 
(c) receipt of an ecology report; 
(d) clarification of reasons why ‘key workers’ have been excluded from the current 
Local Plan; 
(e) update on the timetable for the production and adoption of a 
Supplementary Planning Document in relation to Rural Settlements. 

 
Given the recent emergency the additional information has not been secured. 
As such it is recommended that the application be deferred until the additional 
information is available. 

 
Recommendation 

 

Defer until the additional information is available. 
 

 
 

Site Description 
Initial access to the site is off of the B3230 Muddiford Road at the Blakewell 
Fishery Road junction. The County Road used to access the proposed site is 
single track in the main with passing places. Ass Blakewell Fishery is passed 
the road rises and is characterised by high hedges with the landform rising to 
the north and falling down to the valley bottom to the west. 

 
Access into the site is currently via a field gate which can only be accessed 
while travelling up the hill (this is approximately 1.2 miles from the NDDH 
roundabout). This initial part of the site is set to grass as the site is accessed 
further the land slopes down to the valley floor and is currently used as formal 
planted garden serving the existing dwelling known as Barley Cott. The 
western boundary is defined by a post and rail fence along with landscaping. 

 
Barley Cott itself is accessed off of a lower road which also serves the Blakewell Mill 
complex. 

 
The site is visible from the B3230 across the valley with hillside as its backdrop. 

 
Recommendation: 
Refused 

 
Planning History 
No relevant history. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6



Constraints/Planning Policy 
 

Constraint / Local Plan Policy Distance (Metres) 
Unclassified Road Adjacent 
Landscape  Character is:  3H Secluded Valleys Within 
constraint Advert Control Area Area of Special Advert Control Within 
constraint 
Burrington Radar Safeguard Area consultation required 
for: All buildings, structures, erections & works 
exceeding 45 metres in height. 
Chivenor Safeguard Zone Consultation Structure or 
works exceeding 91.4m 

Within constraint 
 
 

Within constraint 

Within Adopted Unesco Biosphere  Transition (ST14) Within 
constraint Within Braunton Burrows Zone of Influence Within 
constraint 
SSSI Impact  Risk Consultation Area Within constraint 

 
DM01 - Amenity 
Considerations DM04 - 
Design  Principles DM05 - 
Highways 
DM06 - Parking Provision 
DM08 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
ST07 - Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon’s 
Rural Area ST10 - Transport Strategy 
ST14 - Enhancing Environmental Assets 

 
Consultees 

 
Name Comment 
DCC - 
Development 
Management 
Highways 
 
Reply Received 
7 February 2019 

The increased use of the junction onto the Class II County 
Road, the B3230, resulting from the 
proposed development will, by reason of the limited visibility 
from and of vehicles using the junction, be likely to result in 
additional danger to all users of the road and interference with 
the free flow of traffic. 

Landscaping & 
Countryside 
Officer 

Deferred to Sustainability Officer comments. 

Marwood Parish 
Council 

No comment received. 

Planning Policy 
Unit 
Reply Received 
18 November 
2019 

Proposal contrary to settlement policy. 

Sustainability 
Officer 
Reply Received 
20 January 
2020 

Insufficient information provided. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



Neighbours 
Comments No Objection Object Petition No. Signatures 
0 0 0 0 0 

 
Considerations 
Proposal Description 
This application seeks outline planning permission for the erection of a single 
dwelling with all matters reserved save for access. 

 
Access is proposed via a County Highway access which is above the site with 
the private access curving through a domestic garden. 

 
Indicative sketch plans have been provided showing a three bedroom dwelling 
located in the garden of an existing property known as Barley Cott. The 
dwelling would be set into a hillside. 

 
Planning Considerations Summary 
□ Settlement Policy 
□ Design 
□ Amenity 
□ Ecology 
□ Highways 

 
Planning Considerations 
In the determination of a planning application Section 38 of the Planning & 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 is relevant. It states that for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts, the determination is to be 
made in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. The development plan for this area includes the Devon 
Waste Plan and North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. The relevant Policies are 
detailed above. 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration. 

 
Settlement Policy 
The dwelling is proposed near to Blakewell, which  is not a  recognised settlement 
as set  out within Local Plan Policies ST07(1A) and ST07(2B). Therefore, the 
decision here is whether Blakewell can be considered a Rural Settlement  where  
Policy  ST07(3)  is relevant or is it considered to be within the  Countryside  where  
Policy  ST07(4)  is relevant. Criterion ST07(3) has recognised smaller villages as 
Rural Settlements where appropriately located development of a modest scale will 
be enabled to meet locally generated needs. By way of clarification,  a Rural  
Settlement  is defined as  a  small, closely grouped cluster of housing that must 
contain at least one prescribed service or community facility from the following as 
set out within paragraph 4.15 of the Local Plan 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



:- community/village hall, post office, public house, convenience shop, place of 
worship, sports playing field, primary school. 

 
The Local Plan does not list the communities which qualify as Rural Settlements 
as they are likely to change over time by virtue of relying on individual 
community facilities. In qualifying Rural Settlements Policy DM24 of the adopted 
Local Plan, which allows local occupancy dwellings to meet a locally identified 
housing need, will only recognise such settlements on an individual basis and 
where the settlement contains at least one prescribed service or community 
facility. From a policy perspective, I am advised that Blakewell does not meet 
the stated requirement to be recognised as a Rural Settlement and as such 
Policies ST07(3) and DM24 do not apply in this instance and therefore any 
application should be considered against Policy ST07(4); as being within the 
Countryside where development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet 
local economic and social needs, rural building re-use and development which 
is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location. 

 
From the evidence provided with the planning application it does not appear there 
is an essential operational need for a new dwelling in the Countryside in  
accordance  with Policy DM28.  It is noted that the applicants has set out that they 
both work at North  Devon District Hospital and have the opportunity to construct 
a house in the  grounds of  the family home (Barley Cott), which is conveniently  
located  near  the  hospital  (see Insert 1). However, this is not a policy justification 
for allowing a new dwelling in the Countryside as it could be argued that 
opportunities exist within Barnstaple to purchase  an existing dwelling or a new 
build dwelling at the Trayne Farm development (up to 80 dwellings, currently 
under construction) or at Westaway Plan (up to 86 dwellings,  currently under 
construction), where both sites are in even closer proximity to  North Devon 
District Hospital. 

 
Whilst the principle that the new dwelling will be a self / custom build project is 
recognised, paragraph 7.19 of the Local Plan is clear in that self-build schemes 
must accord with the wider spatial strategy as set out in Policy ST07, which it 
does not. 
 
Whilst it must be recognised that the Local Plan will not support a new non 
isolated dwelling in the Countryside, a position also supported by National 
planning policy, paragraph 79 of the NPPF. 

 
There is therefore not considered to be support for the proposal in policy terms. 

 
Design 
Detailed dwelling design is not for consideration at this outline application stage. 
 
 
 

 
Page 19

Agenda Item 6



However, given the proposed location of the dwelling in the countryside  
landscape impact is a key consideration. The site sits in Landscape 
Character zone 3H which is defined as Secluded Valleys. The landscape 
character assessment seeks to prevent the linear spread of development 
and maintain peaceful character. 
 
The supporting text for Policy ST07 reaffirms that the character of the 
countryside should be conserved and enhanced and new development will 
not detract from this. 

 
The proposal would fall foul of these objectives and is exasperated by the distance 
the proposal is from other built form. 

 
Amenity 
Given the relationship of the proposal to other residential properties and noise 
sources no unacceptable privacy or amenity issues are identified at this outline 
stage. 

 
Ecology 
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of 
development on wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a 
planning application under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as 
amended), Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (Habitats Regulations 
2017). 

 
The proposed access from the north will clearly impact on, and require some 
removal of established trees, shrubs and hedges that have potential to 
influence the development   or might be important as part of the local landscape 
character. A tree survey should have been submitted establishing the extent 
and importance of any losses and defining appropriate root protection zones. 

 
The submitted Wildlife Trigger List should also have flagged up the potential 
requirement for a Wildlife Report to assess the presence of any protected 
species and important habitats within the affected area. The extent of habitat 
clearance to facilitate site access and the proposed development should have 
also been quantified in terms of extent and quality through an appropriately 
detailed application of Defra 2 biodiversity metric. The metric would have 
helped to substantiate and quantify the landscaping proposals required to 
compensate for all anticipated losses. 

 
It is therefore concluded that insufficient information has been provided to 
address the forgoing. It is worth noting that such information should not be 
secured by planning condition given potential unknown which could impact on the 
principal of development. 
 
 Page 20

Agenda Item 6



 
In terms of the location of the site, it is within the Zone of Influence (ZOI) 
identified through the Local Authority's Appropriate Assessment in relation to 
the Braunton Burrows Special Area Conservation (SAC) under the Habitat 
Regulations 2017. As such, any new residential development in the ZoI is 
considered to have recreational impacts on the SAC and is therefore required 
to pay a contribution of 100 per unit in order to mitigate the impacts of 
development. At present developers can either enter into a S106 agreement 
or make a direct payment to the LPA under Section 111 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 
 
Based on the information provided, the application will increase residential 
capacity and is therefore likely to have an indirect impact on the Braunton 
Burrows SAC due to its proximity and the likelihood of recreational impacts 
associated with visitor impacts. 
 
North Devon Council must have regard for any potential impacts that a plan or 
project may have and are required to conduct a Habitat Regulations 
Assessment to determine the significance of these impacts on the SAC and the 
scope for mitigation. 

 
North Devon Council's Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) at the Joint 
Local Plan level (JLP) identified the main recreational pressure as coming from 
the Braunton, Wrafton, Chivenor area and concluded that there is unlikely to be 
an adverse effect on the integrity of the interest features of the SAC. However, 
since adoption of the Local Plan, new evidence has concluded that recreational 
impacts are evident and contributions towards strategic mitigation will be 
required from all development within an identified Zone of Influence. 

 
No payment or legal agreement has been entered in to offset this impact, if 
permission were granted such a payment could be secured  at the  reserved 
matters stage through  S111 or via a Legal Agreement secured as part of  any 
outline application.  As such  it does not warrant the refusal of the application 
on this ground. 

 
Highways 
The increased use of the junction onto the Class II County Road, the B3230, 
resulting  from the proposed development will, by reason of the limited visibility 
from and of  vehicles using the junction, be likely to result in additional danger to 
all users of the road and interference with the free flow of traffic. 

 
Having regard to the Policy context detailed above this concerns is considered 
to warrant refusal of the application. 
 
 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



 
Conclusion 
Insufficient information has been submitted to confirm that the proposal is unlikely 
to impact on protected species and biodiversity net gain has not been 
demonstrated. 

 
Highway safety concerns will result if the proposal is 

allowed. The proposal will result in negative landscape 

impact. 

Finally, the proposal is located within the Countryside where development will be 
limited to that which meets local economic and social needs, rural building re-use 
and development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside location, 
furthermore it will not conserve or enhance the character of the countryside. The 
proposal is therefore contrary to Policy ST07(4) of the adopted North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan. 
 
Having regard to the foregoing the application is considered to not accord with 
the adopted development plan. Refusal of the application is therefore 
recommended. 

 
HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act and principles contained in the 
Convention on Human  Rights have been  taken into account  in reaching the 
recommendation contained   in this report. The articles/protocols identified below 
were considered of particular relevance: 

 
Article 8 – Right to Respect for Private and Family Life   
THE FIRST PROTOCOL – Article 1: Protection of 
Property 

 
Recommendation 
Refused 

 
Reason(s) For Refusal 
1. The proposal is located in the Countryside where development will be 

limited to that which meets local economic and social needs, rural 
building re-use and development which is necessarily restricted to a 
Countryside location, furthermore it will not conserve or enhance the 
character of the countryside. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
Policy ST07(4) of the adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

 
2. The increased use of the junction onto the Class II County Road, the 

B3230, resulting from the proposed development will, by reason of the 
limited visibility from and of vehicles using the junction, be likely to result in 
additional danger to all users of the road and interference with the free flow 
of traffic contrary to Policies ST10 and DM05 of the adopted North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan 
 
 
 

 
Page 22

Agenda Item 6



3. Insufficient information has been submitted to satisfy the Local 
Planning Authority that sufficient information has been submitted to 
demonstrate a net gain in biodiversity and as to whether an 
unacceptable impact on protected species and habitat and trees may 
occur contrary to Policies ST14, DM04 and DM08 of the adopted North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

 
Informatives 
1. The application has be determined with regard to the following plans:- 

B550 18 201E Location Plan and received on the 07/11/19, B550 18 301 
Floors and received on the 22/01/19, B550 18 203B Site Plan and 
received on the 07/11/19, B550 18 204E Site Plan and received on the 
07/11/19, NDC001 Elevation Illustration and received on the 22/01/19. 

 
2. Some of the submitted drawings have been numbered using a prefix of 

NDC as set out in the above informative. Please refer to the planning 
application tracker on the District Council's website to view the drawings 
and their allocated numbers, 
http://planning.northdevon.gov.uk/search.asp 

 
3. Statement of Engagement 

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework the Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with 
the Applicant and has looked for solutions to enable the grant of planning 
permission. This has included consideration of location and site specific 
constraints. However the proposal remains contrary to the planning 
policies set out in the reasons for refusal and was not therefore 
considered to be sustainable development. 

 

 

Appendices 
A- Location Plan 
B- Design and Access Statement 
C- Position report with regard to preparing a supplementary planning 
document in relation to Rural Settlements – August 2020 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



© Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey Licence No. 100021929. No unauthorised reproduction permitted.

Lynton House, Commercial Road,
Barnstaple, EX31 1EA

 66135 - Barleycott, Muddiford EX31 4ES
Copy Supplied to
Accompany Planning
Committee Report

Scale: 1:5000
Date: February 2021 Page 25

Agenda Item 6
Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

6 TULY STREET   .     BARNSTAPLE     .     DEVON     .     EX31 1DH 
tel: 01271 379050       email: enquiries@woodward-smith.co.uk 

 

 

 

Design and Access Statement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

at 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

for 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed Local Needs Dwelling  

Land at Barleycott 
Blakewell 

Nr. Barnstaple 
N. Devon   

Mr G. Bosence and Ms S. Cockburn 

Page 27

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

6 TULY STREET   .     BARNSTAPLE     .     DEVON     .     EX31 1DH 
tel: 01271 379050       email: enquiries@woodward-smith.co.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 INTRODUCTION...................................................................................................... 1 
2 BACKGROUND ....................................................................................................... 2 
3 PLANNING POLICY ................................................................................................. 3 
4  DESIGN PRINCIPLES ............................................................................................. 5 
5 SITE LOCATION ...................................................................................................... 5 
6 AMOUNT ................................................................................................................. 6 
7 ACCESS .................................................................................................................. 6 
 

 
Figure 1 - Site Location Plan…………………………………………………………………….1 
Figure 2 - View from B3230……………………………………………………………………...4 
Figure 3 - Site Plan as proposed…………………………………………………………...…...6 

 

 

 

Page 28

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

1 
 

1 INTRODUCTION 

The design and access statement is submitted on behalf of Mr G. Bosence and 

Ms S. Cockburn in support of an Outline Planning application at Land at 

Barleycott, Blakewell, Nr Barnstaple, North Devon, EX31 4ES.  

 

Figure 1 - Site Location Plan 

This Outline Planning Application seeks to apply for planning consent for the 

Erection of one local needs dwelling. The proposal development complies with the 

principles of the National Planning Policy Framework  ensuring the development 

meets the definition sustainable in an economic role, a social role and an 

environmental role. 

 

 

Page 29

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

2 
 

2 BACKGROUND 
 

Gareth is currently the Ward Manager of the Medical Admissions Unit at North 

Devon District Hospital (NDDH) and has worked at NDDH for 10 years of his 

career. Gareth was born and has lived within Barnstaple for 32 years. He has 

spent his working career at North Devon District Hospital and expects his role as 

a nurse to remain in the area for the foreseeable future. His current home within 

the Pilton area is not expandable to allow him and Sam to grow into the future 

that they want together whereas the hope is that this development will. 

Sam is a doctor specialising in acute medicine at NDDH. She has lived within 

North Devon for the last 18 years having moved with her parents from the North 

East of Scotland.  

Her parents own and continue to run an independent opticians in Bideford. After 

completing her training to be a doctor in Exeter and Plymouth she chose to 

complete the next 5 years of Post Graduate Training at NDDH. Furthermore, she 

has opted to continue training at NDDH whereas, traditionally, doctors would 

have to move around a region in order to reach consultancy.  

Sam will continue to work and train within NDDH having recently decided to 

pursue a career in Respiratory Medicine and Intensive Care. She hopes to gain 

her consultancy in North Devon to provide informed support to the local 

community. Additionally, as part of her role within the hospital, Sam provides a 

link to Petroc College by helping provide medical placements for students as part 

of the ‘Medic Academy’. 

Gareth and Sam’s family links lay heavily in North Devon with all of Gareth’s 

immediate family living in Barnstaple fortifying their want to stay in the area.  

 

 

 

Page 30

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

3 
 

Gareth’s parent and grandparent’s live within Blakewell, the proposed location of 

the build, and they heavily support the new development. Sam’s grandmother 

lives in Torrington, having also relocated to the area 18 years ago, with her 

parent’s living in Westward Ho!. Gareth and Sam want to remain in the local area 

and close to the hospital and their families as it will improve their work life 

balance. It will also allow them to have more opportunity to appreciate the beauty 

of the area that they enjoy spending their free time in. 

 

3 PLANNING POLICY 

The applicants both work at North Devon District Hospital and have the 

opportunity to construct a house in the grounds of the family home (Barley Cott), 

which is conveniently located under ¾ mile from the hospital. 

The accommodation proposed is modest and would be designed to minimise 

visual impact and carbon footprint. The design has been developed to address 

the requirements of Local Plan policy DM04. It aims to be sympathetic to its 

setting by being of an appropriate scale, mass and height. The materials 

proposed have been chosen to work sympathetically with the surrounding 

landscape and the relationship to buildings and landscape features in the 

neighbourhood will enable the property to be assimilated readily into is 

surroundings. 

Parking provision on site will meet the requirements of DM06 

The proposal would contribute towards the provision of self and custom-built 

housing in North Devon, in line with government targets. Paragraph 7.19 of the 

Local Plan reflects the LPA’s support for self and custom-built housing as part of 

the balanced delivery of housing set out in policy ST07. The proposed dwelling 

would also provide affordable accommodation for key healthcare workers. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

4 
 

Blakewell, whilst not an identified settlement in the local plan does represent a 

recognised collection of existing dwellings that benefit from the retail and 

recreational facilities offered at the Blakewell Fish Farm. As such, Blakewell 

would represent a qualifying rural settlement under the terms of ST07(3) and 

DM24. This would not represent an isolated dwelling in open countryside, but a 

sustainable proposal to enhance an existing rural community by the addition of a 

dwelling designed to meet local needs. An appropriate planning obligation would 

be entered into in order to secure this local connection. 

The family home that is proposed has been carefully designed to relate well to 

the existing property Barley Cott, as well as other neighbours, avoiding 

overlooking or other loss of amenity and thus according with the requirements of 

Local Plan policy DM01, but maintaining the relationship between two properties 

within the same family ownership that would seek to enjoy an ongoing supportive 

relationship. 

The NPPF requires LPAs to cater for the housing needs of various groups, one of 

which is identified as "people wishing to commission or build their own homes". 

The Framework advises that policies and decisions in rural areas should be 

responsive to local circumstances and support housing developments that reflect 

local needs. Those wishing to build or commission their own housing ought to be 

catered for by provision within larger sites for such a form of delivery, but this has 

not happened historically. As a result, the opportunity for such needs to be met 

requires encouragement through a positive response to opportunities such as this 

to deliver self or custom built housing. It is widely recognised that small sites tend 

to deliver housing more quickly than larger ones, and whilst the contribution 

towards a 5 year housing land supply from this site would be modest, it would be 

delivered as a matter of urgency to address the needs of the applicants. 

 

Page 32

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

5 
 

4  DESIGN PRINCIPLES 

The proposed sketches seek to mimic the built form of a rural barn. The building 

will seek to utilise slate or possibly a metal roof with vertical timber cladding and 

will conform to the principles of a local needs dwelling in terms of overall footprint. 

There is an existing adopted drain that runs through the site that has been allowed 

for within the design proposal as submitted.  

I can confirm that my clients will be happy to enter into a S106 agreement to secure 

the planning consent. 

5 SITE LOCATION 
 

The application site is located in the area of Marwood, Devon, 3 miles north of 

Barnstaple. The site is East facing and it slopes down toward the Blakewell 

Fisheries. 

In respect of the wider network, Barnstaple, the regional centre for North Devon 

is around 3 miles away to the South.  

 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

6 
 

 

Figure 2 – View from B3230 

 

6 AMOUNT 
 

The Outline Application is for 1 local needs dwelling: 

3 bedroomed house (up to 140 square metres); 

 

7 ACCESS 
 

The proposal will  form a new access onto the road leading to Blakewell Mill 

Farm. Two parking spaces with turning on site will be provided. 

Page 34

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

7 
 

Figure 3 – Site Plan as proposed 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



 

W O O D W A R D   S M I T H  
C H A R T E R E D  A R C H I T E C T S  

 

8 
 

Statement prepared by 

Matt Steart 

Partner 

20th March 2019 

 

Page 36

Agenda Item 6
Appendix B



Open 

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL 

REPORT TO: PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Date: 12TH AUGUST 2020 

TOPIC: RURAL SETTLEMENTS 

REPORT BY: HEAD OF PLACE 

1   INTRODUCTION 

1.1 On 12 February 2020, Planning Committee requested that a 

Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) be prepared in relation 

to Rural Settlements (minute 54). 

1.2 Officers recognise that the approach to Rural Settlements within 

the Local Plan may not be delivering the opportunities for 

development that some Members may wish to see enabled. 

However, it is not possible for the approach of the Local Plan to be 

altered through the preparation and adoption of a formal SPD; 

rather it can only set out guidance as to how the policies of the 

Local Plan should be interpreted and applied. As such an SPD 

would not be able to change the approach to Rural Settlements 

that is already established clearly through the adopted Local Plan. 

Rather, some guidance has been prepared here to help explain 

and clarify the provisions and constraints of Policy DM24: Rural 

Settlements.  

1.3 The Local Plan strategy for Rural Settlements is set out in Policies 

ST07(3) and DM24. The Glossary definition for a Rural Settlement 

is “A small, closely grouped cluster of housing that contains at least 

one identified local service or community facility.” 

1.4 The policy wording in the Local Plan cannot be amended until the 

Local Plan is formally reviewed and updated. This guidance is 

intended to help to interpret, explain and clarify the policy.  

Page 37

Agenda Item 6
Appendix C



2 RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 To  note the report. 

3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

3.1 To fulfil the previous resolution by Planning Committee for an 
update. 

4 REPORT 

Settlement Hierarchy 

4.1 The Northern Devon Settlement Hierarchy Assessment (SHA) that 

was prepared to inform the Local Plan, sets out which settlements 

qualify for each tier of the hierarchy. 

4.2 Local Centres and Villages are identified at Policy ST07(1) & 

ST07(2) respectively. They each have a chapter in Part 2 of the 

Local Plan and are considered generally to be the more 

sustainable locations for development in the rural area, offering 

access to a range of services and facilities. Rural Settlements are 

less sustainable locations, however they are recognised to have 

some sense of place and/or community. To qualify as a Rural 

Settlement, Policy DM24 sets out a need for the place to contain at 

least one community facility from the following list:-  

 community/village hall

 post office

 public house

 convenience shop (day to day living needs)

 place of worship

 sports playing field

 primary school.

4.3 Rural Settlements are not listed in the Local Plan because 

settlements could easily be added/lost if or when a new facility 

opens or closes – this keeps the concept flexible, up-to-date and 

robust. An indicative list of Rural Settlements is identified in Table 7 

of the SHA but reflects facilities available in 2014, so is not 

necessarily comprehensive or up-to-date. 

Page 38

Agenda Item 6
Appendix C



4.4 All identifiable settlements in the plan area were listed in the SHA 

as Appendix A. Not all settlements listed within the SHA would 

however be recognised through the Local Plan as an appropriate 

location for housing, nor be classified through the Plan’s Settlement 

Hierarchy, with many being considered as Countryside because 

they fell below a particular sustainability threshold. Similarly, if a 

place is not listed it is too small or too scattered to classify as a 

separate settlement. As such it is likely to be an unsustainable 

location so treated as scattered development in the Countryside 

e.g. one farmhouse and a converted barn does not make a

settlement, nor does a small group of 3 or 4 homes without any

facilities.

4.5 The Local Plan does however recognise that there is a need for 

development in the Countryside, and Policy ST07(4) is an enabling 

policy providing for development appropriate in a Countryside 

location, as enabled by other Local Plan policies. 

Clusters 

4.6 The SHA (paragraph 7.17) recognised some settlements as a 

cluster (to be considered in combination).  The Settlement and 

Distribution Strategy Topic Paper (CE8) prepared for the Local 

Plan examination (2016) recognised in paragraph 4.19 that some 

settlements function collectively and were considered jointly. All of 

these are identified already as Villages or Main Centres in the 

Local Plan, apart from a Marwood cluster (Prixford, Muddiford, 

Kings Heanton, Milltown, Marwood, Guineaford). 

4.7 Despite the SHA assessing this Marwood cluster as a collective 

settlement that functions collectively, it was not taken forward as an 

identified settlement into the Local Plan; it is not identified 

anywhere in the adopted Local Plan. Nor does the plan enable a 

cluster of places to be considered as a Rural Settlement. The 

Glossary definition for Rural Settlements defines them as “a small, 

closely grouped cluster of housing containing at least one identified 

local service or community” so it relates to a single place only.  

Page 39

Agenda Item 6
Appendix C



4.8 As such, Policy DM24 and ST07(3) wouldn’t enable clusters of 

places (such as the Marwood cluster) to be  considered collectively 

to comprise a Rural Settlement and benefit from the policy 

provisions that support particular forms of development at such 

locations. Those places that are simply clusters of housing, that do 

not contain a prescribed service or facility cannot be considered to 

comprise a Rural Settlement under the Local Plan. 

4.9 Nevertheless, several settlements in the Marwood cluster will 

qualify as Rural Settlements in their own right: Muddiford has a 

public house and church; Milltown has a village hall; Marwood has 

a church. However the other settlements within Marwood parish not 

containing an identified community facility would not qualify. 

Sustainability 

4.10 The Local Plan provides a positive framework for enabling 

development in rural areas that accords with national planning 

policy. However there is already a very fine line between ‘Rural 

Settlements’ and the ‘Countryside’ in Policy ST07. The 

presumption of the planning system is to deliver sustainable 

development; directing housing in rural areas to places where it 

would enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities, identify 

opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, whilst avoiding isolated 

homes in the countryside – NPPF paragraphs 78 & 79.  

4.11 With the exception of the defined Countryside, Rural Settlements 

are the least sustainable places identified in the settlement 

hierarchy of the Local Plan. They are not, on the whole, inherently 

sustainable places and their residents will need to travel to meet 

their day-to-day needs. Their identification through the provision of 

at least one prescribed service or facility is a proxy for scale of 

place and to delineate them from hamlets, or more sporadic 

clusters of housing in the Countryside. 

4.12 Places isolated from any services and community facilities are 

effectively considered to be part of the Countryside. The NPPF also 

indicates (paragraph 79) that decisions should avoid the 

development of isolated homes in the countryside. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 6
Appendix C



4.13 The allowance of housing for local needs in Rural Settlements, 

reflects the approach of national planning policy that advocates that 

in rural areas policies and decisions should support housing that 

reflects local needs (paragraph 77). It is a recognition that these 

places do tend to have a sense of community, associated social 

sustainability and that there will be local housing needs arising from 

existing residents or workers, but not that they are inherently 

sustainable places for in-migration and therefore market housing. 

Residents will need to travel, in most cases by private motor 

vehicle, to access employment and services on a day-to-day basis; 

which may be in conflict to the principles of sustainable 

development such as those set out in the Local Plan (Policies 

ST02(c) & ST12(3)(a)) and the NPPF (paragraph 103).  

4.14 Open market housing should typically be directed to larger places 

such as Local Centres, which are intended to meet wider than local 

needs (Policy ST07(1)) or, to a lesser extent, Villages which are 

intended to meet their local needs and growth aspirations (Policy 

ST07(2)). 

4.15 Exception sites for affordable housing (Policy ST19) are already 

allowed within and adjoining Rural Settlements. Rural Settlements 

remain as an appropriate location for housing to be directed to 

meet an identified local need – either as occupancy tied or 

affordable dwellings. This approach, the associated spatial strategy 

and hierarchy in the Local Plan, is considered to fully accord with 

the principles of national planning policy (NPPF paragraph 77) 

which indicate that in rural areas, planning policies and decisions 

should … support housing developments that reflect local needs.  

Five Year Housing Land Supply 

4.16 When the Councils are jointly unable to demonstrate at least a 5 

year housing land supply, the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development will apply in the determination of applications for 

housing (NPPF paragraph 11). Should proposals for open market 

housing be forthcoming in places where this would not be 

supported by the Local Plan, the decision taker will have to weigh 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6
Appendix C



the benefits and harm to establish whether any adverse impacts of 

approving the development would significantly and demonstrably 

outweigh the benefits; having regard to the development plan and 

the provisions of national planning policy taken as a whole and all 

other material considerations. 

4.17 In such circumstances, the inability to demonstrate a five year 

housing land supply does not sweep away the provisions of the 

Local Plan, however there is more of a judgement to be made by 

the decision taker on the acceptability of a proposal, weighing the 

benefits and harm. The decision taker must however be satisfied 

that the approach can be justified on the basis of the individual 

circumstances of the case, having regard to the Local Plan, 

national planning policy and any other relevant material 

considerations. It is also important to be mindful of any precedent 

that a decision may establish. 

4.18 Decision takers may wish to consider the sustainability credentials 

of a place when coming to a decision, and how these may accord 

with the Local Plan as well as wider national planning policy. They 

may also wish to consider what weight should be attributed to the 

harm of a speculative open market dwelling in a relatively 

unsustainable location, compared to the support for the provision of 

a local needs dwelling to meet an identified local household’s need. 

Local Plan Review 

4.19 Policies in an adopted Local Plan can only be amended through 

the adoption of an update to, or replacement of, a Local Plan. This 

provides the opportunity to reconsider the approach and strategies 

for particular matters and places. When the Local Plan is being 

reviewed, there is an opportunity for the Councils to revise the 

policy approach for rural areas, which could include considering the 

appropriateness of clusters of settlements. National planning policy 

(NPPF paragraph 78) permits such an approach recognising that, 

where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one 

village may support services in a nearby village. This is therefore a 

matter that can be explored through a future plan review, however 

Page 42

Agenda Item 6
Appendix C



it is not possible to amend the adopted Local Plan to introduce 

clusters until it is being reviewed. 

5 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 No resource implications.  

6 EQUALITY and HUMAN RIGHTS 

6.1 There are not considered to be any negative equality impacts 
arising from the report. 

7 CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT 

Article and 
paragraph 

Referred or 
delegated power? 

Part 3, Annexe 1.1 Delegated 

8 STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

8.1 This report contains no confidential material under the provisions 
of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act. 

9 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

9.1 The following background papers have been used in the 
preparation of this report:- 

 National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019)

 North Devon and Torridge Local Plan (adopted October 2018)

 Northern Devon Settlement Hierarchy Assessment (2014)

 The Settlement and Distribution Strategy Topic Paper (2016)

9.2 Background papers will be available for inspection and will be 
kept by the author of this report. 

10 STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE 

10.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all 
appropriate Councillors and officers. 

Lead Member: Cllr Malcolm Prowse 

Author: Andrew Austen (Lead Officer Planning Policy) Date: 3rd August 
2020 

Reference: Planning 12 August 2020 (Rural Settlements) 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6
Appendix C



Page 44

Agenda Item 6
Appendix C



Application Report 
Strategic Development & Planning 

Place Services 
North Devon Council 

Lynton House, Commercial Road, 
Barnstaple, EX31 1DG 

 

 

 

  

 
Application No: 71660 Application 

Expiry: 
16 December 
2020 

Application Type: Outline application Ext Of Time 
Expiry:  

16 December 
2020 

  Publicity Expiry: 12 November 
2020 

Parish/Ward: Heanton Punchardon/Heanton Punchardon 
Location:  Land at Chivenor Cross, Chivenor, Braunton EX31 4BN 
Proposal: Outline application for up to 59 residential units and associated 

infrastructure, some matters reserved (appearance, 
landscaping, layout and scale) (additional information) 

Agent:  PCL Planning Ltd 
Applicant: Waddeton Park Ltd 
Planning Case Officer: Mr M. Brown  
Departure: Y 
EIA Development: N EIA Conclusion: No EIA required. 
 
Decision Level/Reason for Report to 
Committee (If Applicable): 

 
Called to Committee by Cllr Mrs 
Davis: “The site has a long 
planning history, the local Parish 
Council have been consistently 
against any residential 
development here on the grounds 
of sustainability, increase in 
highway movements to name 
two, there are no schools, health 
care or community facilities in the 
area of Chivenor. 
 
As a frequent user of this junction 
and the area myself (before the 
pandemic) I do have significant 
concerns about the impact on 
road safety.” 
 

 
 

   

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



UPDATE FEBRUARY 2021 
 
Members will recall that they resolved to defer this application at their January meeting 
pending receipt of: 
 
a) Confirmation of Housing Needs and updated information in relation to the five year 
housing land supply; and that 
b) Officers be requested to provide a response to the High Court legal decisions taken 
where the five-year land supply had been taken into account. 
 
Given that the application is being considered under the 5 year housing supply issue 
there is no requirement for a Housing Needs survey to be undertaken by the applicant.  
However the Housing Enabling Officer has confirmed that the Devon Home Choice 
housing needs data set out below is currently the most up to date data we have and 
confirms a housing need. 
 
56 households living in the parish of Heanton Punchardon are registered as being in 
need of affordable housing for rent as of July 2020.  For the adjoining parishes the 
number of households registered as being in need of affordable housing for rent as of 
July 2020 are Braunton  91 Ashford  8 Marwood  4.  Not all households tend to register 
themselves on the housing register as they don’t think that they will have the opportunity 
to be housed so this figure is often significantly higher. 
 
In terms of the 5 year housing land supply it is concluded that the LPA are not currently 
able to demonstrate such a supply.  Whilst it is recognised that the 5 YHLS does need 
to be reviewed, this is probably best achieved with an April 2021 base date and will not 
be a quick exercise. It is also predicted that in the professional opinion of your Planning 
Policy Team it is likely to be extremely challenging to demonstrably demonstrate a 
different position from that arrived at by the previous Inspector at this time.  This also 
has to be seen in the context of the onset of COVID-19 which is providing for a range of 
factors that are considered likely to make it significantly more challenging to re-establish 
and maintain a five-year housing land supply in the short to medium term; recognising 
the impact of the initial period of lockdown on the development industry, the 
suppression of house building activity and uncertainty about future prospects.  The 
Planning Policy Officer will be present at the Committee Meeting to provide a verbal 
update and answer any further question members may have with regard to this. 
 
It is understood that Members were referring to the judgment of Mr Justice Holgate in 
Gladman Developments Ltd v SSHCLG & Corby BC & Uttlesford DC [2020] EWHC 518 
(Admin) at their last meeting.  The conclusion with regard to this matter is that whilst the 
tilted balance is in play there is still a need to consider all Local Plan policies, including 
landscape impact and affordable housing, before coming to a recommendation.  This is 
what has been carried out. 
 
Since the application was last considered by Members a further representation has 
been received.  The representation does not introduction further material considerations 
to be addressed that were not previously addressed overall. 
 
It is therefore concluded that the recommendation with regard to this application is as 
set out previously. 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



 
Recommendation 
Approved with planning conditions subject to a Legal Agreement being entered in to 
which secures necessary infrastructure requirements. 
 
Section 106 Contributions 
 
Open Space 
Provision of at least 0.2ha of POS on site or in combination with financial contribution. 
 
212 sq.m. allotment space. 
198 sq.m. play space (although policy states minimum provision if provided on site 
should be 400 sq.m.) with equipment, safety surfacing, fence, bin, bench. 
1837 sq.m. parks, sport and recreation (this is built rec – changing rooms, sports 
pitches, pavilions, community buildings, MUGA, landscaped gardens, formal accessible 
footpaths through open space (not roadside)). 
 
£172,208 pro-rata if some provision made on site. 
 
Highway Improvements 
1) the upgrading of the existing footway to a 2.5 metre footway/cycleway along the 
western frontage of the application site to a point at the bus stop located to the south of 
the A361 and to the east of the Chivenor Cross Roundabout, including lighting, as 
necessary;  
 
2) the provision of a Toucan Crossing facility to replace the existing formal (non-
signalised) crossing facility located approximately 100 metres to the west of the centre 
point of the Chivenor Cross Roundabout on the A361; 
 
3) the upgrading of the existing footway/footpath to the south of the A361 from a point at 
the existing formal crossing facility (as referenced to 2) above), to a point in close 
proximity to the bus lay-by at the internal roundabout serving RMB Chivenor. Such 
improvement being the provision of a 2.5 metre cycleway/footway, including lighting, as 
necessary;  
 
4) A 2.5 metre footpath/cyclepath connection from the application site to the Tarka Trail. 
 
The following contribution requirements are identified:  
 
1) The requirement of a £60,000 contribution towards the upgrading of the traffic signals 
within the centre of Braunton; 
 
2) A £20,000 commuted maintenance payment for the Toucan Crossing facility; 
 
3) A £5000 Traffic Regulation Order contribution;  
 
4) £250 public transport and £50 cycle voucher per dwelling  
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



Education Contributions. Primary education contribution of £75,135 (= per unit cost of 
£1,273.47, chargeable on 2+bed units only), secondary contribution of £199,240 (= per 
unit cost of £3,376.94, chargeable on 2+bed units only), plus legal cost of £500. 
 
Affordable Housing 
30% affordable housing  
 
Braunton Burrow SAC  
A sum of up to £5900 towards to mitigation of recreational impact identified to the 
Braunton Burrow SAC  
 
Management company 
Management company for management/ maintenance of surface/foul water system and 
Public Open Space 
 
1. Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local 

Planning Authority before the expiration of two years from the date of this 
permission. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of one year from the date of this permission or before the expiration 
of one year from the date of approval of the last reserved matters to be 
approved whichever is the later.  

  
 Reason:  
 To ensure that the development, which has been considered in light of the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11 (d) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework) delivers housing within an appropriate 
timeframe to meet the shortfall in housing identified in the Local Plan area.  

  
 
2. The development of each phase for which permission is hereby granted shall 

not be begun before detailed plans thereof showing the, appearance, 
landscaping, layout, and scale of the development on the site (hereinafter 
referred to as 'reserved matters') have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out as 
approved. 

  
 Reason: 
 The application was made for outline planning permission and is granted to 

comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and Part 3, Article 6 (b) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 2015. 

  
 
3. As part of the first reserved matters application a detailed phasing plan for the 

whole site shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in 
writing. The phasing plan shall include details of: 

 a) intended number of market and affordable dwellings for each phase; and, 
 b) general locations and phasing of key infrastructure including, surface water 

drainage, green infrastructure, community facilities and access for pedestrians, 
cyclist, buses and vehicles. 

Page 48

Agenda Item 7



 c) Chronological timing of delivery of dwellings in any given phase. 
  
 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved phasing 

plan.  
  
 Reason: 
 To enable the development to be delivered in controlled phases and to ensure 

delivery contributes to the deficit in 5 year housing land supply to accord with 
the provisions of Paragraph 11 (d) of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans/details: 
 170120 L 01 01 Site Location Plan received on the 16/06/20 
 162762 G 01D Prelim Access Arrangement received on the 08/07/20 
 170120 L 01 01A Location plan received on the 08/07/20 
 ('the approved plans'). 
  
 Reason: 
 To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 

plans in the interests of proper planning. 
 
5. No more than 59 residential dwellings (Use Class C3) shall be constructed on 

the site pursuant to this planning permission. 
  
 Reason: 
 To restrict the use of the site to that which is permitted by this planning 

permission and compatible with the surrounding area and to provide appropriate 
facilities across the development for the needs of the community. 

  
 
6. No development shall take place until a detailed landscape and ecological 

management plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved. 
National and Local policy expects new development to contribute to a ‘net gain’ 
in biodiversity and the LEMP, through the use of the DEFRA metric 
2/Biodiversity Impact Assessment Calculator, shall demonstrate how the 
development proposal will contribute to a net gain. The content of the LEMP will 
address the implementation and management of all landscape and biodiversity 
avoidance, mitigation and enhancement measures of the development as set 
out within the [Design and Access and Statement / Environmental Statement / 
Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) etc.] and shall include: 

   
 (a)        Proposed finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking 

layouts; other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard 
surfacing materials; minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play 
equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting etc.); proposed and 
existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage power, 
communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.); 
retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration, where 
relevant 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



 (b)        Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment); schedules of plants (noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities); implementation and management programme 

 (c)        A description and evaluation of landscape and ecological features to be 
created managed and ecological trends and constraints on site that might 
influence management 

 (d)      Aims and objectives of management 
 (e)        Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives 
 (f)         Prescriptions for management actions 
 (g)        Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable 

of being rolled forward over a 10- year period) 
 (h)        Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of 

plan 
 (i)         Ongoing landscape and ecological monitoring and implementation of 

any necessary remedial measures 
 (j)         Means of reporting of landscape and ecological monitoring results to 

[Natural England and the Local Planning Authority] and provisions for seeking 
written agreement to any changes to the management actions and prescriptions 
that may be necessary to ensure effective delivery of the aims and objectives of 
the LEMP over time. 

 (k)        Details of a scheme to deliver a homeowner information pack to all 
dwellings on the site prior to first occupation with regard to recreational impacts 
arising from increases in visitor numbers and dog walkers to the Tarka Trail and 
Taw and Torridge SSSI as a result of the development having regard to the 
SSSI assessment of high tide bird roosts and recreational disturbance in the 
Taw Torridge estuary https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-
and-policies/environment-and-planning-policies/local-plan/planning-policy-
supporting-documents/environment/high-tide-bird-roosts-and-recreational-
disturbance-in-the-taw-torridge-estuary 

   
 The LEMP shall also include details of the mechanism(s) by which the long-

term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out 
(where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives 
of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will 
be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the 
fully functioning landscape and biodiversity objectives of the scheme. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

   
 Reason: 
 In order to protect and enhance biodiversity on the site and nearby SSSi in 

accordance with the aims of Policies ST14 and DM08A of the North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan and paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

  
 
7. The reserved matters submission shall include details of Construction Exclusion 

Zone and an Artificial Lighting Strategy and demonstrate that all boundary 
features are retained as recommended in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 7



  
 Reason:  
 To safeguard the appearance and character of the area and minimise impacts 

on protected species in accordance with Policies DM04 and DM08A of the 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

 
8. Provision and implementation of an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and 

Tree Protection Plan (TPP) 
  
 No works or development shall take place until a scheme for the protection of 

the retained trees and hedges [BS5837: 2005 section 7 - Arboricultural method 
statements (AMS) and the tree protection plan (TPP)] has been agreed in 
writing with the by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall be carried 
out as approved LPA. 

  
 This scheme shall include [include those that are pertinent]: 
  
 (a) a plan to a scale and level of accuracy appropriate to the proposal that 

shows the position, crown spread and Root Protection Area (RPA) in 
accordance with paragraph 5.2.2 of BS5837: 2005 of every retained tree and 
hedge on site and on neighbouring or nearby ground to the site in relation to the 
approved plans and particulars. The positions of all trees and hedges to be 
removed shall also be clearly indicated on this plan and marked with a dashed 
outline. 

 (b) a tree survey schedule in accordance with paragraph 4.2.6 of BS5837: 
2005. 

  
 (c) a tree work schedule for all the retained trees and hedges in paragraphs (a) 

and (b) above, specifying pruning and other remedial or preventative work, 
whether for physiological, hazard abatement, aesthetic or operational reasons.  
All tree works shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998: 
2010 Tree Work - Recommendations. 

  
 (d) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the 

Ground Protection Zones (section 9.3 of BS5837). 
  
 (e) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the 

Tree Protection Barriers (section 9.2 of BS5837), identified separately where 
required for different phases of construction work (e.g. demolition, construction, 
hard landscaping). The Tree Protection Barriers must be erected prior to each 
construction phase commencing and remain in place, and undamaged for the 
duration of that phase.  No works shall take place on the next phase until the 
Tree Protection Barriers are repositioned for that phase. 

  
 (f) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the 

Construction Exclusion Zones (section 9 of BS5837). 
  
 (g) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the 

underground service runs (section11.7 of BS5837).  
  

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



 (h) the details of any changes in levels or the position of any proposed 
excavations within 5 metres of the Root Protection Area (paragraph. 5.2.2 of 
BS5837) of any retained tree, including those on neighbouring or nearby 
ground. 

  
 (i) the details of any special engineering required to accommodate the 

protection of retained trees (section10 of BS5837), (e.g. in connection with 
foundations, bridging, water features, surfacing) 

  
 (j) the details of the working methods to be employed with the demolition of 

buildings, structures and surfacing within or adjacent to the RPAs of retained 
trees. 

  
 (k) the details of the working methods to be employed for the installation of 

drives and paths within the RPAs of retained trees in accordance with the 
principles of 'No-Dig' construction. 

  
 (l) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to the access 

for and use of heavy, large, difficult to manoeuvre plant (including cranes and 
their loads, dredging machinery, concrete pumps, piling rigs, etc) on site. 

  
 (m)  the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to site 

logistics and storage, including an allowance for slopes, water courses and 
enclosures, with particular regard to ground compaction and phytotoxicity. 

  
 (n) the details of the method to be employed for the stationing, use and removal 

of site cabins within any RPA (paragraph 9.2.3 of BS5837). 
  
 (o) the details of tree protection measures for the hard landscaping phase 

(sections 13 and 14 of BS5837). 
  
 (p) the timing of the various phases of the works or development in the context 

of the tree protection measures. 
  
 (q) no retained tree, hedge or shrub shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, 

nor shall any retained tree or hedge, be topped or lopped other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and particulars, without the written 
approval of the local planning authority. Any topping or lopping approved shall 
be carried out in accordance with British Standard [3998 (Tree Work)] 

  
 (r) If any retained tree, or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, 

another tree or hedge shall be planted at the same place and that tree or hedge 
shall be of such size and species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be 
specified in writing by the local planning authority. 

  
 Reason :  
 To safeguard the appearance and character of the area in accordance with 

Policies DM04 and DM08A of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  
 
9. Where practical, top soil from the site will be stored and re-used on site in 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



garden and landscape areas. 
  
 Reason: 
 To support the retention and re-use of soil in terms of sustainability and in 

accordance with the Policy DM08 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
and paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

   
10. All proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, 

street lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water 
outfall, road maintenance/vehicle overhang margins, embankments, visibility 
splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture shall be constructed and laid 
out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections 
indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and 
method of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority as 
part of the reserved matters application. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of 

the detailed proposals to comply with Policies DM05 and DM06 of the North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  

  
 
11. The occupation of any building in an agreed phase of the development shall not 

take place until the following works have been carried out: 
 (a) The carriageway including the vehicle turning head to serve that building 

shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including 
base course level, the ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, 
manholes and service crossings completed; 

 (b) The footways and footpaths which provide that building with a direct 
pedestrian route to an existing highway maintainable at public expense has 
been constructed up to and including base course level; 

 (c) The visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 
 (d) The street lighting for the roads and footpaths applicable to (a) and (b) 

above has been erected and is operational; 
 (e) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the 

building by this permission has been completed; 
 (f) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of 

the dwelling have been completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 
 (g) The street nameplates for (a) above, have been provided and erected. 
  
 Upon occupation, the carriageway, vehicle turning head, footways and 

footpaths shall be maintained free of obstruction to the free movement of 
vehicular traffic and pedestrians and the street lighting and nameplates 
maintained.  

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that adequate facilities are available for the traffic attracted to the site 

to comply with Policies DM05 and DM06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan.  

Page 53

Agenda Item 7



  
 
12. During the construction phase no machinery shall be operated, no process shall 

be carried out and no deliveries taken at or dispatched from the site outside the 
following times: 

 a) Monday - Friday 08.00 - 18.00, 
 b) Saturday 09.00 - 13.00 
 c) nor at any time on Sunday, Bank or Public holidays. 
  
 Reason:  
 To protect the amenity of local residents in accordance with Policies DM01 and 

DM02 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  
  
 
13. Should any contamination of soil or groundwater not previously identified be 

discovered during development of the site, the Local Planning Authority should 
be contacted immediately. Site activities within that sub-phase or part thereof, 
should be temporarily suspended until such time as a procedure for addressing 
such contamination, within that sub-phase or part thereof, is agreed upon with 
the Local Planning Authority or other regulating bodies. 

  
 Reason: 
  To ensure that any contamination existing and exposed during the 

development is identified and remediated in accordance with Policy DM02 of 
the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

  
 
14. Prior to the commencement of any site clearance, groundworks or construction, 

the local planning authority shall be provided with the results of a phase one 
survey for potential ground contamination. 

  
 The report shall be prepared by a suitably qualified competent person and be 

sufficient to identify any and all potential sources of ground contamination 
affecting any part of the development site. Thereafter, depending on the 
outcome of phase one, a proposal for any phase two (intrusive) survey that may 
be required shall be presented to and agreed with the planning authority. 

  
 Where remediation of any part of the site is found to be required, a remediation 

scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall include details of any necessary quality assurance, 
verification and certification requirements in accordance with established best 

 practice. 
  
 The construction phase of the development shall be carried out in accordance 

with the agreed details and, where relevant, verification reports and completion 
certificates shall be submitted for the written approval of the local planning 
authority. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that risks from land contamination to future users of the land and 

Page 54

Agenda Item 7



neighbouring land, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems are identified and, where necessary, remediated in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.  These details are 
required at such a stage to ensure that potential contamination can be managed 
at the appropriate stage in the interests of public health and proper planning of 
the site. 

 
15. Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, 

groundworks or construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or 
minor works that the Local Planning Authority may agree in writing), a 
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) to manage the impacts of 
construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt and where 
relevant, the CEMP shall include:- 

 a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
 b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
 c) the importation and removal of spoil and soil on site; 
 d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
 e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 
 f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must 

include wheel-washing facilities 
 g) control of fugitive dust from earthworks and construction activities; dust 

suppression 
 h) a noise control plan which details hours of operation and proposed mitigation 

measures; 
 i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings 
 j) specified on-site parking for vehicles associated with the construction works 

and the provision made for access thereto; 
 k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and 

details of how complaints will be addressed.  
  
 The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and 
monitored by the applicants to ensure continuing compliance during the 
construction of the development. 

  
 Reason:  
 To minimise the impact of the works during the construction of the development 

in the interests of highway safety and the free-flow of traffic, and to safeguard 
the amenities of the area. To protect the amenity of local residents from 
potential impacts whilst site clearance, groundworks and construction is 
underway to accord with Policies DM01, DM02 and DM05 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan.  

  
 
16. As part of the Reserved Matters, the following information shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 (a) Groundwater monitoring results in line with our DCC groundwater monitoring 

policy. 
 (b) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Assessment and the results of the information submitted in relation to (a) above 
 (c) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from 

the site during construction of the development hereby permitted. 
 (d) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water 

drainage system. 
 (e) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
 (f) Evidence there is agreement in principle from the landowner/DCC 

highways/SWW 
 (g) A detailed assessment of the condition and capacity of any existing surface 

water drainage system/watercourse/culvert that will be affected by the 
proposals. The assessment should identify and commit to, any repair and/or 
improvement works to secure the proper function of the surface water 

 drainage receptor. 
  
 No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been 

approved and implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (g) above. 
  
 Reason: 
 The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water 

drainage system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood 
risk either on the site, adjacent land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon 
Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF and PPG. The 
conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed 
surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to 
avoid redesign / unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is 
fixed. 

  
 NOTE 
 Advice from LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY 
  
 The applicant has proposed an alternative discharge location from the swale. 

The applicant previously proposed to discharge into the watercourse within the 
east of the site. The applicant has now shown an outfall into the ordinary 
watercourse adjacent to the Tarka Trail to the south of the site. The applicant 
will 

 need to liaise with the relevant landowner/s to gain permission to construct an 
outfall within this watercourse (this outfall may also require Land Drainage 
Consent from Devon County Council's Flood and Coastal Risk Management 
Team). 

  
 If the applicant proposes to discharge to the ordinary watercourse to the east of 

the site, and the watercourse needs to be re-graded to allow this, then the 
applicant will need to submit details at the next stage of planning to confirm that 
it is appropriate to re-grade the watercourse. This would also require Land 

 Drainage Consent from Devon County Council's Flood and Coastal Risk 
Management Team. 

  
 The applicant has confirmed that groundwater shall be monitored prior to the 

detailed design of the surface water drainage system. Groundwater will need to 
be monitored prior to the next stage of planning. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 7



  
 If planning permission is approved for this site, then at the reserved matters 

stage, the applicant will need to submit cross-sections to demonstrate the 
formation of the permeable paving for each of the proposed permeable paving 
areas. The applicant will also need to submit cross-sections of the proposed 
swales to demonstrate the formation of the swales and side slopes of the 
swales. The swales will need to be appropriately landscaped. 

  
 The applicant has confirmed that green roofs, water butts and rain gardens will 

be assessed at the next stage of planning. The applicant may also wish to 
assess living walls and rainwater harvesting.  The applicant will need to ensure 
that all proposed outfalls are well monitored and maintained. 

 
17. As part of the reserved matters application details in relation to the potential for 

noise from the proposed foul pumping station on the occupiers of the closest 
proposed dwellings.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby 
approved. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interests of residential amenity having regard to Policy DM01 of the 

adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 
   
18. The existing access shall be effectively and permanently closed in accordance 

with details which shall previously have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority as soon as the new access is brought into use and in 
any event prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved. 

  
 Reason:  
 To minimise the number of accesses on to the public highway and to provide a 

safe access to the site in accordance with Policy DM05 of the North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan.  

 
19. As part of the first reserved matter application, a waste audit statement shall be 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. This statement 
shall include all information outlined in the waste audit template provided in 
Devon County Council's Waste Management and Infrastructure Supplementary 
Planning Document. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved statement. 

  
 Reason: 
 To minimise the amount of waste produced and promote sustainable methods 

of waste management in accordance with Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan 
and the Waste Management and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

  
 
Informatives 
1. The above consent requires the submission of further details to be approved 

either before works commence or at identified phases of construction. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



  
 To discharge these requirements will mean further formal submissions to the 

Authority on the appropriate forms, which can be completed online via the 
planning Portal www.planningportal.gov.uk or downloaded from the Planning 
section of the North Devon Council website, www.northdevon.gov.uk. 

  
 A fee may be required [dependent on the type of application] for each separate 

submission [if several or all the details are submitted together only one fee will 
be payable]. 

  
 Further details on this process are available on the Planning section of the 

Council’s website or by contacting the Planning Unit at Lynton House, 
Commercial Road, Barnstaple. 

 
2. The development to which this permission relates is the subject of an 

agreement under, inter alia, Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 
3. Statement of Engagement 
 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework the 

Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant and has 
negotiated amendments to the application to enable the grant of planning 
permission. This has included seeking further information.  The LPA has been 
required to apply the titled balance in regard to Paragraph 11 (d) of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and in this instance, on balance it is considered that 
the environmental harm to landscape and heritage assets is not considered to 
significant and demonstrable harm when considered in the balance with the 
Council's absence of a 5 year housing land supply.  

 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Site Description 
The application site comprises a rectangular shaped 3.1ha field which is essentially flat 
in nature. It sits between the A361 to the north and Tarka Trail to the south and also 
between the access road to Chivenor industrial estate to the east and the access road 
to Chivenor RMB to the west. 
 
In terms of surrounding land uses, the marines base and the industrial estate occupy 
land to the south, some long standing small scale residential and tourism uses are to 
the north, beyond which is open countryside south of the hilltop settlement of Heanton 
Punchardon. To the west towards Braunton is allocated development land, which is 
currently under construction and the recently permitted scheme. 
 
Recommendation: 
Approved 
Legal Agreement Required:- Yes 
 
 
 
 

Page 58

Agenda Item 7



Planning History 

Planning Decision Decision Date 
77/0326/31/01 
 

Refused 
 

27 July 1977 
 

Address: LPC105430,  Chivenor, Devon 
Proposal: Proposed Outline Development (Dept of Industry) 
 
 
78/0477/31/01 
 

Approved 
 

4 May 1978 
 

Address: LP7804773101, Chivenor, Devon  
 
Proposal: Holiday village 
 
 
26318 
 

Full Planning Approval 
 

16 March 1999 
 

Address: Chivenor Industrial Estate (Access  Road), Chivenor, Barnstaple, EX31 4AY 
Proposal: Application under Regulation 3 of the T & C P General Regulations 1992 
Notification by Devon County Council in respect of proposed alterations to access road 
and junction with A361 
 
 
56106 
 

Full Planning Approval 
 

11 November 2013 
 

Address: Chivenor Cross, Chivenor,  Devon,  
Proposal: Formation of luxury camp site together with erection of reception building 
incorporating café & shop & camp site facilities (amended description) 
 
 
 
 
60489 
 

Full Planning Approval 
 

17 February 2016 
 

Address: Land at Chivenor Cross, Chivenor, Devon,  
Proposal: Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) attached to planning permission 
56106 (formation of luxury campsite together with erection of reception building 
incorporating café, shop & camp site facilities) to allow inclusion of managers 
accommodation 
 
 
64584 
 

Discharge Of Condition 
Approve 
 

24 April 2018 
 

Address: Land at Chivenor Cross, Chivenor, Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 4BN 
Proposal: Approval of details reserved by conditions 3 (facing & roofing materials) & 5 
(ecological management plan) attached to planning permission 60489 (variation of 
condition 2 (approved plans) attached to planning permission 56106 (formation of luxury 

Page 59

Agenda Item 7



  
Constraints/Planning Policy 
 
Constraint / Local Plan Policy Distance (Metres) 
Advert Control Area Area of Special Advert Control Within constraint 
Burrington Radar Safeguard Area consultation required for: 
All buildings, structures, erections & works exceeding 45 
metres in height. 

Within constraint 

Chivenor Safeguard Zone Consultation Structure or works 
exceeding 15.2m 

Within constraint 

Class I Road  
Landscape Character is: 4A Estuaries Within constraint 
Non Mains Drainage Site: 56106 Within constraint 
Non Mains Drainage Site: 60489 Within constraint 
Non Mains Drainage Site: C112352 Within constraint 
Unclassified Road  
Within Adopted Coast and Estuary Zone  Within constraint 
Within Adopted Unesco Biosphere Transition (ST14) Within constraint 
Within Braunton Burrows Zone of Influence Within constraint 
Within Surface Water 1 in 1000 Within constraint 
SSSI Impact Risk Consultation Area Within constraint 
  
DM01 - Amenity Considerations 
DM02 - Environmental Protection 
DM02 - Environmental Protection 
DM03 - Construction and Environmental Management 
DM05 - Highways 
DM05 - Highways 
DM06 - Parking Provision 
DM07 - Historic Environment 
DM08 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
DM08A - Landscape and Seascape Character 
DM10 - Green Infrastructure Provision 
ST01 - Principles of Sustainable Development 
ST02 - Mitigating Climate Change 
ST03 - Adapting to Climate Change and Strengthening Resilience 
ST04 - Improving the Quality of Development 
ST05 - Sustainable Construction and Buildings 
ST07 - Spatial Development Strategy for Northern Devon’s Rural Area 

campsite together with erection of reception building incorporating café, shop & camp 
site facilities) to allow inclusion of managers accommodation) 
 
 
63047 
 

Outline Refusal 
 

29 June 2018 
 

Address: Land at Chivenor Cross, Chivenor, Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 4BN 
Proposal: Outline application for up to 59 residential units & associated infrastructure 
(including access) (all other matters reserved) (additional information) 
 
 

Page 60

Agenda Item 7



ST09 - Coast and Estuary Strategy 
ST10 - Transport Strategy 
ST14 - Enhancing Environmental Assets 
ST15 - Conserving Heritage Assets 
ST17 - A Balanced Local Housing Market 
ST18 - Affordable Housing on Development Sites 
ST21 - Managing the Delivery of Housing 
ST23 - Infrastructure 
  
 Consultees  
  
Name Comment 
Arboricultural 
Officer 
 

No objection received. 

Braunton Parish 
Council 
 
Reply Received 
11 August 2020 

11/08/2020 08:21 - Braunton Parish Council wishes to recommend 
refusal on the grounds, as follows:  
 
 It does not fit with the Local Plan the proposed site is 
outside of the development boundary. 
 
 Concerns that the development will increase traffic 
movement in the area by approximately 450 vehicles. The 
neighbouring village of Braunton has been declared an Air Quality 
Management Area recent monitoring of the air quality in Braunton, 
by the Parish Council, has produced results showing NO2 levels 
which significantly exceeds the National Ambient Air Quality 
Standards which are set at 40mg/m3. 
 
 Insufficient evidence in terms of the need for these 59 
dwellings in addition to those that have already been identified in 
the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 
 
 The application does not stand up to the 4 pillars of 
sustainability considering there is no evidence of employment, 
social or economic benefit and the environmental harm that the 
proposed development will cause results in this application being 
unsustainable and unacceptable. 
 
 Insufficient existing infrastructure to cope with the increase 
in population, the existing Medical Centre in Braunton and local 
schools are already under a great deal of pressure and will struggle 
to cope with this level of increase in housing. 
 
 It would adversely affect the intrinsic environmental value 
and character of the landscape as the proposal will harm local 
wildlife and result in the loss of important wildlife habitat.  
 
 The development would adversely impact on foraging and 
nesting habitats for bats, birds and reptile. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



 
Braunton Parish 
Council 
 
Reply Received 
28 October 
2020 

28/10/2020 16:02 - Braunton Parish Council wishes to reiterate its 
previous reasons for refusal: - 
 
It does not fit with the Local Plan, the proposed site is outside of 
the development boundary. 
 
Concerns that the development will increase traffic movement in 
the area by approximately 450 vehicles. The neighbouring village 
of Braunton has been declared an Air Quality Management Area. 
NO2 levels in Braunton significantly exceed the National Ambient 
Air Quality Standards which are set at 40mg/m3. 
 
Insufficient evidence in terms of the need for these 59 dwellings in 
addition to those that have already been identified in the North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 
 
The application does not stand up to the four pillars of sustainability 
considering there is no evidence of employment, social or 
economic benefit.  The environmental harm that the proposed 
development will cause results in this application being 
unsustainable and unacceptable. 
 
Insufficient existing infrastructure to cope with the increase in 
population. The existing Medical Centre in Braunton and local 
schools are already under a great deal of pressure and will struggle 
to cope with this level of increase in housing. 
 
It would adversely affect the intrinsic environmental value and 
character of the landscape as the proposal will harm local wildlife 
and result in the loss of important wildlife habitat.  
It would adversely impact on foraging and nesting habitats for bats, 
birds and reptiles. 
 
The site is at high risk to pluvial flooding as witnessed by other 
developments in the area. 
 
The affordable housing is not clearly defined. 
 
There should be a significant contribution towards air quality, traffic 
congestion and provision of walking and cycling routes in Braunton. 
 

Building Control 
Manager 
 

No reply received. 

Building Control 
Manager 
 

No reply received. 

Councillor A 
Davis 

Application Called to Committee 

Page 62

Agenda Item 7



 
DCC - Childrens 
Services 
 
Reply Received 
17 August 2020 

Regarding the above application, Devon County Council will need 
to request additional education contributions to mitigate the impact 
of the additional development.  
 
DCC has identified that the proposed increase of 59 family type 
dwellings will generate an additional 14.75 primary pupil and 8.85 
secondary pupils which would have a direct impact on primary and 
secondary schools in Braunton. 
 
In order to make the development acceptable in planning terms, an 
education contribution to mitigate its impact will be requested. This 
is set out below: 
 
We have forecast that the nearest primary schools have capacity 
for 69% of pupils expected to be generated by development in 
Braunton. Therefore, Devon County Council will seek a contribution 
directly towards additional education infrastructure at the local 
primary schools that serve the address of the proposed 
development. The contribution sought for primary is £75,135 
(based on the DfE extension rate of £16,432 per pupil 14.75 pupils 
x 31%) 
 
We have forecast that the nearest secondary school, Braunton 
Academy, does not have capacity for the number of pupils likely to 
be generated by the proposed development. Therefore, Devon 
County Council will seek a contribution directly towards additional 
education infrastructure at the local secondary school that will 
serve the address of the proposed development. The contribution 
sought for secondary would be £199,240 (based on the DfE 
extension rate of £22,513 per pupil). Both the primary and 
secondary contributions would relate directly to providing education 
facilities for those living in the development. 
 
All contributions will be subject to indexation using BCIS, it should 
be noted that education infrastructure contributions are based on 
March 2019 rates and any indexation applied to these contributions 
should be applied from this date. 
 
In addition to the contribution figures quoted above, the County 
Council would wish to recover legal costs incurred as a result of the 
preparation and completion of the Agreement.  Legal costs are not 
expected to exceed £500.00 where the agreement relates solely to 
the education contribution.  However, if the agreement involves 
other issues or if the matter becomes protracted, the legal costs 
are likely to be in excess of this sum. 
 

DCC - 
Development 
Management 

30/09/2020 15:03 - In further consideration of the proposed 
development, the following highway works are identified as being 
necessary to provide safe and suitable access for pedestrian, 

Page 63

Agenda Item 7



Highways 
 
Reply Received 
30 September 
2020 

cyclist and other non-motorised users:  
  
1) the upgrading of the existing footway to a 2.5 metre 
footway/cycleway along the western frontage of the application site 
to a point at the bus stop located to the south of the A361 and to 
the east of the Chivenor Cross Roundabout, including lighting, as 
necessary; 
 
2) the provision of a Toucan Crossing facility to replace the existing 
formal (non-signalised) crossing facility located approximately 100 
metres to the west of the centre point of the Chivenor Cross 
Roundabout on the A361; 
 
3) the upgrading of the existing footway/footpath to the south of the 
A361 from a point at the existing formal crossing facility (as 
referenced to 2) above), to a point in close proximity to the bus lay-
by at the internal roundabout serving RMB Chivenor. Such 
improvement being the provision of a 2.5 metre cycleway/footway, 
including lighting, as necessary; 
  
4) Formal closure of the existing vehicular access serving the site; 
and 
 
5) A 2.5 metre footpath/cyclepath connection from the application 
site to the Tarka Trail.  
  
The following contribution requirements are identified:  
  
1) the requirement of a 60,000 contribution towards the 
upgrading of the traffic signals within the centre of Braunton; 
 
2) A 20,000 commuted maintenance payment for the Toucan 
Crossing facility; 
 
3) A 5000 Traffic Regulation Order contribution; 
  
4)  the provision of a 250 public transport voucher per 
household; and  
  
5) the provision of a 50 cycling voucher per household. 

DCC - Historic 
Environment 
Team 
 
Reply Received 
17 July 2020 

17/07/2020 13:54 - Comments from Stephen Reed, Senior Historic 
Environment Officer, Devon County Historic Environment Team 
 
HET ref: ARCH/DM/ND/35670a 
 
The Historic Environment Team have no comments to make on 
this planning application. 

DCC - Lead 
Local Flood 
Authority 

Recommendation: 
At this stage, we object to the above planning application because 
the applicant has not submitted 

Page 64

Agenda Item 7



 
Reply Received 
12 August 2020 

sufficient information in order to demonstrate that all aspects of the 
surface water drainage management 
plan have been considered. In order to overcome our objection, the 
applicant will be required to submit 
some additional information, as outlined below. 
Observations: 
We understand that the Illustrative Masterplan (revision D; dated 
April 2017) and Flood Risk Assessment (Ref. 458.FRA2; Rev. V1; 
dated 3rd May 2017) submitted for planning application 63047 
have been submitted for this planning application. We now require 
surface water drainage strategies to be designed with FEH rainfall 
data. The applicant should revise the surface water drainage 
strategy. 
 
The applicant has defined the soil value for the greenfield runoff 
rates based on ground investigation data. However, we request 
that the soil value defined by the WRAP map is used. 
 
The applicant has noted that the ordinary watercourse, in the east 
of the site, will need to be deepened by 1 metre to allow a 
connection from the proposed surface water drainage system. The 
applicant should clarify the potential design of the 'regraded' 
watercourse to demonstrate, at this stage, that this outfall would be 
suitable and viable. 
As noted within our response to planning application 63047, the 
applicant will need to demonstrate the capacity of the receiving 
watercourse (including any culverts). If the watercourse cannot 
receive additional volumes of water, then the applicant will need to 
demonstrate that the site will comply with greenfield conditions. 
The applicant should monitor the groundwater levels within this site 
to ensure that groundwater will not have any effects on the 
proposed surface water drainage system or proposed 'regraded' 
watercourse. 

DCC - Lead 
Local Flood 
Authority 
 
Reply Received 
13 October 
2020 

Our objection is withdrawn and we have no in-principle objections 
to the above planning application at this stage, assuming that the 
following pre-commencement planning conditions are imposed on 
any approved permission: 
- Prior to or as part of the Reserved Matters, the following 
information shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority: 
(a) Groundwater monitoring results in line with our DCC 
groundwater monitoring policy. 
(b) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood 
Risk Assessment and the results of the information submitted in 
relation to (a) above 
(c) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt 
run-off from the site during construction of the development hereby 
permitted. 
(d) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent 
surface water drainage system. 

Page 65

Agenda Item 7



(e) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed 
at the site. 
(f) Evidence there is agreement in principle from the 
landowner/DCC highways/SWW 
(g) A detailed assessment of the condition and capacity of any 
existing surface water drainage system/watercourse/culvert that 
will be affected by the proposals. The assessment should identify 
and commit to, any repair and/or improvement works to secure the 
proper function of the surface water drainage receptor. 
No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works 
have been approved and implemented in accordance with the 
details under (a) - (g) above. 
Reason: The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed 
surface water drainage system will operate effectively and will not 
cause an increase in flood risk either on the site, adjacent land or 
downstream in line with SuDS for Devon Guidance (2017) and 
national policies, including NPPF and PPG. The conditions should 
be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed 
surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before 
works begin to avoid redesign / unnecessary delays during 
construction when site layout is fixed. 
 
Observations: 
Following my previous consultation response 
(FRM/ND/71660/2020; dated 12th August 2020), the applicant has 
submitted additional information in relation to the surface water 
drainage aspects of the above planning application, for which I am 
grateful. 
 
The applicant has revised the Soil Type in accordance with the 
Winter Rainfall Acceptance Potential Map. 
 
The applicant has also modelled the surface water drainage 
system with FEH Rainfall data. 
 
The applicant has proposed an alternative discharge location from 
the swale. The applicant previously proposed to discharge into the 
watercourse within the east of the site. The applicant has now 
shown an outfall into the ordinary watercourse adjacent to the 
Tarka Trail to the south of the site. The applicant will need to liaise 
with the relevant landowner/s to gain permission to construct an 
outfall within this watercourse (this outfall may also require Land 
Drainage Consent from Devon County Council's Flood and Coastal 
Risk Management Team). 
If the applicant proposes to discharge to the ordinary watercourse 
to the east of the site, and the watercourse needs to be re-graded 
to allow this, then the applicant will need to submit details at the 
next stage of planning to confirm that it is appropriate to re-grade 
the watercourse. This would also require Land Drainage Consent 
from Devon County Council's Flood and Coastal Risk Management 

Page 66

Agenda Item 7



Team. 
The applicant has confirmed that groundwater shall be monitored 
prior to the detailed design of the surface water drainage system. 
Groundwater will need to be monitored prior to the next stage of 
planning. 
If planning permission is approved for this site, then at the reserved 
matters stage, the applicant will need to submit cross-sections to 
demonstrate the formation of the permeable paving for each of the 
proposed permeable paving areas. The applicant will also need to 
submit cross-sections of the proposed swales to demonstrate the 
formation of the swales and side slopes of the swales. The swales 
will need to be appropriately landscaped. 
The applicant has confirmed that green roofs, water butts and rain 
gardens will be assessed at the next stage of planning. The 
applicant may also wish to assess living walls and rainwater 
harvesting. 
 
The applicant will need to ensure that all proposed outfalls are well 
monitored and maintained. 

DCC - Public 
Health 
 
Reply Received 
22 September 
2020 

The local population in Ashford, Chivenor, Wrafton and Heanton 
Punchardon is predominantly made up of the following 
characteristics: 
• Age profile of the population is predominantly 20-39 years 
• Home owners 
• Live in good health 
• Achieve a good education 
• Are in full time employment 
• In need of affordable housing 
Road safety is a key area of concern for the local area, with there 
being a high rate of injury admissions to hospital for those aged 0-
14years compared to Devon. 
There are many features of the application that we support 
including: 
The desire for superfast broadband, this will aid the economy and 
enable households and employers choice in being able to work 
from home. The application would be strengthened by ensuring 
each dwelling includes office space. 
Sustainable modes of travel are discussed in the travel plan and 
good connectivity to the cycle network are documented. It is 
encouraging to see that each household will have access to cycle 
storage and that electric bikes are being investigated for the 
development. The application would be strengthened by exploring 
whether there is a need for the large employers in the area to 
improve provision for secure cycle storage in order to assist with 
modal shift- since many of the employment journeys are within 
cycle distance. Care sharing is promoted throughout the travel plan 
and the application would be strengthened by working with the 
large employers in the area to facilitate this. 
The application provides conflicting details about the volume of 
affordable housing that will be provided. The design and access 

Page 67

Agenda Item 7



documents suggests 30% whilst the build for life assessment 
document suggests 50%. 
Access to green space provides benefits to both physical and 
mental wellbeing and opportunities to engage with nature. We 
support the need for a children play space whilst additional green 
spaces should enable all residents opportunities to enjoy the 
outdoors. 
The application fails to highlight how the plans contribute towards 
meeting climate and ecological emergency proposals. We would 
recommend consideration be given as to how the design of the 
buildings and wider development will assist with creating a net zero 
carbon development. 

Defence Estates 
Air 
Safeguarding 
 
Reply Received 
23 October 
2020 

The MOD has no safeguarding objections to this proposal. 

Designing Out 
Crime Officer 
 
Reply Received 
20 July 2020 

It is appreciated that at this time it is for outline only, as such I am 
unable to comment in depth as the available illustrative masterplan, 
which, as with the previous application (63047) in 2017, I accept 
may change, does not reveal many details that would be of 
concern to the police. However, I welcome the addition of a Crime 
& Disorder Statement to the application and the reference to the 
principles and processes of Secured By Design (SBD) within and 
would recommend the applicant gives consideration to completing 
the SBD Silver certification process to ensure these are adopted 
and implemented.  
In addition to my comments of 17th May 2017 attached to 
application 63047, from a designing out crime and disorder 
perspective it is vital that the parking provision for the proposed 
development is both enough, when balanced against the schedule 
of accommodation, as even a one-bedroom dwelling could attract 2 
vehicles, and designed that it is convenient and practical to use, for 
example, side by side parking as oppose to tandem style parking, 
as this will encourage its use and reduce the level of unplanned 
parking elsewhere. It is the ‘elsewhere parking’ that can introduce a 
source of conflict and rancour amongst residents, generally due to 
inconsiderate or obstructive parking and chaotic and vehicle 
dominated streets. 
With reference to ‘tandem’ parking above, there is ever increasing 
evidence from new development in the county where this design of 
parking is not being embraced, perhaps due to being inconvenient 
or just awkward to use, seeing the 2nd (or 3rd) vehicle being 
parked elsewhere just to make life easier for the occupants. It is 
appreciated that the tandem parking design is likely to fulfil the 
number of parking spaces required for new development, but this 
number is likely to be much reduced if the spaces are not being 
utilised. 

Page 68

Agenda Item 7



In addition to this the problems associated with tandem parking are 
further exacerbated when designed to the front of a garage or car 
port. 
Please do not hesitate to contact me if any clarification is sought or 
I can assist further. 
 

Designing Out 
Crime Officer 
 
Reply Received 
20 October 
2020 

I have no additional comments at this time. 

Environment 
Agency 
 
Reply Received 
21 September 
2020 

No objection received.  

Environmental 
Health Manager 
 
Reply Received 
23 July 2020 

I have reviewed this application in relation to Environmental 
Protection matters and comment as follows: 
 
1  Noise  
I have reviewed the Inacoustics Noise Assessment dated 18 
August 2017. The assessment considers potential noise impacts in 
relation to the proposed housing development having regard to 
relevant standards and guidance. The report concludes that no 
significant adverse noise impacts are likely to arise and identifies 
no requirement for specific noise mitigation measures based on the 
Outline proposals . 
I accept the findings of the report.  
2  Air Quality  
I have reviewed the WSP letter report dated 23 August 2017.  
- Operational Phase 
The WSP report provides details of traffic flows associated with the 
operational phase of the development. The data presented 
indicates that traffic generated by the proposed development will 
be below the AQIA trigger thresholds presented in the EPUK & 
IAQM document: "Land-Use Planning and Development Control: 
Planning for Air Quality" (January 2017). In addition, the proposed 
development does not exceed any of the AQIA thresholds set out 
in the Council's recently published Air Quality SPD.   
The report concludes that no significant operational phase air 
quality impacts are likely to arise and that a detailed AQIA is not 
required. I accept these conclusions.   
- Construction Phase Impacts 
I recommend potential construction phase air quality impacts be 
dealt with via a Construction Environmental Management Plan (see 
below).  
3  Land Contamination 
 

Page 69

Agenda Item 7



Housing developments are recognised as having high sensitivity to 
the potential presence of any land contamination affecting the site. 
I therefore recommend the following conditions be included:   
 
- Contaminated Land Phase 1 Condition 
Prior to the commencement of any site clearance, groundworks or 
construction, the local planning authority shall be provided with the 
results of a phase one survey for potential ground contamination.  
The report shall be prepared by a suitably qualified competent 
person and be sufficient to identify any and all potential sources of 
ground contamination affecting any part of the development site. 
Thereafter, depending on the outcome of phase one, a proposal for 
any phase two (intrusive) survey that may be required shall be 
presented to and agreed with the planning authority. 
Where remediation of any part of the site is found to be required, a 
remediation scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the local planning authority. The scheme shall include details of 
any necessary quality assurance, verification and certification 
requirements in accordance with established best practice.    
The construction phase of the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the agreed details and, where relevant, 
verification reports and completion certificates shall be submitted 
for the written approval of the local planning authority.    
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to future 
users of the land and neighbouring land, together with those to 
controlled waters, property and ecological systems are identified 
and, where necessary, remediated in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
- Contaminated Land (Unexpected Contamination) Condition  
 
Should any contamination of ground or groundwater not previously 
identified be discovered during development of the site, the Local 
Planning Authority shall be contacted immediately. Site activities 
within that sub-phase or part thereof shall be temporarily 
suspended until such time as a procedure for addressing the 
contamination is agreed upon with the Local Planning Authority or 
other regulating bodies.   
 
Reason: To ensure that any contamination exposed during 
development is remediated in accordance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework 
 
4  Construction Phase Impacts 
In order to ensure that nearby residents and businesses are not 
unreasonably affected by dust, noise or other impacts during the 
construction phase of the development I recommend the following 
conditions be imposed: 
- Construction Environmental Management Plan Condition 
Prior to the commencement of development, including any site 

Page 70

Agenda Item 7



clearance, groundworks or construction within each sub-phase 
(save such preliminary or minor works that the Local Planning 
Authority may agree in writing), a Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) to manage the impacts of construction 
during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt 
and where relevant, the CEMP shall include:- 
  
a)     measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
b)     the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
c)     details of any significant importation or movement of spoil and 
soil on site; 
d)     details of the removal /disposal of materials from site, 
including soil and vegetation; 
e)     the location and covering of stockpiles; 
f)      details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the 
site / wheel-washing facilities; 
g)     control of fugitive dust from demolition, earthworks and 
construction activities; dust suppression; 
h)     a noise control plan which details hours of operation and 
proposed mitigation measures; 
i)      location of any site construction office, compound and 
ancillary facility buildings; 
j)      specified on-site parking for vehicles associated with the 
construction works and the provision made for access thereto; 
k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site 
manager) and details of how complaints will be addressed. 
The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall 
be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be 
complied with in full and monitored by the applicants to ensure 
continuing compliance during the construction of the development. 
  
Reason:  To minimise the impact of the works during the 
construction of the development in the interests of highway safety 
and the free-flow of traffic, and to safeguard the amenities of the 
area.  To protect the amenity of local residents from potential 
impacts whilst site clearance, groundworks and construction is 
underway. 
  
- Construction Hours Condition 
 
During the construction phase no machinery shall be operated, no 
process shall be carried out and no deliveries taken at or 
dispatched from the site outside the following times: 
a) Monday - Friday 08.00 - 18.00, 
b) Saturday 08.00 - 13.00 
c) nor at any time on Sunday, Bank or Public holidays. 
  
Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents 
 

Page 71

Agenda Item 7



Environmental 
Health Manager 
 
Reply Received 
19 October 
2020 

I have reviewed the additional information for this application in 
relation to Environmental Protection matters and refer you to 
comments I made previously by email on 23 July 2020.  
 
Foul Pumping Station 
 
I note a plan has now been provided showing a proposed pumping 
station in the southwest corner of the site. The outline plans show a 
proposed single dwelling in this location also. Depending on the 
details of what is proposed at reserved matters stage, there may 
be a potential for pumping station noise to affect nearby proposed 
dwellings.  
 
I recommend that further details be provided in relation to the 
potential for noise from the proposed foul pumping station to affect 
occupiers of the closest proposed dwellings. This information can 
be provided at reserved matters stage.  
 
Notwithstanding the above, my comments of 23 July 2020 stand.  
 

Heanton 
Punchardon 
Parish Council 
 
Reply Received 
14 October 
2020 

The recommendation from Heanton Parish Council is REFUSAL. 
I understand Cllr Andrea Davis has asked for this application to be 
"called in". 
Please let me know the current situation. 
Comments from the Parish Council: 
Already there is a prospect of an additional 495 houses forming a 
new suburb between Chivenor Cross and Velator. When this 
happens, the traffic will be unsustainable, especially in the villages 
of Heanton, Ashford, Bradiford, Pilton, through which much 
Braunton traffic will pass when the A361 is clogged in rush hours. 
Adding a further 59 dwellings will make the situation even worse. 
Another application (no. 64000), agreed by NDC, opposed by 
Heanton PPC, provides for 94 dwellings at Chivenor Cross with 
traffic exiting onto the A361 causing an increase in traffic flow and 
seriously increasing the already high level of air pollution. 
The A361 between Braunton and St Johns Garden Centre is about 
to become a rush-hour and change-over day car park and the 
villages a continual rat-run down single-track roads stretching the 
whole four miles from Braunton to Banstaple. 
 
The Parish Council recommends REFUSAL. 

Heritage & 
Conservation 
Officer 
 
Reply Received 
13 August 2020 

13/08/2020 14:29 - This is the same scheme, in terms of layout 
and numbers, as that submitted under application 63047. My 
consultation response remains the same as that made on 16.6.17, 
i.e.  
"There are no designated heritage assets within the boundary of 
this site, but views are available of the grade I listed Church of St 
Augustine at Heanton, from various points within the field. The 
tower is very high, and was no doubt intended to be seen and used 
as a landmark within the surrounding countryside. Because of this, 

Page 72

Agenda Item 7



its setting is comparatively large, and it can be said that 
development of the field in question would have an effect on that 
setting, as it obscures some views. This being the case, the 
proposal would cause a degree of less than substantial harm to the 
significance of the heritage asset, under the terms of p134 of the 
NPPF, but my view would be that the level of that harm would be 
very slight." 
 

Heritage & 
Conservation 
Officer 
 
Reply Received 
28 October 
2020 

28/10/2020 11:37 - Please see my consultation response of 
13.8.20 

Housing 
Enabling Officer 
 
Reply Received 
6 August 2020 

6/08/2020 10:51 - Thank you for your consultation.  
 
The applicant's Planning Statement states at paragraph 5.6 - "The 
site adjoins land allocated for development under policy BRA01 of 
the Local Plan (Wrafton South Eastern Extension), as shown on 
the plan below." And at paragraph 7.13 - "The proposed 
development would provide 30% affordable housing to meet local 
housing need. The applicant would be happy to enter into a S106 
legal agreement to secure this provision.".  
 
We acknowledge that we need to bear in mind the ongoing 
examination of the current five year land supply. However, in 
accordance with Policy ST19: Affordable Housing on Exception 
Sites of the Local Plan, proposals to deliver permanent affordable 
housing will be supported if the site is well related to or adjoining 
the defined development boundary. If Planning consider that the 
site meets this criteria then, as an exception site, the main driver 
should be affordable housing and any open market housing should 
be the minimum necessary to cross-subsidise the affordable 
element. We would urge that the site remains as an exception site. 
I would ask that a viability assessment is submitted to establish the 
numbers that are viable and this would be reviewed by our 
independent consultant at the applicant's cost.  
 
On an exception site I would request a Housing Needs Survey. 
This should be commissioned via Devon Rural Housing 
Partnership at the applicant's cost. The applicant can contact me if 
they would like a quote. This would send out a survey to each 
household within the parish of Heanton Punchardon to ensure such 
housing meets their needs.  
 
On an exception site the housing need for the parish and the 
adjoining parishes can be taken into account.  
 
Devon Home Choice (DHC) shows there are 39 households living 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



in the parish of Heanton Punchardon registered as being in need of 
affordable housing for rent as of January 2020. For the adjoining 
parishes the number of households registered as being in need of 
affordable housing for rent as of January 2020 are:- 
 
Braunton - 82  
Ashford - 4 
Marwood - 3 
 
Not all households tend to register themselves on the housing 
register as they don't think that they will have the opportunity to be 
housed so this figure is often significantly higher. It should be noted 
that although DHC data identifies the number of households living 
within the parish in housing need, it does not always provide 
sufficient information to firmly establish how long households have 
been resident in the parish or if they wish to remain in the parish; it 
is a snap shot in time and people's circumstances can change 
extremely quickly. In addition, some households may seek 
affordable home ownership options (shared ownership/discounted 
sale). We don't hold data on numbers of households requiring 
some form of affordable housing for sale.  
 
Property sizes for affordable housing should aim to meet or exceed 
the "Technical housing standards - nationally described space 
standard", which can be accessed at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/technical-housing-
standards-nationally-described-space-standard 
(see "Table 1 - Minimum gross internal floor areas and storage 
(m2)" of the Department for Communities and Local Government 
document). 
 
The attached table shows the policy requirement for dwelling mix & 
occupancy levels. Registered providers require housing to be built 
to National Space Standards; these are indicated in the table.  
 
The tenure mix would need to be at least 75% social rent (in 
accordance with policy) and the remainder intermediate (shared 
ownership, intermediate rent or discounted sale).  
 
The affordable homes should be pepperpotted throughout the site 
in clusters of no more than 6-10 units.  
 
The affordable homes should be designed and of the same 
material and construction as the open market - including car 
parking.  
 
Those who are allocated or buy the housing would need to have a 
local connection. Local connection would initially be to the local 
area then eventually extend out to the administrative district of 
North Devon Council.  

Page 74

Agenda Item 7



 
It should be noted that the results of a housing needs survey could 
alter the property sizes needed.  
 

Housing 
Enabling Officer 
 
Reply Received 
21 October 
2020 

21/10/2020 10:41 - Thank you for your consultation.  
 
I refer to my response dated 6 August 2020 to your previous 
consultation. I wish to re-iterate that, although we acknowledge that 
we need to bear in mind the ongoing examination of the current 
five year land supply, in accordance with Policy ST19: Affordable 
Housing on Exception Sites of the Local Plan proposals to deliver 
permanent affordable housing will be supported if the site is well 
related to or adjoining the defined development boundary. If 
Planning consider that the site meets this criteria then, as an 
exception site, the main driver should be affordable housing and 
any open market housing should be the minimum necessary to 
cross-subsidise the affordable element. We would urge that the site 
remains as an exception site. I would ask that a viability 
assessment is submitted to establish the numbers that are viable 
and this would be reviewed by our independent consultant at the 
applicant's cost.  
 
I also wish to re-iterate my other comments in my response dated 6 
August 2020, including my request for a Housing Needs Survey.  
 
The updated Devon Home Choice figures since my previous 
response show that there are 56 households living in the parish of 
Heanton Punchardon registered as being in need of affordable 
housing for rent as of July 2020. For the adjoining parishes the 
number of households registered as being in need of affordable 
housing for rent as of July 2020 are:- 
Braunton - 91 
Ashford - 8  
Marwood - 4  
 
Not all households tend to register themselves on the housing 
register as they don't think that they will have the opportunity to be 
housed so this figure is often significantly higher. It should be noted 
that although DHC data identifies the number of households living 
within the parish in housing need, it does not always provide 
sufficient information to firmly establish how long households have 
been resident in the parish or if they wish to remain in the parish; it 
is a snap shot in time and people's circumstances can change 
extremely quickly. In addition, some households may seek 
affordable home ownership options (shared ownership/discounted 
sale). We don't hold data on numbers of households requiring 
some form of affordable housing for sale.  
 
 
 

Page 75

Agenda Item 7



Natural England 
 
Reply Received 
28 July 2020 

Thank you for your consultation email dated and received by 
Natural England on 20 July 2020 regarding the above application. 
Based on the information provided we have the following 
comment1. 
Designated sites 
Braunton Burrows Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
The application site is within the Zone of Influence (ZoI) for the 
Braunton Burrows SAC within which impacts of residential and 
tourist development on the SAC would arise in the absence of 
appropriate mitigation. 
Further evidence submitted following your Joint Local Plan Habitats 
Regulations Assessment indicates that it would not be possible to 
reach a conclusion of ‘no likely significant effect’ for housing in this 
location, in combination with other residential/tourist development 
within the ZoI, in the absence of appropriate mitigation. 
North Devon Council and Torridge District Council have adopted 
an Interim Scheme ‘Braunton Burrows Special Area of 
Conservation Visitor Impacts and Mitigation’ (July 2019) whereby 
impacts can be avoided and mitigated through financial 
contributions in order to avoid significant effects of recreational 
impacts on the Braunton Burrows SAC from new housing/tourist 
developments within the ZoI. 
Natural England therefore advises that you: 
- Undertake an Appropriate Assessment2 of the proposal and any 
mitigation proposed, prior to determining the application. 
- Seek agreement from the applicant on funding of a package of 
measures which will permit you to reach a conclusion of no 
adverse effect on integrity before granting permission. Your 
Authority should not grant permission until such time as this 
mitigation has been secured. 
1 This reply comprises our statutory consultation response under 
the provisions of Article 10 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Development Procedure) Order 1995, Section 28 of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation 
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). 
2 As the Competent Authority, North Devon Council is required to 
conduct a Habitat Regulations screening to determine the 
significance of impacts on Braunton Burrows Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) and the scope for mitigation and to 
demonstrate that the requirements of Regulations 63 and 64 of The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as 
amended) have been considered by your authority. 
 
The Conservation Objectives for the Braunton Burrows SAC 
explain how the sites should be restored and/or maintained and 
may be helpful in assessing what, if any, potential impacts a plan 
or project may have. 
 
Taw Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
Natural England’s Impact Risk Zones (IRZ) have highlighted the 

Page 76

Agenda Item 7



proximity of the proposal to the Taw Torridge Estuary SSSI which 
is notified for its overwintering bird interest (aggregations of 
overwintering Golden Plover, Lapwing and Curlew, >20,000 Non-
Breeding Water birds) and supporting intertidal mud and saltmarsh 
habitat. Further information on the SSSI and its special interest 
features can be found at www.magic.gov.uk 
Based on the information provided, the site does not support 
significant numbers of wildfowl or waders and therefore unlikely to 
have a significant direct impact on the SSSI interest. However, 
given the location of the development, Natural England’s advice is 
that without mitigation this application has the potential to damage 
or destroy the interest features for which the Taw Torridge Estuary 
Site of Special Scientific Interest has been notified because it will 
add to the recreational activity on and around the estuary and thus 
contribute to disturbance and displacement effects on the 
overwintering water birds on the estuary. 
The Local Authority needs to ensure that sufficient design 
measures to avoid and mitigate recreational impacts are 
incorporated into the proposal to be certain there would not be 
significant adverse impacts during construction and operation. 
The data gathered through the Taw Torridge Estuary High Tide 
Roost and Recreational Impacts study3, of which your Authority is 
a partner, highlights that this sector (11488) contains two important 
high tide roosts and is of particular importance for birds feeding 
through all states of the tide. 
A strategic approach to mitigation would secure better 
environmental outcomes with all development adding to 
recreational impacts making a financial contribution to measures 
that avoid impacts. 
There is no obvious hydrological link to the estuary but we would 
recommend: 
-Securing suitable and adequate Sustainable Drainage systems 
(SuDS) with planting detail and a long term management and 
maintenance regime. 
-Securing best practice measures during construction for pollution 
prevention control through a construction environment 
management plan. 
Where sustainable drainage systems4 are proposed their amenity 
and wildlife value can be increased with careful design. The 
RSPB/WWT5 has produced a guide for developers and planners. 
We would recommend that management of the SuDS is included in 
an ecological management plan as maintenance of these features 
is key to a properly functioning system. 
Protected species 
We have not assessed this application and associated documents 
for impacts on protected species. 
Natural England has produced standing advice6 to help planning 
authorities understand the impact of particular developments on 
protected species. We advise you to refer to this advice. Natural 
England will only provide bespoke advice on protected species 

Page 77

Agenda Item 7



where they form part of a SSSI or in exceptional circumstances. 
3 https://www.northdevon.gov.uk/media/379527/final-report-
identification-of-wintering-wildfowl-high-tide-roosts-and-
recreational-disturbance-impacts-on-the-taw-torridge-estuary.pdf 
4 https://www.susdrain.org/community/Developers_Hub Susdrain 
developers Hub - understand the benefits of SuDS and support you 
in making the right choice for your development. This page 
provides a wealth of resources and evidence including; case 
studies, videos and fact sheets supporting the inclusion of SuDS 
on all projects 
5 https://www.rspb.org.uk/Images/SuDS_report_final_tcm9-
338064.pdf 
6 https://www.gov.uk/protected-species-and-sites-how-to-review-
planning-proposals 
 
The Institute of Lighting Professionals has produced practical 
guidance on considering the impact on bats when designing 
lighting schemes - Guidance Note 8 Bats and Artificial Lighting7. 
They have partnered with the Bat Conservation Trust and 
ecological consultants to write this document on avoiding or 
reducing the harmful effects which artificial lighting may have on 
bats and their habitats. 
Soils and Land Quality 
From the documents accompanying the consultation we consider 
this application falls outside the scope of the Development 
Management Procedure Order (as amended) consultation 
arrangements, as the proposed development would not appear to 
lead to the loss of over 20 ha ‘best and most versatile’ agricultural 
land (paragraph 170 and 171 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework). 
For this reason we do not propose to make any detailed comments 
in relation to agricultural land quality and soils, although more 
general guidance is available in Defra Construction Code of 
Practice for the Sustainable Use of Soils on Construction Sites, 
and we recommend that this is followed. If, however, you consider 
the proposal has significant implications for further loss of ‘best and 
most versatile’ agricultural land, we would be pleased to discuss 
the matter further. 
Rights of Way, Access land, Coastal access and National Trails 
Paragraph 98 of the NPPF highlights the important of public rights 
of way and access. Development should consider potential impacts 
on access land, common land, rights of way and coastal access 
routes in the vicinity of the development. Consideration should also 
be given to the potential impacts on the South West Coast Path 
National Trail. The National Trails website www.nationaltrail.co.uk 
provides information including contact details for the National Trail 
Officer. Appropriate mitigation measures should be incorporated for 
any adverse impacts. 
Biodiversity net gain 
Development provides opportunities to secure a net gain for nature 

Page 78

Agenda Item 7



as outlined in paragraphs 170 and 174 of the revised NPPF8 
(2019) and within the Defra 25 year Environment Plan. Policy ST14 
of the Joint Torridge and North Devon Local Plan also expects all 
development to provide a net gain in biodiversity. 
We advise you first to follow the mitigation hierarchy as set out in 
paragraph 175 of the NPPF and consider what existing 
environmental features on and around a site can be retained or 
enhanced before considering what new features could be 
incorporated into a development proposal. 
An evidence based approach to biodiversity net gain can help 
LPAs demonstrate compliance with their duty to have regard for 
biodiversity in the exercise of their functions9 (under Section 40 
NERC Act, 2006). Biodiversity metrics10 are available to assist 
developers and local authorities in quantifying and securing net 
gain. Local Authorities can set their own net gain thresholds but the 
Environment Bill proposes a 10% threshold. 

Open Space 
Officer 
 
Reply Received 
28 July 2020 

28/07/2020 12:05 - Having reviewed the informal application 
71660, this application is for 59 residential units (12x2bed, 
32x3bed, 15x4bed). The s106 calculations are attached. 
 
The Council's preference, in line with policy DM10 of the local plan 
is to see on-site provision, minimum standards would need to be 
met. However it does not appear that the scheme provides 
allotment, play space or built recreation facilities. We would 
therefore seek a contribution of 172,208 s106 funding to deliver 
appropriate off-site provision at a suitably located site. The 
contribution is requested in accordance with policy DM10. If the 
application is recommended for approval, we can provide details of 
specific open space schemes, in line with CIL regulations. 
 
If allotment, play space or built recreation facilities are to provided 
on-site we would ask that details could please be forwarded to us 
so that these can be reviewed and the calculation can be adjusted 
accordingly. 
 

Open Space 
Officer 
 
Reply Received 
22 October 
2020 

None of the updated documents submitted appear to relate to 
Open Space. Therefore our response dated 28/7/20 (attached) still 
remains. 

Planning Policy 
Unit 
 
Reply Received 
24 September 
2020 

Thank you for consulting the Planning Policy team concerning the 
above outline planning application. 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
requires that if regard is to be had to the development plan in the 
determination of a planning application then the determination must 
be made in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. As you are aware, the Council 
have a recently adopted Local Plan (October 2018) which was 

Page 79

Agenda Item 7



considered by the Inspector to be ‘Sound’ and in general 
conformity with the NPPF; therefore, policies in the Local Plan are 
up to date. The NPPF is a material consideration in planning 
decisions. 
 
The site is clearly outside the defined development boundary for 
Braunton & Wrafton where Policy ST07(4) will apply. In the 
Countryside, development will be limited to that which is enabled to 
meet local economic and social needs, rural building reuse and 
development which is necessarily restricted to a Countryside 
location. As the site is outside the defined development boundary it 
is also within the northern fringes of the undeveloped part of the 
coastal and estuarine zone where Policy ST09(7) will apply. 
Paragraph 4.39 of the Local Plan recognises that ‘the undeveloped 
parts of this coastal zone are a finite resource and their unspoilt 
character, appearance and tranquillity will be protected against 
development not related to the coast or not providing benefits for 
the local community’. Within the undeveloped coast, Policy 
ST09(7) requires justification as to why the development cannot 
reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast and estuary. 
New housing could and should be located outside of the 
undeveloped coast and estuary. 
 
The site is within the landscape character area 4A: Estuaries 
where the overall strategy is ‘to protect the open character and 
expansive views to and from the estuary, ensuring new 
development on its fringes is incorporated into its landscape 
setting. The cultural heritage and natural evolution of the estuary is 
conveyed through sensitive interpretation, and local communities 
are involved in planning for future landscape change as a result of 
sea level rise and changes in coastal erosion’. From a policy 
perspective, the site has a generally open rural character when 
viewed from the A361 as the housing development and Marines 
barracks at Chivenor, as well as the Business Park to the south, 
are well screened by extensive landscaping along the Tarka Trail. 
Therefore, a development of 59 houses could erode the site’s open 
landscape character, where such adverse impact could be 
considered as being contrary to Policies ST14(g) and DM08A. 
However, it is accepted the site has an extant planning permission 
for a luxury campsite and associated buildings albeit this approved 
development involves a low density, heavily landscaped, single 
storey holiday accommodation. It is also accepted the site does not 
offer expansive views to and from the estuary. Where views in to 
the site are available from the surrounding landscape, it is likely to 
be seen in the context of existing development at Chivenor. From a 
policy perspective it is finely balanced as to whether a housing 
development on this site would have an adverse impact on the 
landscape character, appearance and tranquillity of the 
undeveloped coast contrary to Policies ST09(7), ST14(g) and 
DM08A.  

Page 80

Agenda Item 7



 
Therefore, you must establish whether in the planning balance a 
development of 59 houses, including affordable housing, would 
outweigh the potential adverse impact on the estuary setting and 
undeveloped coast.  
 
Following the Burwood appeal decision in Torridge, the Councils 
recognise that they are currently unable to demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable housing land sufficient to meet their housing 
requirements; with the appeal determining there to be a 4.23 year 
supply as of 1st April 2019, based on the application of a 20% 
buffer and the use of the ‘Liverpool’ method to distribute any 
backlog of under-delivery since the beginning of the plan period in 
2011, over the remainder of the plan period up to 2031.  
 
Therefore, National planning policy (Footnote 7, National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF)) establishes that when a local planning 
authority is unable to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites, for the purposes of triggering the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, it should consider the policies 
which are most important for determining the application to be out-
of-date. Accordingly, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development (paragraph 11(d), NPPF as a material consideration), 
should be applied for decision-taking involving applications for 
housing.  
 
If there is no clear reason to refuse an application based on a 
protected area or asset, the decision taker needs to consider as a 
material consideration the NPPF’s requirement to grant permission 
unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits – the so-called tilted balance 
(Paragraph 11(d)(i), NPPF). From a policy perspective, the lack of 
a 5 YHLS is a material planning consideration and I would suggest 
you must apply significant weight in the tilted balance to a proposal 
of approximately 59 homes as I am of the opinion that it could 
make a substantial contribution to the Councils’ shortfall in 
deliverable housing sites if the proposed homes were to be 
developed within the next 5 years. 
 
The Councils currently accept that clause (2) of Policy ST21 is 
triggered on the basis that, at this point in time, it is not possible to 
demonstrate that completions are above 90% of that which was 
required for the previous monitoring year and that there would be 
an appropriate recovery demonstrated for the next two years. As 
the proposal for housing lies outside of defined settlement 
boundary for Braunton & Wrafton, the provisions of Clause (2) and 
associated criteria of Policy ST21 should be applied and 
considered.   
 
Therefore, I am of the opinion that, as the agent has submitted this 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



planning application on the lack of 5 YHLS, then they must clearly 
demonstrate how and when their client will contribute to addressing 
the shortfall to ensure delivery is undertaken in a timely manner. 
This is particularly pertinent as the application has been submitted 
in ‘Outline’ with the requirement for a subsequent Reserved 
Matters submission as opposed to a ‘Full’ application with all the 
necessary details so development can start almost immediately 
post planning permission. There is also concern that the applicant 
is not a housing developer but a land promoter so I must therefore 
question at what point in the next 5 years will this site deliver 59 
residential units? If there is a house builder associated with this site 
(subject to an option agreement) then I would wish to understand 
when ownership will be transferred to the developer and how and 
when their timings for housing delivery will contribute to the current 
shortfall in the five year supply of deliverable housing sites. Any 
timeline to demonstrate delivery must also include the need for a 
signed s106 agreement or Unilateral Undertaking (UU); how long 
will this process take? Have the HoT been agreed? I note from the 
submitted ‘Planning Statement’ to the recognition from the agent of 
the need to complete a s106 agreement but there is no mention on 
what should/will be included. I would wish to ensure that the 
completion of a s106 agreement/UU is not drawn out (by all parties 
any party) post decision. When will a RM be submitted post any 
outline approval? I would also wish to seek clarity around a clear 
housing trajectory on delivery which is suitably conditioned or 
through the s106/UU as the Inspector at the Torrington appeal 
considered that email confirmation from the developer is not good 
enough. If you are minded to support this outline planning 
application then in my opinion to help ensure the proposal is 
implemented in a timely manner, consideration should be given to 
only granting a 1 year (12 months) outline approval as supported 
by paragraph 76 of the NPPF (where this would not threaten 
viability) at the very most rather than the standard 3 years. This is 
the approach proposed for the recent resolution to approve the 
application (64000) north of the A361. Again, should you be 
minded to support this outline planning application then I will set 
out the policy requirements. 
 
Firstly, despite the fact that the site is outside of a defined 
settlement, it cannot be argued that a housing development on this 
site is not within a sustainable location with excellent access to a 
regular network of public transport to higher order settlements such 
as Barnstaple, Braunton, Bideford and Ilfracombe as well the Tarka 
Trail for walking/cycling. 
 
From a policy perspective, I would suggest that Chivenor could be 
considered as a Rural Settlement where Policy ST07(3) will apply. 
The status of Chivenor is further clarified by paragraph 4.15 which 
states ‘beyond Local Centres and Villages, the opportunity to 
achieve sustainable development is diminished by the increasing 

Page 82

Agenda Item 7



absence of services and facilities. It is however recognised that 
there is a further tier of generally small settlements, with and 
without services, which contribute to the overall sustainability of the 
rural area. Appropriately scaled and located development to meet 
locally generated housing needs will be supported in qualifying 
Rural Settlements (requiring the settlement to have at least one 
service or community facility from the following:- community/village 
hall, post office, public house, convenience shop, place of worship, 
sports playing field, primary school), as enabled by Policy DM24: 
Rural Settlements’. As Chivenor has at least one prescribed 
community facility (petrol filling station including a small shop) there 
is no contention over its current status within the settlement 
hierarchy of the Local Plan. Within a Rural Settlement, 
appropriately located development of a modest scale will be 
enabled to meet locally generated needs. In response to a FAQ 
"what is modest scale development?" it was indicated elsewhere 
previously that most development under DM24 is likely to be for 
only one or two dwellings and will rarely consist of more dwellings. 
Clearly, the scale and tenure of development proposed is 
excessively more than modest scale, contrary to Policy DM24. 
Also, it is unlikely the settlement (Chivenor) has an identified need 
for 59 local occupancy dwellings to meet a locally identified 
housing need (specified households with a local connection to 
Chivenor) as speculative development is not supported. However, 
if this site is considered to be part of Braunton/Wrafton then it could 
meet a wider than local housing need. 
 
Policy ST18(1a) of the Local Plan will expect housing 
developments over the threshold to provide on-site delivery of 
affordable housing equal to 30% of the total number of dwellings 
(gross). In this instance there should be an on-site requirement of 
at least 17 affordable dwellings with the 0.7 of a dwelling being 
collected as an off-site financial contribution. Also, you must be 
assured that the proposed housing mix will meet the identified 
housing need in accordance with Policies ST17. Page 180 of the 
HEDNA (CE21) provides guidance on the mix of bed sizes by 
tenure that would be appropriate to help meet identified housing 
needs. For information, Part (1) of the policy could be used to seek 
particular forms of housing where there is evidence of need. I have 
provided an extract from the HEDNA (Table 114: Recommended 
Housing Mix – page 214) which identifies the recommended 
housing mix across the Plan area. 
 
  1 – bed 2 – bed 3 - bed 4 - bed 
Market 5-10%  30-35% 40-45% 15-20% 
Affordable 30-35% 35-40% 20-25% 5-10% 
All Dwellings 15%  35%  35%  15% 
 
Policy ST17 seeks to deliver a balanced housing market in terms of 
dwelling numbers, type, size and tenure and should reflect 

Page 83

Agenda Item 7



identified local housing needs. I note the current scheme is 
proposing 59 residential units comprising the following: 
 
2 bed – 12 units (20% of total) 
3 bed – 32 units (54% of total) 
4 bed – 15 units (25% of total) 
 
Clearly there is a potential imbalance here with an obvious 
emphasis on delivering 3 bed units on this site. Clause (1) of policy 
ST17 provides a mechanism to influence the mix of housing on 
proposals. The HEDNA can be used for evidence of need - 
including house sizes. More localised evidence, such as housing 
needs surveys, can be used if they are available and up-to-date. 
The policy is intended to influence both market and affordable 
tenures. On smaller schemes, the mix should generally be taking 
account of local character and context, on larger schemes 
however, a more ‘proportionate mix’ should generally be the 
starting point. Page 180 of the HEDNA (CE21) provides guidance 
on the mix of bed sizes by tenure that would be appropriate to help 
meet identified needs. From a policy perspective, I would suggest 
the current proposed housing split is not reflective of local need 
and should be adjusted accordingly in accordance with the above 
table and Policy ST17.  
 
The design and layout of the development should be considered 
against Policies ST02, ST03, ST04, ST05(1), DM01, DM04 and 
DM08A of the local plan and the National Design Guide. I would 
also suggest that the proposals should be assessed independently 
by the South West Design Review Panel, funded by the developer 
prior to the submission of any detailed proposals. Such an 
approach is advocated by the NPPF (paragraph 129) and is 
considered to offer most benefit if used as early as possible in the 
evolution of the scheme. It is also worth noting that criterion 2 of 
DM04 will expect all major residential proposals such as this, to be 
supported by a Building for Life 12 assessment where the 
developer must minimise ‘amber’ scores and avoid ‘red’ scores. It 
does not appear the agent has submitted a BfL12 statement, 
contrary to Policy DM04(2). The site is adjacent the Chivenor 
Business Park which provides an important function to the northern 
Devon economy, particularly for small businesses. Paragraph 13.2 
of the Local Plan recognises that new residential development or 
sensitive uses should not be permitted within close proximity to 
potential unneighbourly uses as it may prejudice their functioning 
and cause future problems. Therefore, you must be assured that 
any new housing on this site would not prejudice the continued 
functioning of the existing business park in accordance with Policy 
DM01.  
 
As set out in paragraph 6.5 of the Local Plan, ‘all development will 
be expected to provide a net gain in biodiversity where feasible. 

Page 84

Agenda Item 7



Where biodiversity assets cannot be retained or enhanced on site, 
the Councils will support ‘biodiversity offsetting’ to deliver a net 
gain in bio-diversity off-site’. If there is some loss of existing habitat 
then this should be mitigated against by providing additional 
planting on or off site. The Defra metric should be used to ensure 
there is an overall net gain in biodiversity. As the site is within the 
Braunton Burrows SAC Zone of Influence, the applicant will be 
liable for a financial contribution towards the long term 
management and maintenance of the Special Area of 
Conservation. All issues around ecology should be considered 
against ST14 and DM08 including the response from Mark 
Saunders / Andrew Jones. 
 
Paragraph 13.68 of the adopted Local Plan clearly sets out that 
new development will be required to make provision for public open 
space, recreation, sports facilities and green infrastructure and 
where possible, such facilities should be provided on site as an 
integral part of the development. Therefore, you must ensure the 
proposal delivers green infrastructure in accordance with Policy 
DM10 and the standards as set out in Table 13.1 together with 
guidance from the consultation response of Lucinda Wheeler. 
 
Although impact of the development on the Grade I listed Church 
of St. Augustine, Heanton Punchardon is likely to be less than 
substantial, Policy DM07(1) will expect the application to be 
accompanied by a Heritage Statement to enable the impact of the 
proposal on the significance of the heritage asset and its setting to 
be properly assessed. All issues around any potential impact on 
the designated heritage asset should be considered against 
Policies ST15 and DM07 together with the response from Collette 
Hall. 
 
The eastern edge of the proposed site adjoins the access road in 
to Chivenor Business Park. Policy BRA(e) Paragraph 10.171 
recognises that the existing narrow site access in to the business 
park from the A361 requires improvements therefore, is there an 
opportunity to deliver part of these improvements through the 
delivery of this potential housing site? Alternatively, at least leave 
sufficient space along this boundary so as not to prevent 
opportunities for future improvements. The Tarka Trail runs along 
the southern boundary of the site, which provides an important 
footpath/cycle link from the development to the higher order 
settlements of Braunton and Barnstaple. However, it does not 
appear the applicant/agent has taken full advantage of this 
opportunity by not creating direct access from the linear park to this 
strategic route. This may be something that should be considered 
by creating a central link on to the Tarka Trail or alternatively a link 
at the eastern end. You must ensure that the necessary cycle / 
footpath routes are delivered and connections made between 
nearby settlements.  

Page 85

Agenda Item 7



 
Paragraph 10.174 of the Local Plan recognises that congestion 
within and around Braunton village centre has resulted in poor air 
quality and the designation of an air quality management area 
(AQMA). Therefore, you must be assured that this development will 
not exacerbate existing problems within the AQMA in accordance 
with Policy BRA(h), DM02 and the adopted ‘Air Quality’ SPD dated 
June 2020. By virtue of the site’s proximity to Braunton, it is 
considered that an Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA) is 
required. I note the application includes the submission of an AQA 
but this is dated August 2017 and pre-dates the adoption of the 
Local Plan (2018) and SPD (2020). Paragraph 4.5 of the SPD is 
clear, ‘the cumulative potential air quality impacts of developments 
is significant because many individual schemes, deemed 
insignificant in themselves, can contribute to a "creeping baseline". 
The impact of a proposed development should be assessed 
cumulatively with any other relevant commitments for major 
developments and/or other sites in the locality identified in the 
Local Plan or a Neighbourhood Plan. I am not convinced the data 
included within the submitted AQA has given due regard to the 
cumulative impact of all developments within Braunton/Wrafton. 
Also, the site falls ‘within or adjacent to an AQMA’ (see para 3.6), 
where the threshold for an Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA) 
is more than 12 homes, and almost reaches the threshold (more 
than 62 homes) for sites across the rest of the plan area. All 
highway issues should be considered against Policies ST10, BRA, 
DM02, DM05 and DM06 of the Local Plan. 
 
The delivery of necessary infrastructure to serve the development 
should be considered against Policies ST23 and BRA. Future 
construction and environmental management of the site should be 
considered against Policy DM03. 
 
As I have set out above, the acceptability of this site to deliver 
housing is finely balanced between the Council not being able to 
clearly demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites 
and the potential adverse impact on the undeveloped coast and 
estuary. Also, without further evidence from the applicant/agent 
around proposed housing delivery, I am not convinced this site will 
contribute towards the shortfall in the Councils’ 5 YHLS. 
 
I trust the above policy advice is of assistance to you but should 
you wish to discuss the matter further then please do not hesitate 
to contact me. 
 

Planning Policy 
Unit 
 
Reply Received 
24 November 

I note the content of the email and accompanying letter. Whilst I 
note the content, at the end of the day the decision will be for 
yourself to accept or ignore our policy response in terms of a 
shorter time condition but I am still of the opinion that this position 
is fully justified and supported in principle by paragraph 76 of the 

Page 86

Agenda Item 7



2020 NPPF so long as any shortened time condition would not threaten 
its deliverability or viability although I would suggest deliverability is 
very difficult to quantify without a developer on board. Again, this is 
something you may need to consider in the planning balance. 
However, both North Devon and Torridge have issued decisions for 
housing in the last few months on the back of a lack of 5 YHLS with 
shortened time conditions (eg. NDC - 64000; TDC - 
1/0246/2020/OUT and 1/0377/2020/OUT), although I accept the 
TDC examples are not comparable in scale but application 64000 
certainly is. 
 
It is clear, the sole purpose for submitting this planning application 
is to challenge the Council on its current position in terms of not 
being able to clearly demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites. Therefore, I would of expected the 
landowner/agent/developer to be in a position to help meet this 
shortfall in a timely manner and be ready to actively implement the 
permission either through an immediate RM submission or 
commencement on site. Clearly, this is not the case in this instance 
and without a developer option on the table or even confirmed 
developer interest, there is nothing in the supporting 
documentation that would give the Council any clear assurances 
that this site will help meet the shortfall in its 5 YHLS. As you are 
well aware, the Council does not have an issue in terms of lack of 
housing supply, with a 17% uplift from its overall requirement, it is 
the development industry not delivering in a timely manner. The 
issue around slow delivery is recognised in the White Paper - 
'Planning for the Future' which amongst other things will require 'a 
stronger emphasis on the faster delivery of development'. 
 
My only experience with Waddeton Park is at North Molton where 
again they challenged the Council on its 5 YHLS back in 
2013/2014. As you may be aware, this outline planning application 
(58144) was granted because of our position at the time however, 
this consent was not progressed to a RM application. It is also 
worth noting that the Council are dealing with a further outline 
planning application (66372) which has still to be determined 
despite being with the LPA since March 2019 although I accept 
that some of these delays may be with the Council's solicitor but 
again it demonstrates that this particular site is potentially not 
attractive to the market because if it were then a scheme would 
have been developed of a new outline consent granted. The 
principle concern here is whether it can be clearly established that 
Waddeton Park's track record in North Devon can be relied upon to 
secure a developer and ensure housing delivery within five years 
however, I do accept that a development proposal in this location 
between Barnstaple and Braunton, with good links to the Tarka 
Trail may be more attractive to the industry than one in North 
Molton. 
 

Page 87

Agenda Item 7



I am still of the opinion that in order to help ensure the proposal is 
implemented in a timely manner, consideration should be given to 
only granting a 1 year (12 months) outline approval as supported 
by paragraph 76 of the NPPF (where this would not threaten 
viability) rather than the standard 3 years. However, if this is 
considered too unreasonable then a maximum of two years would 
be accepted which will allow the agent to sell the site within this 
first two years from the grant of any approval, an RM application 
(including approval) by year 3 with a commencement and delivery 
on site by years 4 and 5. As I have set out above, this is the 
approach proposed for the recent resolution to approve the outline 
application (64000) for up to 94 residential units north of the A361, 
an approach which is not unreasonable and shows a clear 
commitment to the Council that development will happen in a 
timely manner.  
 
All other issues set out in my previous response still apply. 
 
I trust the above additional policy comments are of assistance to 
you but should you wish to discuss the matter further then please 
do not hesitate to contact me. 
 
24/11/2020 11:39 - Thank you for re-consulting the Planning Policy 
team concerning the additional information provided for the 
development of land at Chivenor for the erection of 59 dwellings. 
From a policy perspective, we have previously set out our position 
quite extensively in our responses dated in September and 
October therefore, I have no further comments to add but would 
wish to ensure these previous responses are still considered as the 
content of which is still relevant to the determination of this 
application. 

Planning, 
Transportation 
& Environment 
 
Reply Received 
31 July 2020 

I am contacting you in the County Council’s role as the Waste 
Planning Authority with regard to the above planning 
application. 
Paragraph 8 of the National Planning Policy for Waste and Policy 
W4 of the Devon Waste Plan requires major development 
proposals to be accompanied by a Waste Audit Statement. The 
document submitted with this application is not sufficiently detailed 
to meet the requirements of Policy W4: Waste Prevention of the 
Devon Waste Plan. 
 
Within the submitted Waste Audit Statement, the applicant has 
made an attempt to identify targets for the re-use, recycling and 
recovery for each waste type from during construction, demolition 
and excavation of the development. However the document is 
lacking in detail in its current form. 
 
The following points need to be addressed in the statement: 
· The amount of construction, demolition and excavation waste in 
tonnes. 

Page 88

Agenda Item 7



· The type of material the waste will arise from during construction, 
demolition and excavation 
· Identify targets for the re-use, recycling and recovery for each 
waste type from during construction, 
demolition and excavation of the development in more detail. 
· The method for auditing the waste produce including a monitoring 
scheme and corrective measures if failure to meet targets occurs. 
· The predicted annual amount of waste (in tonnes) that will be 
generated once the development is occupied. 
· Identify the main types of waste generated when development is 
occupied (If possible) 
· Identify measures taken to avoid waste occurring 
· Demonstrate the provisions made for the management of any 
waste generated to be in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 
· Provide detail of the waste disposal method including the name 
and location of the waste disposal site. 
 
Devon County Council has published a Waste Management and 
Infrastructure SPD that provides guidance on the production of 
Waste Audit Statements. This includes a template set out in 
Appendix B, a construction, demolition and excavation waste 
checklist (page 14) and an operational waste checklist (page 17). 
Following the guidance provided in the SPD will enable the 
applicant to produce a comprehensive waste audit statement that 
is in accordance with Policy W4: Waste Prevention of the Devon 
Waste Plan. This can be found online at: 
https://www.devon.gov.uk/planning/planning-policies/minerals-and-
waste-policy/supplementary-planningdocument 
Please do not hesitate to get in touch should you have any queries 
in relation to our comments. 

Recycling & 
Commercial 
Services 
 

No objection received. 

South West 
Water 
 
Reply Received 
23 July 2020 

I refer to the above application and would advise that South West 
Water has no objection in principle although the foul drainage 
strategy will need to be submitted for review as there are no public 
gravity sewers in the immediate area to which connection could be 
made. 
 
It should be noted that a public foul rising main (pumped & plan 
attached) attached runs along the southern boundary of the site, no 
buildings/structures/tree planting or alterations to ground cover will 
be permitted within 3 metres of this it is also unacceptable to have 
the proposed swales sited within 3m of the rising main. 
A public water main also lies within the site as shown on the 
attached and the same conditions in respect of the rising main will 
apply to the water main. 

South West 
Water 

I refer to the above and would advise that South West Water has 
no objection subject to the proposed pumping station not be 

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



 
Reply Received 
14 October 
2020 

located within 3m of the public water main and foul pumping main. 

Sustainability 
Officer 
 
Reply Received 
21 July 2020 

21/07/2020 12:53 - The submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
(PEA) provides an appropriately detailed assessment of site 
composition and the likely presence of protected habitats and 
species. The PEA concludes that the site has capacity to deliver a 
net gain for biodiversity both in terms of habitat area and linear 
features. The PEA includes appropriate mitigation and 
enhancement recommendations which should be demonstrated 
through a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) at 
any subsequent reserved matters application.  
 
The PEA identifies three hedgerows on site to be retained and 
protected as per the Tree Protection and Tree Constraints Plans.  
An appropriately detailed Construction Exclusion Zone and Artificial 
Lighting Strategy must accompany any subsequent reserved 
matters application and demonstrate that all boundary features are 
retained as recommended in the PEA.  
 
The  PEA states that 'Appendix I sets out the calculations for 
obtaining the Biodiversity Impact Score for the proposed 
development regarding both linear and non-linear (area) habitats' 
however, this is currently absent from the current PEA and a full 
working metric calculation should be submitted to substantiate the 
net gain figures presented.  
 
The PEA identifies the importance of the southern boundary as a 
bat flight corridor and stipulates that all onsite lighting should be 
strictly controlled. However further planting following the proposed 
swale corridor should also be considered to enhance the existing 
flight corridor and provide improved screening of the site in addition 
to the existing DCC managed hedgerow. The illustrative 
Masterplan indicates that the boundary is to be 'retained and 
enhanced' and any future LEMP should clearly demonstrate the 
long term management objectives to improve the habitat value of 
this boundary.  
 
The submitted LVA states that "enhancement of existing boundary 
vegetation and proposed new native tree species within the open 
space to the south, north and west would screen the development" 
and ".combined with the proposed native tree planting within the 
Linear Park will mitigate the effects of development". A LEMP will 
need to demonstrate how the proposed swale corridor and Linear 
park satisfy the requirement for appropriate screening which 
responds to the landscape character of the area.  
 
In terms of the location of the site, it is within the Zone of Influence 
(ZOI) identified through the Local Authority's Appropriate 

Page 90

Agenda Item 7



Assessment in relation to the Braunton Burrows Special Area 
Conservation (SAC) under the Habitat Regulations 2017. As such, 
any new residential development in the ZoI is considered to have 
recreational impacts on the SAC and is therefore required to pay a 
contribution of 100 per unit in order to mitigate the impacts of 
development. At present developers can either enter into a S106 
agreement or make a direct payment to the LPA under Section 111 
of the Local Government Act 1972.  
 
Based on the information provided, the application will increase 
residential capacity and is therefore likely to have an indirect 
impact on the Braunton Burrows SAC due to its proximity and the 
likelihood of recreational impacts associated with visitor impacts. 
North Devon Council must have regard for any potential impacts 
that a plan or project may have and are required to conduct a 
Habitat Regulations Assessment to determine the significance of 
these impacts on the SAC and the scope for mitigation. North 
Devon Council's Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) at the 
Joint Plan level (JLP) identified the main recreational pressure as 
coming from the Braunton, Wrafton, Chivenor area and concluded 
that there is unlikely to be an adverse effect on the integrity of the 
interest features of the SAC. However, since adoption of the JLP, 
new evidence has concluded that recreational impacts are evident 
and contributions towards strategic mitigation will be required from 
all development within an identified Zone of Influence. 
 
 
 

Sustainability 
Officer 
 
Reply Received 
29 September 
2020 

11/12/2020 
I note that the revised Illustrative Masterplan does not contain the 
same additional annotation referring to the further amendments as 
the Amended Illustrative Masterplan on page 3 of the LVA. 
 
Generally speaking I’m content that revised LVA and Amended 
Illustrative Masterplan demonstrate an improvement on previous 
versions of the scheme and will enable us to secure appropriate 
habitat and screening particularly on the northern, southern and 
western boundaries. The revised LVA does not recommend any 
additional mitigation to that already specified and now appropriately 
illustrated on the Amended Illustrative Masterplan. 
 
 I would recommend that a LEMP and detailed Defra biodiversity 
metric is secured at reserved matters. The submitted metric is 
considered out of date and does not represent the full range of 
retained and enhanced habitats . It also contains questionable 
estimates of existing and proposed habitat area and value and 
therefore should not be used to secure the reserved matters 
landscaping.  
 
 

Page 91

Agenda Item 7



17/11/2020 
Further to my consultation response dated 29/09/20 and included 
below, I would advise that the following outstanding issues are 
resolved by the applicant prior to determination of the current 
application.  
•  Provide an addendum to the LVA (2017) which must be 
considered out of date in terms of allocated development to the 
west at BRA01 and further consented development north of 
Chivenor Cross (64000). The addendum should provide 
commentary on the change in baseline character of the highway 
corridor and update the recommendations accordingly.  
• The existing LVA concludes that 'users of the public 
highway...... will experience moderate - major change where 
development will be introduced within a previously undeveloped 
site'. The existing Masterplan indicates that an unspecified area of 
planting will be delivered on the eastern extent of the northern 
boundary. The Masterplan should be revised to clearly 
demonstrate the continuation of the existing tree bank across the 
entire northern boundary to ensure improved ecological 
connectivity and to screen the impacts identified in the LVA.   
• The Masterplan should also clearly demonstrate that 
western boundary treatments are appropriate and will reflect the 
LVA recommendations to improve the quality of place and entrance 
into Braunton.  
• The Masterplan should also clearly demonstrate further 
planting following the proposed swale corridor to enhance the 
existing bat flight corridor and provide improved screening of the 
site in addition to the existing DCC managed hedgerow. 
 
29/09/2020 
 
The submitted LVA (2017) provides a consideration of effects on 
landscape character and visual amenity and contains an 
appropriate set of viewpoints from within the immediate vicinity of 
the site and surrounding landscape. While I am content with the 
methodology and concur with much of its content the LVA must 
now be considered out of date given the changes to the A361 
corridor and Tarka Trail/South West Coast Path resulting from 
allocated development to the west at BAR01 and further consented 
development north of Chivenor Cross (64000). An assessment of 
landscape character and visual impacts must assesses the 
magnitude of change resulting from the proposal in the context of 
all proposed and under construction development. The cumulative 
effects of the proposed development in addition to existing 
development sites both north and south of the A361 to the west 
have not been considered. The assessment must consider the 
cumulative adverse visual effects relating to the sequential effects 
of viewing the proposed development in combination with recently 
consented development along both the A361 and Tarka Trail 
routes.  

Page 92

Agenda Item 7



 
BAR01 was granted in spite of an identified major to moderate 
major adverse landscape and visual impact on the basis that the 
site was required to deliver high quality employment land and that 
the principle of development was only considered acceptable 
subject to the provision of substantive structural planting adjacent 
to the A361 which has only partially been delivered. Recently 
consented development to the north of the A361 will have further 
adverse landscape and visual impacts resulting in an urbanising 
effect and the erosion of the current open character of the area.  
 
The proposed site is separated from development to the west and 
currently maintains a strongly undeveloped character and 
represents the more characteristic and undeveloped nature of the 
wider estuary LCT. The current proposal would further extend an 
urban influence to the east, further eroding the undeveloped road 
corridor and currently open views across the site, while introducing 
an abrupt development edge immediately adjacent to the road 
corridor.  
 
The LVA concludes that:  
· 'the contained location of the site has been shown to have very 
limited and in most cases, no visual relationship between the site 
and the estuary edge. It is therefore reasonable to conclude that 
the effects on the wider character area would be minimal. It is also 
reasonable to conclude that the development of the site would 
have very little effect on the surrounding landscape and 
neighbouring character areas'. 
· 'users of the public highway (especially when approaching the 
roundabout at Chivenor Cross) will experience moderate - major 
change where development will be introduced within a previously 
undeveloped site. These are predominantly glanced and oblique 
views from vehicles'.  
· 'development of the site presents an opportunity to improve the 
quality of place and entrance into Braunton and Wrafton, whilst 
protecting and enhancing the important ecological features which 
contribute towards character and setting'.  
· 'opportunity for good quality architecture to improve the character 
and setting at Chivenor Cross, reducing the impact of the A361 
corridor'.  
 
The proposed mitigation, involving retaining and enhancing existing 
trees on the northern and southern boundaries, planting along the 
western boundary, and 'good architectural design' does not 
address the impacts identified in the LVA and is not adequately 
demonstrated on submitted plans. In respect of the consented 
development (56106 and 60489) the proposed residential 
development would result in further significant change from the 
existing landscape character baseline. The consented scheme 
would be set within woodland where planting would be dense, 

Page 93

Agenda Item 7



achieving full canopy coverage over much of the site and with 
additional planting on the highway land outside of the site. The 
proposed residential development would not achieve the same 
extent of landscaping and the built form would be significantly more 
at odds with the landscape character of the estuary LCT. While 
landscape effects would only relate to a small part of the Estuary 
LCT, the mitigation proposed does not justify the LVA conclusions 
of 'minimal effect'.  
 
The nature of views of the site from the adjacent A361 cannot be 
considered as ‘glanced and oblique’ as there are direct views over 
the site from the elevated position of the road. Although not 
considered a highly sensitive receptor, the road 2 has a greater 
sensitivity than would usually be afforded to an arterial route given 
the volume of tourists using the route and views along it are scenic 
in some parts. The proposed development, whilst limited to a short 
section of road immediately adjacent to the site, would have a 
substantial adverse visual impact in comparison to the existing 
view. The development would form a significant and immediately 
apparent part of the scene that would significantly affect and 
demonstrably change its character by extending an urban influence 
further east along the A361.  
 
The adjacent Tarka Trail/South West Coast Path should be 
considered as a highly sensitive receptor. In terms of the visual 
effect on users of the footpath, whilst limited to a relatively short 
section of the route, the development would have a moderate 
adverse visual impact in that the development would be likely to 
result in a visible and recognisable urbanising element within the 
overall scene that would be readily noticed by casual observers.  
 
Whilst I note the applicants stated intent to mitigate the visual effect 
through retention and enhancement of the existing tree line on the 
northern boundary, I consider it likely that the tree line will be lost 
or adversely affected by the increasing prevalence of Chalara 
dieback of Ash within the area, and that any mitigation planting 
would not be effective for many years due to the elevated position 
of the road in relation to the site. It is also probably that new 
residents would wish to maintain or establish views out of the site 
to the attractive wider countryside as opposed to having limited 
views to a dense tree line. Plans submitted in support of the current 
application do not demonstrate that the landscaping proposals 
would provide adequate mitigation in respect of the visual impact 
on users of the footpath or the A361.  
 
If on balance you were to consider the benefits of the outline 
scheme to outweigh the harm from the landscape and visual 
effects outlined above and you are minded to recommend approval 
I would suggest that additional landscape mitigation be secured on 
the northern and southern boundaries and on the highway land 

Page 94

Agenda Item 7



immediately to the north of the site. Details should be secured 
through a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) 
condition, but a revised parameters plan should clearly 
demonstrate the extent of mitigation proposed. 
 

The Biosphere 
Service 
 

No reply received.  

  
  Neighbours 
Comments No Objection Object Petition No. Signatures 
3 0.00 9 0.00 0.00 

 
Concerns raised include, including by The Campaign to Protect Rural England 
(CPRE Devon):- 
 
Insufficient infrastructure 
Highway safety 
Protected species impacts 
Insufficient justification in terms of 5hls 
Flood risk 
Access to Chivenor Business Park should be improved 
Impact on Braunton air quality 
 
Considerations 
 
Proposal Description 
This is an outline planning application for up to 59 residential units and associated 
infrastructure, to include consideration of access at this stage, all other matters 
reserved. 
 
An illustrative masterplan has been submitted to show how the site could be developed 
and the accompanying Design and Access Statement indicates a range of 2, 3 and 4 
bedroom properties with gardens and associated parking.  The DAS goes on to 
describe the height of houses as no more than 2 storeys.  The illustrative plan also 
includes associated green space, and an enhanced area for ecology. 
 
Planning Considerations Summary 
The main considerations in the determination of the application are: 

1) Principle of development  
2) Character and appearance 
3) Heritage and Archaeology  
4) Highway considerations 
5) Ecology  
6) Amenity Impacts  
7) Flood Risk and Drainage 
8) Infrastructure requirements  
9) Planning balance  

 
 

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



Planning Considerations 
 
1) Principle of development  

 
Policy Position  
In the determination of a planning application Section 38 of the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 is relevant.  It states that for the purpose of any determination to be 
made under the planning Acts, the determination is to be made in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The development 
plan for this area includes the Devon Waste Plan and North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan (NDTLP_.  The relevant Policies are detailed above. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration. 
 
The site is located in an area defined in the NDTLP as countryside which is outside of 
any defined settlement or identified settlement boundary. As such it falls to be 
considered against Policy ST07 (4) of the NDTLP copied below:  
 

‘4) In the Countryside, beyond Local Centres, Villages and Rural Settlements, 
development will be limited to that which is enabled to meet local economic 
and social needs, rural building reuse and development which is necessarily 
restricted to a Countryside location.’ 

 
Whilst the development of 59 family dwellings, with 30% affordable units would carry 
both social and economic benefits consistent with the above. Given that allocated sites 
exists undeveloped in Braunton and Wrafton, this development does not necessarily 
require a rural location and does not include building re-use and as such is contrary to 
the above policy.   
 
As such it is necessary to assess the other material considerations in relation to the 
development below:  
 
 
 
 
Five year housing land supply  
 
The Councils; being North Devon and Torridge jointly, recognise that in light of the 
Burwood appeal decision in Torrington (APP/W1145/W/19/3238460), they are currently 
unable to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing land sufficient to meet 
their housing requirements; with the appeal determining there to be a 4.23 year supply 
as of 1st April 2019, based on the application of a 20% buffer and the use of the 
‘Liverpool’ method to distribute any backlog of under-delivery since the beginning of the 
plan period in 2011, over the remainder of the plan period up to 2031. 
 
National planning policy (Footnote 7, National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)) 
establishes that when a local planning authority is unable to demonstrate a five year 
supply of deliverable housing sites, for the purposes of triggering the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, it should consider the policies which are most 
important for determining the application to be out-of-date. Accordingly, the presumption 

Page 96

Agenda Item 7



in favour of sustainable development should be applied for decision-taking involving 
applications for housing.  
 
The outcome of the appeal is considered to supersede the conclusions of the Five Year 
Housing Land Supply Position Statement for North Devon and Torridge published in 
November 2019 (North Devon and Torridge Five Year Housing Land Supply Position 
Statement; North Devon Council and Torridge District Council, 19th November 2019; 
available at: https://consult.torridge.gov.uk/file/5528729).  
 
As stated above, the starting point for decision making remains that, as per Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (PCPA 2004), planning 
applications should be determined in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. This is not affected by the application of the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development (see Paragraph 12, National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)).   

 
The NPPF is capable of being a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications (paragraph 2, NPPF) and the weight to be afforded to it is likely to be 
significant. 
 
By virtue of not being able to demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites 
(footnote 7, NPPF), there is a need to apply the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development (the ‘Presumption’) (paragraph 11(d), NPPF) as a material consideration 
in determining planning applications for housing.  

 
The lack of a 5YHLS only results in proposals for housing needing to be considered in 
accordance with the Presumption and not all applications for other forms of 
development. The lack of a 5YHLS will be a material consideration that will affect the 
weight that should be afforded to particular policies of the NDTLP; such as the 
provisions of ST06 and ST07 and in particular the application of development 
boundaries. 
 
 
 
Departure from the Local Plan and the presumption in favour of ‘Sustainable 
Development 
 
For the purposes of the Presumption, policies of the development plan are not 
considered to be automatically out-of-date by virtue of not being able to demonstrate a 
5YHLS.  

 
Whether a policy of the development plan is out-of-date is a matter for the decision 
taker, in light of their substance and considering their conformity with the NPPF. Due 
weight should be given to policies, according to their degree of consistency with the 
NPPF; the closer the policies in the plan are to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the 
weight that may be given to them (Paragraph 212, NPPF). 

 
As the NDTLP was adopted relatively recently, none of the policies are generally 
considered to be out-of-date for the application of the Presumption.  

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



The Presumption is set out in two parts; 
 

First stage of the Presumption is to check if the policies of the NPPF that protect areas 
or assets of particular importance give a clear reason to refuse the development that is 
proposed (Paragraph 11(d)(i) and Footnote 6, NPPF). This is only done by reference to 
the provisions of the NPPF and not the NDTLP.  There needs to be a clear reason to 
refuse and not simply that it affects one or more of those areas or assets.    

 
If there is no clear reason to refuse based on a protected area or asset, the decision 
taker needs to consider as a material consideration the NPPF’s requirement to grant 
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits – the so-called tilted balance (Paragraph 11(d)(i), 
NPPF).  

 
The courts have concluded that the application of the tilted balance takes into account 
both the provisions of the NPPF and development plans as relevant and when taken as 
a whole.  As such it can include the consideration of the relevant provisions of the 
development plan (NDTLP) and not only the provisions of the NPPF. The decision taker 
will however need to assess the weight to be given to development plan policies, 
including whether or not they are in substance out-of-date and if so for what reasons. 
 
The application is contrary to the Development Plan ST07 as the site lies outside the 
designated development boundary as identified in the NDTLP, however the Local 
Planning Authority therefore needs to determine whether there are material 
considerations which would override the Development Plan in permitting this 
development. In this instance, the absence of a 5YHLS would indicate that Policy ST07 
is out-of-date, only in so far as it relates to housing applications in locations which would 
otherwise be deemed as sustainable; subject to the consideration and application of the 
tilted balance against any policy conflicts identified in relation to other development plan 
policies and whether these conflicts and impacts result in both significant and 
demonstrable harm. It is noted that this site, lies a short distance from allocated site 
BRA01 which was brought forward in advance of the adoption of the NDTLP in October 
2018. The 150 approved dwellings have been constructed on site along with a small 
section of the employment development. It is also noted that the application site, whilst 
not brought forward as a site allocated in the current NDTLP, has been subject of 
assessment as part of the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment reference 
SHA/HPU/095 and it was concluded to be undevelopable for the following reasons as 
was discounted from the SHLAA supply:  
 

‘The site is poorly related to existing development and services and divorced 
from Wrafton. The proximity of housing to Chivenor industrial estate is a 
constraint.’  

 
Deliverability 
The intention to deliver the development is a matter for consideration in the context of 
Policy ST21 of the NDTLP, as the presumption in favour of sustainable development 
can only be considered to carry sufficient weight, where there is a realistic prospect of 
the development being delivered; in part or in whole, within the prescribed 5 year 
period. 
 

Page 98

Agenda Item 7



It has been put to the applicant that providing a shortened period for the submission of 
reserved matters and implementation thereof may assist with delivery with the 5 year 
period. 
 
The applicant’s consultant has set out that he is “already instructed by Waddeton Park 
to bring the land to the market to be sold as soon as planning permission in outline form 
has been obtained. The overwhelming majority of the development sites KLP sell (150 
sold transactions in the last 5 years for many thousands of homes) have outline 
permission at the point of sale and this is an attractive proposition to housebuilders.  
This particular promoter is highly professional and as part of the sales process will make 
available a pack of technical support information that many private owners do not 
usually supply.” 
 
“I would reasonably expect this land to be sold to a house builder i.e. exchanged 
contracts within 9 to 12 months following a grant of permission. 
 
An important qualification would be the timescale allowed in the outline permission. I 
gather it has been suggested that a shorter than normal period be allowed for the first 
submission of reserved matters with a restriction to as little as 12 months. Whilst 
appearing to be an incentive to make quick progress this would in fact be highly counter 
productive by virtue of damaging the marketability of land.  If a prospective buyer 
becomes concerned that insufficient time exists for them to purchase a site and prepare 
and submit a reserved matters application then they will not be prepared to acquire the 
site and the permission would expire unimplemented and need to be replaced. I would 
expect the majority of prospective developers (and their legal advisers) to become 
concerned as soon as 6 months or less remained on the permission following exchange 
of contracts for fear that either the reserved matters application could not be prepared in 
time or that they would be limited to just one submission before being timed out with no 
option for a further attempt in the event the first ran into difficulties. For this reason and 
to help ensure the speedy delivery of development the outline consent should have the 
normal 3-year period for submission of reserved matters. In my experience such a 
condition has never led to a landowner or Promoter delaying bringing the site to market 
and I know that would not be the case here.” 
 
The advisor has gone on to state “Putting this timeline together then you might expect 9 
to 12 months from grant of permission to land sale to a housebuilder and say 3 months 
to submit reserved matters, 6 months for those to be approved and a further 3 months 
to get on site and see development start. This gives a period of perhaps 2 years from 
grant of outline planning permission to physical development on site. I would say that 
anyone who understands this process would say that 2 years would be considered very 
quick. Indeed if a site could deliver house completions sooner than this it would almost 
certainly be already in the councils 5 year housing supply calculation.” 
 
This application for outline permission is being presented to the Planning Committee in 
January 2021, and where the recommendation is agreed, the Section 106 agreement is 
being prepared which should be completed swiftly given the applicants commitments.  
The applicant has not agreed to accept a significantly shortened timeframe of 12 
months (normally 3 years), as accepted on a nearby site, for the submission of a 
reserved matters application from the date a decision is issued.  Keeping any 
permission to 3 years does reduce the possibility of a site being delivered in 5 years.  

Page 99

Agenda Item 7



Striking a compromise at two years would still leave a sufficient period for development 
to be delivered on the site within a 5 year period, including land acquisition, and thus 
contributing to the deficit identified in 5 year housing land supply with an additional 59 
units.  The use of this restrictive commencement date would show a commitment to 
delivery of housing and as such is considered to meet the objectives in Policy ST21 of 
the NDTLP and provides significant weight in the above overall argument.   
 
Summary  
In light of the above, given the proposal is a departure from the adopted development 
plan, with an absence of 5 year housing land supply as a material consideration of 
significant weight, an assessment of the proposal in relation to Section 38(6) of the 
PCPA2004 and the Presumption will be combined, drawing together into a combined 
Planning Balance conclusion at section 9 of this report. The subsequent sections of the 
report will seek to demonstrate the following:  
 

a) whether the proposal is in accordance or conflict with specific policies and 
provisions of the development plan; 

b) if necessary, whether there are material considerations (including the 
Presumption) that mean that a decision should deviate from the specific policies 
and provisions of the development plan; 

c) how the proposal fairs against the two elements of the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development; and 

d) therefore whether it should be approved or refused. 
 
 

2) Character and appearance 
Landscape  
The land on the south side of the A361 in this location is described as Eastuaries 
(Landscape Character Type (LCT) 4A) and is described as having the following defining 
qualities and key characteristics: 

 Open feeling and expansive views 
 Unique flora and fauna, particularly important for overwintering birds.  
 Opportunities for waterfront access and recreation (including cycle paths) 
  Evidence of historic quays. 
 Tree cover limited to overgrown hedges and areas of scrub within fringing 

farmland, with small blocks of broadleaved and ancient woodlands 
overlooking the tidal reaches of the Taw and Torridge rivers. 

 Strong sensory characteristics: colour and texture of habitats; smell of 
mudflats and the sea; birdsong and calls; sight of sunlight reflecting off 
water.” 

  
The site is also located in an area defined as undeveloped coast as defined in Policy 
ST09 of the NDTLP, whereby new development will be supported ‘where it does not 
detract from the unspoilt character, appearance and tranquillity of the area, nor the 
undeveloped character of the Heritage Coasts, and it is required because it cannot 
reasonably be located outside the Undeveloped Coast and estuary’. 
 
The Sustainability Officer set out in September 2020 that “the submitted LVA (2017) 
provides a consideration of effects on landscape character and visual amenity and 
contains an appropriate set of viewpoints from within the immediate vicinity of the site 

Page 100

Agenda Item 7



and surrounding landscape. While I am content with the methodology and concur with 
much of its content the LVA must now be considered out of date given the changes to 
the A361 corridor and Tarka Trail/South West Coast Path resulting from allocated 
development to the west at BAR01 and further consented development north of 
Chivenor Cross (64000). An assessment of landscape character and visual impacts 
must assesses the magnitude of change resulting from the proposal in the context of all 
proposed and under construction development. The cumulative effects of the proposed 
development in addition to existing development sites both north and south of the A361 
to the west have not been considered. The assessment must consider the cumulative 
adverse visual effects relating to the sequential effects of viewing the proposed 
development in combination with recently consented development along both the A361 
and Tarka Trail routes.  
 
BAR01 was granted in spite of an identified major to moderate major adverse landscape 
and visual impact on the basis that the site was required to deliver high quality 
employment land and that the principle of development was only considered acceptable 
subject to the provision of substantive structural planting adjacent to the A361 which 
has only partially been delivered. Recently consented development to the north of the 
A361 will have further adverse landscape and visual impacts resulting in an urbanising 
effect and the erosion of the current open character of the area.  
 
The proposed site is separated from development to the west and currently maintains a 
strongly undeveloped character and represents the more characteristic and 
undeveloped nature of the wider estuary LCT. The current proposal would further 
extend an urban influence to the east, further eroding the undeveloped road corridor 
and currently open views across the site, while introducing an abrupt development edge 
immediately adjacent to the road corridor.  
 
The LVA concludes that:  

 'the contained location of the site has been shown to have very limited and in 
most cases, no visual relationship between the site and the estuary edge. It is 
therefore reasonable to conclude that the effects on the wider character area 
would be minimal. It is also reasonable to conclude that the development of the 
site would have very little effect on the surrounding landscape and neighbouring 
character areas'. 

 'users of the public highway (especially when approaching the roundabout at 
Chivenor Cross) will experience moderate - major change where development 
will be introduced within a previously undeveloped site. These are predominantly 
glanced and oblique views from vehicles'.  

 'development of the site presents an opportunity to improve the quality of place 
and entrance into Braunton and Wrafton, whilst protecting and enhancing the 
important ecological features which contribute towards character and setting'.  

 'opportunity for good quality architecture to improve the character and setting at 
Chivenor Cross, reducing the impact of the A361 corridor'.  

 
The proposed mitigation, involving retaining and enhancing existing trees on the 
northern and southern boundaries, planting along the western boundary, and 'good 
architectural design' does not address the impacts identified in the LVA and is not 
adequately demonstrated on submitted plans. In respect of the consented development 
(56106 and 60489) the proposed residential development would result in further 

Page 101

Agenda Item 7



significant change from the existing landscape character baseline. The consented 
scheme would be set within woodland where planting would be dense, achieving full 
canopy coverage over much of the site and with additional planting on the highway land 
outside of the site. The proposed residential development would not achieve the same 
extent of landscaping and the built form would be significantly more at odds with the 
landscape character of the estuary LCT. While landscape effects would only relate to a 
small part of the Estuary LCT, the mitigation proposed does not justify the LVA 
conclusions of 'minimal effect'.  
 
The nature of views of the site from the adjacent A361 cannot be considered as 
‘glanced and oblique’ as there are direct views over the site from the elevated position 
of the road. Although not considered a highly sensitive receptor, the road has a greater 
sensitivity than would usually be afforded to an arterial route given the volume of 
tourists using the route and views along it are scenic in some parts. The proposed 
development, whilst limited to a short section of road immediately adjacent to the site, 
would have a substantial adverse visual impact in comparison to the existing view. The 
development would form a significant and immediately apparent part of the scene that 
would significantly affect and demonstrably change its character by extending an urban 
influence further east along the A361.  
 
The adjacent Tarka Trail/South West Coast Path should be considered as a highly 
sensitive receptor. In terms of the visual effect on users of the footpath, whilst limited to 
a relatively short section of the route, the development would have a moderate adverse 
visual impact in that the development would be likely to result in a visible and 
recognisable urbanising element within the overall scene that would be readily noticed 
by casual observers.  
 
Whilst I note the applicants stated intent to mitigate the visual effect through retention 
and enhancement of the existing tree line on the northern boundary, I consider it likely 
that the tree line will be lost or adversely affected by the increasing prevalence of 
Chalara dieback of Ash within the area, and that any mitigation planting would not be 
effective for many years due to the elevated position of the road in relation to the site. It 
is also probably that new residents would wish to maintain or establish views out of the 
site to the attractive wider countryside as opposed to having limited views to a dense 
tree line. Plans submitted in support of the current application do not demonstrate that 
the landscaping proposals would provide adequate mitigation in respect of the visual 
impact on users of the footpath or the A361.  
 
If on balance you were to consider the benefits of the outline scheme to outweigh the 
harm from the landscape and visual effects outlined above and you are minded to 
recommend approval I would suggest that additional landscape mitigation be secured 
on the northern and southern boundaries and on the highway land immediately to the 
north of the site. Details should be secured through a Landscape and Ecological 
Management Plan (LEMP) condition, but a revised parameters plan should clearly 
demonstrate the extent of mitigation proposed.” 
 
The Sustainability Officer subsequently suggested that the following outstanding issues 
be resolved by the applicant prior to determination of the current application. 
 

Page 102

Agenda Item 7



• Provide an addendum to the LVA (2017) which must be considered out of date in 
terms of allocated development to the west at BRA01 and further consented 
development north of Chivenor Cross (64000). The addendum should provide 
commentary on the change in baseline character of the highway corridor and 
update the recommendations accordingly.  

 
• The existing LVA concludes that 'users of the public highway...... will experience 

moderate - major change where development will be introduced within a 
previously undeveloped site'. The existing Masterplan indicates that an 
unspecified area of planting will be delivered on the eastern extent of the 
northern boundary. The Masterplan should be revised to clearly demonstrate the 
continuation of the existing tree bank across the entire northern boundary to 
ensure improved ecological connectivity and to screen the impacts identified in 
the LVA.   

 
• The Masterplan should also clearly demonstrate that western boundary 

treatments are appropriate and will reflect the LVA recommendations to improve 
the quality of place and entrance into Braunton.  

 
• The Masterplan should also clearly demonstrate further planting following the 

proposed swale corridor to enhance the existing bat flight corridor and provide 
improved screening of the site in addition to the existing DCC managed 
hedgerow. 

 
The applicant has subsequently submitted revised details to address the foregoing and 
the Sustainability Officer has concluded that:- 
 
“Generally speaking I am content that revised LVA and Amended Illustrative Masterplan 
demonstrate an improvement on previous versions of the scheme and will enable us to 
secure appropriate habitat and screening particularly on the northern, southern and 
western boundaries. The revised LVA does not recommend any additional mitigation to 
that already specified and now appropriately illustrated on the Amended Illustrative 
Masterplan. 
 
I would recommend that a LEMP and detailed Defra biodiversity metric is secured at 
reserved matters. The submitted metric is considered out of date and does not 
represent the full range of retained and enhanced habitats . It also contains 
questionable estimates of existing and proposed habitat area and value and therefore 
should not be used to secure the reserved matters landscaping.” 
 
Landscape Conclusion 
It is identified above, that the proposal will result in changes to landscape character 
which require consideration in the context of Policies ST09, ST14 and DM08A of the 
NDTLP.  These require development to conserve/preserve and enhance the local 
distinctiveness and landscape qualities of the area.  It is considered from the 
assessment by the Sustainability Officer in the context of existing developments and the 
LVIA conclusions on the submission documents, that the degree of landscape harm 
ranges from moderate to substantial whether viewed from the A361 or the Tarka Trail.  
Limited longer distance impacts are not highlighted due to the lower level of the site, 
screening and nearby built form.  

Page 103

Agenda Item 7



 
As such, the above clearly conflicts with policy objectives to conserve or preserve and 
enhance landscape character, matters which will therefore need to be weighed in the 
planning balance, in relation to other material consideration at Section 9 in reaching the 
recommendation.  Of course it must be noted that the site is in the undeveloped coast 
as defined in Policy ST09 of the NDTLP and is partially seen in the context of other built 
form.  As such, moderate weight is afforded to the identified harm arising from the 
proposals. 
 
Design  
In terms of general design and layout issues, the application is made in outline with 
matters of scale, appearance, landscaping and layout saved for consideration at 
reserved matters stage. Some consideration of layout has been necessary in relation to 
habitat provision and landscape impact, however at this stage, it is not possible to 
consider the final form of development. An indicative masterplan has been considered, 
albeit in the event approval is recommended, this plan would not form a detailed basis 
for guiding building design or layout of the reserved matters.  
 
The application has attracted comments from the Designing out Crime Officer which 
based upon the indicative plans and crime statement provides guidance for the detailed 
design stage, which the applicant will be required to observe when devising a detailed 
design and layout for the site and support the rational in the Design and Access 
Statement and additional Crime Statement at reserved matters stage.  
 
Furthermore, Policy DM04 (2) of the NDTLP states: ‘All major residential proposals will 
be expected to be supported by a Building for Life 12 (BfL12)(117)(or successor) 
assessment. High quality design should be demonstrated through the minimisation of 
"amber" and the avoidance of "red" scores.’ 
 
A detailed BfL12 assessment has not been supplied as part of the application and it is 
acknowledged it can be difficult to assess a scheme purely based upon an outline 
scheme and indicative layout.  Albeit the applicant has advised that the layout employs 
best practice in urban design by having regard to Building for Life 12 criteria. The LPA 
can see no clear reason at this stage why any red scores should be attracted and it will 
be key for this assessment to be at reserved matters stage in order to ensure that the 
highest number of green scores can be achieved to comply with the above policy and 
provide the highest quality development. 

 
3) Heritage and Archaeology  
Section 16 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act states that in 
considering whether to grant listed building consent for any works the Local Planning 
Authority shall have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 
setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 
The same duty is repeated relating to planning permissions affecting listed buildings at 
Section 66 of the Act and applies to all decisions concerning listed buildings.  
Considerable importance and weight’ needs to be applied to this duty when carrying out 
the balancing exercise, notwithstanding the NPPF. 
 
A designated heritage asset can be a listed building (including curtilage listed building), 
Conservation Area, Registered Park or Garden or Scheduled Ancient Monument. 

Page 104

Agenda Item 7



 
A sustainable development principle of the NPPF at paragraph 8 is to –‘contribute to 
protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment’.  Local planning 
authorities have specific duties to make informed planning decisions on how 
development impacts on Heritage Assets and their settings.  
 
The Act enshrines a strong presumption against harm to the significance of a heritage 
asset. If harm is likely to be caused by a proposal, paragraphs 193-196 of the NPPF will 
need to be applied. Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP apply to the development 
where they require development to ‘preserve and enhance’ heritage assets and great 
weight should be afforded to such protections. 
 
A detailed Heritage Assessment was prepared as part of the application submission and 
assesses the impact of the proposed development on the significance of heritage 
assets identified in a zone of influence. This document effectively identifies heritage 
assets within a suitable locality of the site and provides an assessment of the impacts. 
Its conclusions are that the Site does not contribute significantly to the significance of 
the Heanton Conservation Area and Grade I church, and that development within it 
would not harm their heritage significance or setting, which would be preserved.  Whilst 
the assessment also concluded that there will be no harm to the significance of Heanton 
Court as a result of the proposed development, and its setting and significance will be 
preserved. 
 
Of course we need to remember that the assessment is made in relation to an outline 
consent where scale is not yet fixed and assesses the whole site identified for 
development. 
 
The Conservation Officer sets out that “there are no designated heritage assets within 
the boundary of this site, but views are available of the grade I listed Church of St 
Augustine at Heanton, from various points within the field. The tower is very high, and 
was no doubt intended to be seen and used as a landmark within the surrounding 
countryside. Because of this, its setting is comparatively large, and it can be said that 
development of the field in question would have an effect on that setting, as it obscures 
some views. This being the case, the proposal would cause a degree of less than 
substantial harm to the significance of the heritage asset, under the terms of p134 of the 
NPPF, but my view would be that the level of that harm would be very slight.” 
 
It is clear from the above replies that there is an identified impact to the setting of the 
Grade I Listed Church, which by virtue of its Grade of Listing commands greater 
consideration of its significance in relation to paragraph 193 of the NPPF. The 
comments above identify a degree of less than substantial harm to the asset and 
suggest the trigger of now relevant paragraph 196 of the NPPF, whereby this harm is 
required to be assessed in the balance against public benefits of the proposals.  
However, the level of that harm would be very slight and the detailed design and 
landscaping could be used as a mitigation technique.  
 
A conflict with Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP and duty of Section 66 of the 
above act exists in that the development is not considered to ‘preserve or enhance’ the 
setting of heritage assets, namely the context of Heanton’s St Augustine’s Church, 
however the harm identified is less than substantial and this will therefore be required to 

Page 105

Agenda Item 7



be considered in the balance with the public benefits of the scheme in section 9 of this 
report. 
 
Archaeology  
Devon County Council’s Archaeologist have not comments on the proposal and as such 
no objection to the scheme is raised with regard to this matter. As such archaeology is 
considered to have been appropriately assessed and does not raise any conflicts in 
relation to Policies ST15 and DM07 of the NDTLP or the NPPF. 
 
4) Highway considerations 
Policies ST10, DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP require development to provide safe and 
suitable access for all road uses, providing sufficient access to alternative modes of 
travel to reduce the use of the private car, to safeguard strategic routes and provide 
appropriate transport infrastructure across the area to ensure the above is achieved. 
This is further enshrined in chapter 9 of the NPPF.  
 
In terms of the movements generated from the site, the nearest sustainable centre is 
Braunton to the west however the strategic centre of Barnstaple is located east of the 
site and is therefore likely to generate the higher distribution of trips given its service 
provision. 
 
In terms of the strategic sustainability of the site, access to the site by alternative 
modes, namely bus, cycle or foot is a key aspect of the development, with the site 
directly adjacent to bus stops on the A361 which access the nearest centres on a 
frequent basis 7 days a week, and walking and cycling access to the Tarka Trail. It is 
clear that the site has good access to alternative modes which will be promoted through 
the travel plans associated with the application and localised infrastructure 
improvements, including those that can be secured through a Section 106 agreement. 
 
1) the upgrading of the existing footway to a 2.5 metre footway/cycleway along the 
western frontage of the application site to a point at the bus stop located to the south of 
the A361 and to the east of the Chivenor Cross Roundabout, including lighting, as 
necessary;  
 
2) the provision of a Toucan Crossing facility to replace the existing formal (non-
signalised) crossing facility located approximately 100 metres to the west of the centre 
point of the Chivenor Cross Roundabout on the A361; 
 
3) the upgrading of the existing footway/footpath to the south of the A361 from a point at 
the existing formal crossing facility (as referenced to 2) above), to a point in close 
proximity to the bus lay-by at the internal roundabout serving RMB Chivenor. Such 
improvement being the provision of a 2.5 metre cycleway/footway, including lighting, as 
necessary;  
 
4) Formal closure of the existing vehicular access serving the site; and 
 
5) A 2.5 metre footpath/cyclepath connection from the application site to the Tarka Trail. 
 
The following contribution requirements are identified:  
 

Page 106

Agenda Item 7



1) the requirement of a £60,000 contribution towards the upgrading of the traffic signals 
within the centre of Braunton; 
 
2) A £20,000 commuted maintenance payment for the Toucan Crossing facility; 
 
3) A £5000 Traffic Regulation Order contribution;  
 
4) £250 public transport and £50 cycle voucher per dwelling. 
 
These requirements are necessary to make the application acceptable in planning 
terms in relation to providing safe and suitable access and access to alternative modes 
consistent with Policy DM05 of the NDTLP. In terms of the CIL Regulation 123 tests, the 
above demonstrates the requirements are necessary and directly related to the planning 
application and Highway Authority objectives to maintain the A361 as a strategic route.  
 
In light of the above discussion it is considered by officers that all of the criteria of 
Policies DM05 and DM06 of the NDTLP and paragraph 108 of the NPPF has been 
satisfied by the information presented as part of the application and subsequent 
comments from the Highway Authority. Whilst the development of the scale proposed is 
likely to result in impacts on the highway network, the proposed access and 
infrastructure improvements sought and agreed the development would not have 
residual cumulative impacts, which would be severe to warrant refusal of the application 
on the basis of highway impacts. 
 
5) Ecology  
Local Planning Authorities have a statutory duty to ensure that the impact of 
development on wildlife is fully considered during the determination of a planning 
application under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Natural 
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006, The Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2017 (Habitats Regulations 2017). 

 
In respect of ecology, Policy ST14 (Enhancing Environmental Assets) of the NDTLP, 
requires quality of northern Devon’s natural environment will be protected and 
enhanced by ensuring that development contributes to:  

 
‘(a) providing a net gain in northern Devon’s biodiversity where possible, through 
positive management of an enhanced and expanded network of designated sites 
and green infrastructure, including retention and enhancement of critical 
environmental capital; 
(b) protecting the hierarchy of designated sites in accordance with their status; 
(c) conserving European protected species and the habitats on which they 
depend; (d) conserving northern Devon’s geodiversity and its best and most 
versatile agricultural land;… 
(i) conserving and enhancing the robustness of northern Devon’s ecosystems 
and the range of ecosystem services they provide;’ 
 

This is further enshrined in development management Policy DM08 (biodiversity and 
geodiversity) whereby this policy provides detailed criteria on the above consideration in 
relation to the assessment of planning applications. Paragraph 170 and 171 of the 

Page 107

Agenda Item 7



NPPF also seek the same set of objectives in respect of the above and reiterates the 
statutory duties.  

 
In consultation with Natural England and consideration of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), known as the ‘Habitat Regulations’, it 
must be assessed as to whether the project, given its scale and likely impacts, warrants 
a full Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) to be carried out.  
 
In consultation with Natural England they confirm that the development proposed is not 
likely to impact on the Taw and Torridge Estuary Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI) or MCZ. In relation to the Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) being the 
Braunton Burrows SAC and Culm Grassland SAC, the response in 2017 by Natural 
England highlighted the need for an appropriate assessment to be carried out in relation 
to the Habitat Regulations in order to ascertain whether significant effects were likely to 
result from the proposals. The LPA have commissioned a strategic assessment which 
demonstrates that new residential development of up to 10,000 non-plan led dwellings 
could occur before significant effects would be deemed to result on the Culm SAC. 
 
In terms of Braunton Burrows SAC, as North Devon Council's Habitat Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) at the Joint Plan level (JLP) identified the main recreational 
pressure as coming from the Braunton, Wrafton, Chivenor area and concluded that 
there is unlikely to be an adverse effect on the integrity of the interest features of the 
SAC. However, since adoption of the JLP, new evidence has concluded that 
recreational impacts are evident and contributions towards strategic mitigation will be 
required from all development within an identified Zone of Influence. Strategic HRA/AA, 
Strategic Impact Assessment, Visitor Surveys, Identified Zone of Influence (ZoI) and 
draft Visitor Impact Mitigation Strategy undertaken on behalf of the LPA have 
established that the site is within the established ZoI and therefore any development is 
considered likely to contribute towards an unacceptable cumulative effect of visitor 
impacts as defined in the Strategic Impact Assessment. On this basis the applicant has 
been advised that a contribution of £100 per unit will be sought towards the 
implementation of the Mitigation Strategy which will be secured through the section 106 
agreement. 
 
The Sustainability Officer considers that “the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
(PEA) provides an appropriately detailed assessment of site composition and the likely 
presence of protected habitats and species. The PEA concludes that the site has 
capacity to deliver a net gain for biodiversity both in terms of habitat area and linear 
features. The PEA includes appropriate mitigation and enhancement recommendations 
which should be demonstrated through a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan 
(LEMP) at any subsequent reserved matters application.  
 
The PEA identifies three hedgerows on site to be retained and protected as per the 
Tree Protection and Tree Constraints Plans.  An appropriately detailed Construction 
Exclusion Zone and Artificial Lighting Strategy must accompany any subsequent 
reserved matters application and demonstrate that all boundary features are retained as 
recommended in the PEA.  
 
The  PEA states that 'Appendix I sets out the calculations for obtaining the Biodiversity 
Impact Score for the proposed development regarding both linear and non-linear (area) 

Page 108

Agenda Item 7



habitats' however, this is currently absent from the current PEA and a full working metric 
calculation should be submitted to substantiate the net gain figures presented.  
 
The PEA identifies the importance of the southern boundary as a bat flight corridor and 
stipulates that all onsite lighting should be strictly controlled. However further planting 
following the proposed swale corridor should also be considered to enhance the existing 
flight corridor and provide improved screening of the site in addition to the existing DCC 
managed hedgerow. The illustrative Masterplan indicates that the boundary is to be 
'retained and enhanced' and any future LEMP should clearly demonstrate the long term 
management objectives to improve the habitat value of this boundary.  
 
The submitted LVA states that "enhancement of existing boundary vegetation and 
proposed new native tree species within the open space to the south, north and west 
would screen the development" and ".combined with the proposed native tree planting 
within the Linear Park will mitigate the effects of development". A LEMP will need to 
demonstrate how the proposed swale corridor and Linear park satisfy the requirement 
for appropriate screening which responds to the landscape character of the area.” 
 
The application has subsequently provided net gain calculations.  But these will need to 
be revisited at reserved matters stage to demonstrate an enhancement as required.  It 
is concluded that the imposition of planning conditions, if permission is granted, can 
address this matter. 
 
Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land 
Policy ST14 (d) and Paragraph 170 (b) of the NPPF recognises the natural capital 
associated with the Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land (BMV) which is land 
classed as 1-3a as defined by the glossary to the NPPF and classed by the Agricultural 
Land Classification Map South West Region produced by the Ministry for Agriculture 
Fisheries and Food (MAFF), subsequently superseded by the Department for 
Environment, Food, and Rural Affairs (DEFRA).  
 
The applicant has commissioned a site specific Agricultural Land Classification Report.  
This confirms that the site is considered to be Grade 3b and hence does not constitute 
best and most versatile land in accordance with the definition at Annex 2 of the 
Framework (2019).  The report finally concludes that it will be difficult to manage and 
crop the field other than to a crop capable of being grown on the lesser grade 3b. 
 
The site has not been of high agricultural productivity, the field is in grass and been so 
for many years.  Having regard to the identified land Grade (3b) in terms of the role of 
the LPA no loss of BMV agricultural land in the context of paragraph 170 of the NPPF 
and Policy ST14 of the NPPF is identified and as such no objection is raised in this 
regard. 
 
6) Amenity Impacts  
NDTLP Policy DM01 requires that development should secure or maintain amenity 
appropriate to the locality with special regard to the likely impact on neighbours, the 
operation of neighbouring uses, future occupiers, visitors on the site and any local 
services. Furthermore Policy DM02 requires development to safeguard against hazards, 
and pollution. 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 7



Noise 
The application submission is supplied with an Environmental Noise Impact 
Assessment which assesses the location of the development in relation to noise 
generating existing uses.  The report has been reviewed by the Council’s Environmental 
Health Officer and its conclusions are agreed in that occupiers of the development 
would experience appropriate amenity levels without further mitigation based on the 
outline proposals. 
 
In terms of the impacts of noise arising from the developments construction phases, 
given the background noise levels and the restrictions available through a Construction 
and Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), and limiting construction hours  through 
planning conditions, the amenity of the nearest neighbouring residential dwellings would 
be appropriately maintained. As such this would comply with Policies DM01 and DM02 
of the NDTLP. 
 
Air Quality 
It is acknowledged that the centre of Braunton is identified as an Air Quality 
Management Area, however the location of the site is outside of this. The application 
was accompanied by an Air Quality Impact Assessment.  The report concludes that the 
air quality impacts generated by the development, would not result in detriment to air 
quality, construction impacts could also be mitigated further by a CEMP condition.  
These findings are agreed with the Council’s Environmental Health Officer and are 
considered to meet the requirements of Policies DM01 and DM02 of the NDTLP and the 
requirements of the Air Quality SPD.   
 
Land contamination 
The Environmental Health Officer comments on this matter confirming they have no 
objections subject to both pre-commencement conditions and a reactive condition to 
deal with any contamination being imposed, if permission is granted. Subject to this 
condition the requirement of policy DM02 of the NDTLP are satisfied.  
 
Residential amenity  
In terms of neighbouring residential amenity, such as the ability for dwellings to be 
delivered on site whilst preventing any overlooking, overbearing or loss of light to the 
nearest neighbours.  Given the separation distances involved, it is considered that 
dwellings can be delivered on this site whilst maintaining appropriate amenity to existing 
dwellings in the area, therefore in compliance with Policy DM01 and DM04 of the 
NDTLP. 
 
7) Flood Risk and Drainage 
NDTLP Policy ST03 requires that development takes account of climate change to 
minimise flood risk. Policy DM04 requires development to 'provide effective water 
management including Sustainable Drainage Systems, water efficiency measures and 
the reuse of rain water'. 
 
The proposed development would include connection to the existing foul sewer and the 
provision of a series of SUDs measure throughout the site, as shown on the indicative 
plans.  

 

Page 110

Agenda Item 7



A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy has also been submitted in support of 
the planning application which notes that the proposed development and accesses 
would all be located in Flood Zone 1.   

 
The County Council's Flood Risk Management Officer has been consulted on the 
application and raised an initial objection concerns because the applicant has not 
submitted sufficient information in order to demonstrate that all aspects of the surface 
water drainage management plan have been considered. 
 
Subsequent further information has been submitted to demonstrate that, whilst a 
detailed layout has not yet been fixed, that the site is capable of dealing with the surface 
water generated on the site. 
 
In light of the above, the LLFA have no objection to the outline scheme.  A detailed 
design can be secured by reserved matters by a planning condition.  As such the 
scheme would comply with Policies ST03 and DM04 of the NDTLP and climate change 
objectives of the NPPF. 
 
 
8) Infrastructure requirements  
 
Open Space 
In order to comply with Policy DM04 and DM10 of the NDTLP, open space provision on 
and off-site must be secured at outline stage via a section 106 agreement. 
 
Provision of at least 0.2ha of POS on site or in combination with financial contribution. 
 
(212 sq.m. allotment space 
198 sq.m. play space (although policy states minimum provision if provided on site 
should be 400 sq.m.) with equipment, safety surfacing, fence, bin, bench. 
1837 sq.m. parks, sport and recreation (this is built rec – changing rooms, sports 
pitches, pavilions, community buildings, MUGA, landscaped gardens, formal accessible 
footpaths through open space (not roadside)). 
 
£172,208 pro-rata if some provision made on site. 
 
Highway Improvements 
As identified above, the Highway Authority will seek through the Section 106 agreement 
and Highways agreements the following infrastructure improvements:  
 
1) the upgrading of the existing footway to a 2.5 metre footway/cycleway along the 
western frontage of the application site to a point at the bus stop located to the south of 
the A361 and to the east of the Chivenor Cross Roundabout, including lighting, as 
necessary;  
 
2) the provision of a Toucan Crossing facility to replace the existing formal (non-
signalised) crossing facility located approximately 100 metres to the west of the centre 
point of the Chivenor Cross Roundabout on the A361; 
 

Page 111

Agenda Item 7



3) the upgrading of the existing footway/footpath to the south of the A361 from a point at 
the existing formal crossing facility (as referenced to 2) above), to a point in close 
proximity to the bus lay-by at the internal roundabout serving RMB Chivenor. Such 
improvement being the provision of a 2.5 metre cycleway/footway, including lighting, as 
necessary;  
 
4) A 2.5 metre footpath/cyclepath connection from the application site to the Tarka Trail. 
 
The following contribution requirements are identified:  
 
1) The requirement of a £60,000 contribution towards the upgrading of the traffic signals 
within the centre of Braunton; 
 
2) A £20,000 commuted maintenance payment for the Toucan Crossing facility; 
 
3) A £5000 Traffic Regulation Order contribution;  
 
4) £250 public transport and £50 cycle voucher per dwelling  
 
Education Contributions 
Appropriate infrastructure in accordance with Policy ST23 of the NDTLP is required 
which includes contributions towards education facilities and capacity.  
 
Primary education contribution of £75,135 (= per unit cost of £1,273.47, chargeable on 
2+bed units only), secondary contribution of £199,240 (= per unit cost of £3,376.94, 
chargeable on 2+bed units only), plus legal cost of £500. 
 
Affordable Housing  
The scheme is required to deliver 30% affordable housing in order to accord with Policy 
ST18 of the NDTLP. Earlier Housing replies treated the site as an exceptions site where 
100% AH was required however given the outcome of the Burwood Appeal and 5YHLS 
position, compliance with ST18 is required. This will need to be comprised of a tenure 
split of  75% social rent and the balance as shared ownership/discounted sale, and be 
pepper potted across the site and will in the first instance provide for locally identified 
need with as cascade approach in accordance with good, inclusive design principles 
require by the NDTLP and NPPF.  
 
Special Area of Conservation Contribution 
A sum of up to £5900 would be payable via Section 106 towards to mitigation of 
recreational impact identified to the Braunton Burrow SAC as a result of the appropriate 
assessment and mitigation strategies commissioned by the LPA in communication with 
Natural England. 
 
Management Company 
Management company for management/ maintenance of surface/foul water system and 
Public Open Space 
 
 
 
 

Page 112

Agenda Item 7



9)  Planning balance  
 
In summary, the Council has an undisputed lack of a 5 year housing land supply. 
Footnote 7 of the NPPF establishes that when a local planning authority is unable to 
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites, for the purposes of 
triggering the presumption in favour of sustainable development, it should consider the 
policies which are most important for determining the application to be out-of-date.  
Accordingly, the presumption in favour of sustainable development should be applied 
for decision-taking involving applications for housing.  The lack of housing supply is a 
significant matter in favour of the proposal and carries substantial weight. 

Landscape impacts are considered to be localised, reducing in magnitude at a wider 
context and with very limited impact on any designated landscape.  It is considered that 
with appropriate landscaping secured at the reserved matters stage the impacts will 
reduce throughout the lifetime of the development.  This issue is therefore afforded 
moderate negative weight.  
 
In highway terms the development would result in additional pressures to the highway 
network which can be mitigated through contributions towards upgrading the highway 
network.  The design and location of the access proposed is considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
The ecological impacts from development can be mitigated through appropriate 
construction management, and monitoring along with green infrastructure provision on 
and off site.  
 
The amenities of local residents can be appropriately safeguarded through the detailed 
design process and conditions imposed in relation to noise, land contamination and 
construction measures. 
 
The site can appropriately deal with surface water run-off in accordance with DCC Flood 
Risk advice and national requirements. 
 
The site would result in less than substantial harm of heritage assets in the locality 
identified as sharing their setting with the site.  Albeit considerable importance and 
weight is afforded to this matter in terms of the Duty, albeit the level of that harm would 
be very slight 
 
Turning to the NPPF and the 3 dimensions of sustainability, and this the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development;  
 
The economic benefits of the proposal would be strong, including the creation of jobs, 
the addition of spending power to the local economy and the new homes bonus. 
 
Social benefits would include meeting general housing needs and affordable housing 
needs. 
 
Environmentally the impact of development would be moderate in landscape terms and 
slight in heritage terms, however mitigation exists which would reduce these impacts 
over time and beyond a local context, but not negate them entirely.  

Page 113

Agenda Item 7



 
The location of the site and contributions for alternative transport modes offers the 
potential for reductions in car use, which would be an environmental benefit.  
 
As such considered as a whole, with the significant weight attributed to the Council’s 
absence of a 5 year housing land supply, the site is sustainable in NPPF terms, and that 
the provisions of paragraph 11 of the NPPF are engaged.  Paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF 
is clear that planning permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the 
policies in the NPPF as a whole.  Given the above discussion it is considered, on 
balance, that there would not be significant and demonstrable harm in landscape and 
heritage terms, which would outweigh the substantial benefits attributed from the 
provision of much needed housing, including an element of affordable housing on an 
otherwise sustainable site.  As such with the imposition of appropriate conditions and 
S106 obligations the balance is considered to be, on balance in this instance, to fall in 
favour of the proposal. 
 
HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998  
 
The provisions of the Human Rights Act and principles contained in the Convention on 
Human Rights have been taken into account in reaching the recommendation contained 
in this report.  The articles/protocols identified below were considered of particular 
relevance: 
 
 Article 8 – Right to Respect for Private and Family Life 
 THE FIRST PROTOCOL – Article 1: Protection of Property 
 
Recommendation 
Approved with planning conditions subject to a Legal Agreement being entered in to 
which secures the Infrastructure requirements set out in Section 8 above. 
 
Conditions  
1. Application for the approval of reserved matters shall be made to the Local 

Planning Authority before the expiration of two years from the date of this 
permission. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the 
expiration of one year from the date of this permission or before the expiration 
of one year from the date of approval of the last reserved matters to be 
approved whichever is the later.  

  
 Reason:  
 To ensure that the development, which has been considered in light of the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11 (d) of the 
National Planning Policy Framework) delivers housing within an appropriate 
timeframe to meet the shortfall in housing identified in the Local Plan area.  

  
 
2. The development of each phase for which permission is hereby granted shall 

not be begun before detailed plans thereof showing the appearance, 
landscaping, layout, and scale of the development on the site (hereinafter 
referred to as 'reserved matters') have been submitted to and approved in 

Page 114

Agenda Item 7



writing by the local planning authority. The development shall be carried out as 
approved. 

  
 Reason: 
 The application was made for outline planning permission and is granted to 

comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and Part 3, Article 6 (b) of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Development Procedure) Order 2015. 

  
 
3. As part of the first reserved matters application a detailed phasing plan for the 

whole site shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in 
writing. The phasing plan shall include details of: 

 a) intended number of market and affordable dwellings for each phase; and, 
 b) general locations and phasing of key infrastructure including, surface water 

drainage, green infrastructure, community facilities and access for pedestrians, 
cyclist, buses and vehicles. 

 c) Chronological timing of delivery of dwellings in any given phase. 
  
 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved phasing 

plan.  
  
 Reason: 
 To enable the development to be delivered in controlled phases and to ensure 

delivery contributes to the deficit in 5 year housing land supply to accord with 
the provisions of Paragraph 11 (d) of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans/details: 
 170120 L 01 01 Site Location Plan received on the 16/06/20 
 162762 G 01 C Prelim Access Arrangement received on the 16/06/20 
 170120 L 01 01A Location plan received on the 08/07/20 
 ('the approved plans'). 
  
 Reason: 
 To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approved 

plans in the interests of proper planning. 
 
5. No more than 59 residential dwellings (Use Class C3) shall be constructed on 

the site pursuant to this planning permission. 
  
 Reason: 
 To restrict the use of the site to that which is permitted by this planning 

permission and compatible with the surrounding area and to provide appropriate 
facilities across the development for the needs of the community. 

   
6. No development shall take place until a detailed landscape and ecological 

management plan (LEMP) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved. 
National and Local policy expects new development to contribute to a ‘net gain’ 

Page 115

Agenda Item 7



in biodiversity and the LEMP, through the use of the DEFRA metric 
2/Biodiversity Impact Assessment Calculator, shall demonstrate how the 
development proposal will contribute to a net gain. The content of the LEMP will 
address the implementation and management of all landscape and biodiversity 
avoidance, mitigation and enhancement measures of the development as set 
out within the [Design and Access and Statement / Environmental Statement / 
Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) etc.] and shall include: 

   
 (a)        Proposed finished levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking 

layouts; other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard 
surfacing materials; minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play 
equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting etc.); proposed and 
existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. drainage power, 
communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, manholes, supports etc.); 
retained historic landscape features and proposals for restoration, where 
relevant 

 (b)        Soft landscape works shall include planting plans; written specifications 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment); schedules of plants (noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities); implementation and management programme 

 (c)        A description and evaluation of landscape and ecological features to be 
created managed and ecological trends and constraints on site that might 
influence management 

 (d)      Aims and objectives of management 
 (e)        Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives 
 (f)         Prescriptions for management actions 
 (g)        Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable 

of being rolled forward over a 10- year period) 
 (h)        Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of 

plan 
 (i)         Ongoing landscape and ecological monitoring and implementation of 

any necessary remedial measures 
 (j)         Means of reporting of landscape and ecological monitoring results to 

[Natural England and the Local Planning Authority] and provisions for seeking 
written agreement to any changes to the management actions and prescriptions 
that may be necessary to ensure effective delivery of the aims and objectives of 
the LEMP over time. 

   
 The LEMP shall also include details of the mechanism(s) by which the long-

term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the 
management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out 
(where the results from monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives 
of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial action will 
be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the 
fully functioning landscape and biodiversity objectives of the scheme. The 
development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 

   
 Reason: 
 In order to protect and enhance biodiversity on the site in accordance with the 

aims of Policies ST14 and DM08A of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 

Page 116

Agenda Item 7



and paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
  
 
7. The reserved matters submission shall include details of Construction Exclusion 

Zone and an Artificial Lighting Strategy and demonstrate that all boundary 
features are retained as recommended in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal. 

  
 Reason:  
 To safeguard the appearance and character of the area and minimise impacts 

on protected species in accordance with Policies DM04 and DM08A of the 
North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

 
8. Provision and implementation of an Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) and 

Tree Protection Plan (TPP) 
  
 No works or development shall take place until a scheme for the protection of 

the retained trees and hedges [BS5837: 2005 section 7 - Arboricultural method 
statements (AMS) and the tree protection plan (TPP)] has been agreed in 
writing with the by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall be carried 
out as approved LPA. 

  
 This scheme shall include [include those that are pertinent]: 
  
 (a) a plan to a scale and level of accuracy appropriate to the proposal that 

shows the position, crown spread and Root Protection Area (RPA) in 
accordance with paragraph 5.2.2 of BS5837: 2005 of every retained tree and 
hedge on site and on neighbouring or nearby ground to the site in relation to the 
approved plans and particulars. The positions of all trees and hedges to be 
removed shall also be clearly indicated on this plan and marked with a dashed 
outline. 

 (b) a tree survey schedule in accordance with paragraph 4.2.6 of BS5837: 
2005. 

  
 (c) a tree work schedule for all the retained trees and hedges in paragraphs (a) 

and (b) above, specifying pruning and other remedial or preventative work, 
whether for physiological, hazard abatement, aesthetic or operational reasons.  
All tree works shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998: 
2010 Tree Work - Recommendations. 

  
 (d) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the 

Ground Protection Zones (section 9.3 of BS5837). 
  
 (e) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the 

Tree Protection Barriers (section 9.2 of BS5837), identified separately where 
required for different phases of construction work (e.g. demolition, construction, 
hard landscaping). The Tree Protection Barriers must be erected prior to each 
construction phase commencing and remain in place, and undamaged for the 
duration of that phase.  No works shall take place on the next phase until the 
Tree Protection Barriers are repositioned for that phase. 

  

Page 117

Agenda Item 7



 (f) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the 
Construction Exclusion Zones (section 9 of BS5837). 

  
 (g) the details and positions (shown on the plan at paragraph (a) above) of the 

underground service runs (section11.7 of BS5837).  
  
 (h) the details of any changes in levels or the position of any proposed 

excavations within 5 metres of the Root Protection Area (paragraph. 5.2.2 of 
BS5837) of any retained tree, including those on neighbouring or nearby 
ground. 

  
 (i) the details of any special engineering required to accommodate the 

protection of retained trees (section10 of BS5837), (e.g. in connection with 
foundations, bridging, water features, surfacing) 

  
 (j) the details of the working methods to be employed with the demolition of 

buildings, structures and surfacing within or adjacent to the RPAs of retained 
trees. 

  
 (k) the details of the working methods to be employed for the installation of 

drives and paths within the RPAs of retained trees in accordance with the 
principles of 'No-Dig' construction. 

  
 (l) the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to the access 

for and use of heavy, large, difficult to manoeuvre plant (including cranes and 
their loads, dredging machinery, concrete pumps, piling rigs, etc) on site. 

  
 (m)  the details of the working methods to be employed with regard to site 

logistics and storage, including an allowance for slopes, water courses and 
enclosures, with particular regard to ground compaction and phytotoxicity. 

  
 (n) the details of the method to be employed for the stationing, use and removal 

of site cabins within any RPA (paragraph 9.2.3 of BS5837). 
  
 (o) the details of tree protection measures for the hard landscaping phase 

(sections 13 and 14 of BS5837). 
  
 (p) the timing of the various phases of the works or development in the context 

of the tree protection measures. 
  
 (q) no retained tree, hedge or shrub shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, 

nor shall any retained tree or hedge, be topped or lopped other than in 
accordance with the approved plans and particulars, without the written 
approval of the local planning authority. Any topping or lopping approved shall 
be carried out in accordance with British Standard [3998 (Tree Work)] 

  
 (r) If any retained tree, or hedge is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, 

another tree or hedge shall be planted at the same place and that tree or hedge 
shall be of such size and species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be 
specified in writing by the local planning authority. 

Page 118

Agenda Item 7



  
 Reason :  
 To safeguard the appearance and character of the area in accordance with 

Policies DM04 and DM08A of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  
 
9. Where practical, top soil from the site will be stored and re-used on site in 

garden and landscape areas. 
  
 Reason: 
 To support the retention and re-use of soil in terms of sustainability and in 

accordance with the Policy DM08 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 
and paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

  
 
10. All proposed estate road, cycleways, footways, footpaths, verges, junctions, 

street lighting, sewers, drains, retaining walls, service routes, surface water 
outfall, road maintenance/vehicle overhang margins, embankments, visibility 
splays, accesses, car parking and street furniture shall be constructed and laid 
out in accordance with details to be approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing before their construction begins. For this purpose, plans and sections 
indicating, as appropriate, the design, layout, levels, gradients, materials and 
method of construction shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority as 
part of the reserved matters application. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that adequate information is available for the proper consideration of 

the detailed proposals to comply with Policies DM05 and DM06 of the North 
Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  

  
 
11. The occupation of any building in an agreed phase of the development shall not 

take place until the following works have been carried out: 
 (a) The carriageway including the vehicle turning head to serve that building 

shall have been laid out, kerbed, drained and constructed up to and including 
base course level, the ironwork set to base course level and the sewers, 
manholes and service crossings completed; 

 (b) The footways and footpaths which provide that building with a direct 
pedestrian route to an existing highway maintainable at public expense has 
been constructed up to and including base course level; 

 (c) The visibility splays have been laid out to their final level; 
 (d) The street lighting for the roads and footpaths applicable to (a) and (b) 

above has been erected and is operational; 
 (e) The car parking and any other vehicular access facility required for the 

building by this permission has been completed; 
 (f) The verge and service margin and vehicle crossing on the road frontage of 

the dwelling have been completed with the highway boundary properly defined; 
 (g) The street nameplates for (a) above, have been provided and erected. 
  
 Upon occupation, the carriageway, vehicle turning head, footways and 

footpaths shall be maintained free of obstruction to the free movement of 

Page 119

Agenda Item 7



vehicular traffic and pedestrians and the street lighting and nameplates 
maintained.  

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that adequate facilities are available for the traffic attracted to the site 

to comply with Policies DM05 and DM06 of the North Devon and Torridge Local 
Plan.  

  
 
12. During the construction phase no machinery shall be operated, no process shall 

be carried out and no deliveries taken at or dispatched from the site outside the 
following times: 

 a) Monday - Friday 08.00 - 18.00, 
 b) Saturday 09.00 - 13.00 
 c) nor at any time on Sunday, Bank or Public holidays. 
  
 Reason:  
 To protect the amenity of local residents in accordance with Policies DM01 and 

DM02 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan.  
  
 
13. Should any contamination of soil or groundwater not previously identified be 

discovered during development of the site, the Local Planning Authority should 
be contacted immediately. Site activities within that sub-phase or part thereof, 
should be temporarily suspended until such time as a procedure for addressing 
such contamination, within that sub-phase or part thereof, is agreed upon with 
the Local Planning Authority or other regulating bodies. 

  
 Reason: 
  To ensure that any contamination existing and exposed during the 

development is identified and remediated in accordance with Policy DM02 of 
the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 

  
 
14. Prior to the commencement of any site clearance, groundworks or construction, 

the local planning authority shall be provided with the results of a phase one 
survey for potential ground contamination. 

  
 The report shall be prepared by a suitably qualified competent person and be 

sufficient to identify any and all potential sources of ground contamination 
affecting any part of the development site. Thereafter, depending on the 
outcome of phase one, a proposal for any phase two (intrusive) survey that may 
be required shall be presented to and agreed with the planning authority. 

  
 Where remediation of any part of the site is found to be required, a remediation 

scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The scheme shall include details of any necessary quality assurance, 
verification and certification requirements in accordance with established best 

 practice. 
  

Page 120

Agenda Item 7



 The construction phase of the development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the agreed details and, where relevant, verification reports and completion 
certificates shall be submitted for the written approval of the local planning 
authority. 

  
 Reason: 
 To ensure that risks from land contamination to future users of the land and 

neighbouring land, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems are identified and, where necessary, remediated in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework.  These details are 
required at such a stage to ensure that potential contamination can be managed 
at the appropriate stage in the interests of public health and proper planning of 
the site. 

 
15. Prior to the commencement of development, including any site clearance, 

groundworks or construction within each sub-phase (save such preliminary or 
minor works that the Local Planning Authority may agree in writing), a 
Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP) to manage the impacts of 
construction during the life of the works, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt and where 
relevant, the CEMP shall include:- 

 a) measures to regulate the routing of construction traffic; 
 b) the times within which traffic can enter and leave the site; 
 c) the importation and removal of spoil and soil on site; 
 d) the removal /disposal of materials from site, including soil and vegetation; 
 e) the location and covering of stockpiles; 
 f) details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site and must 

include wheel-washing facilities 
 g) control of fugitive dust from earthworks and construction activities; dust 

suppression 
 h) a noise control plan which details hours of operation and proposed mitigation 

measures; 
 i) details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings 
 j) specified on-site parking for vehicles associated with the construction works 

and the provision made for access thereto; 
 k) a point of contact (such as a Construction Liaison Officer/site manager) and 

details of how complaints will be addressed.  
  
 The details so approved and any subsequent amendments as shall be agreed 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority shall be complied with in full and 
monitored by the applicants to ensure continuing compliance during the 
construction of the development. 

  
 Reason:  
 To minimise the impact of the works during the construction of the development 

in the interests of highway safety and the free-flow of traffic, and to safeguard 
the amenities of the area. To protect the amenity of local residents from 
potential impacts whilst site clearance, groundworks and construction is 
underway to accord with Policies DM01, DM02 and DM05 of the North Devon 
and Torridge Local Plan.  

Page 121

Agenda Item 7



  
 
16. As part of the Reserved Matters, the following information shall be submitted to 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: 
 (a) Groundwater monitoring results in line with our DCC groundwater monitoring 

policy. 
 (b) A detailed drainage design based upon the approved Flood Risk 

Assessment and the results of the information submitted in relation to (a) above 
 (c) Detailed proposals for the management of surface water and silt run-off from 

the site during construction of the development hereby permitted. 
 (d) Proposals for the adoption and maintenance of the permanent surface water 

drainage system. 
 (e) A plan indicating how exceedance flows will be safely managed at the site. 
 (f) Evidence there is agreement in principle from the landowner/DCC 

highways/SWW 
 (g) A detailed assessment of the condition and capacity of any existing surface 

water drainage system/watercourse/culvert that will be affected by the 
proposals. The assessment should identify and commit to, any repair and/or 
improvement works to secure the proper function of the surface water 

 drainage receptor. 
  
 No building hereby permitted shall be occupied until the works have been 

approved and implemented in accordance with the details under (a) - (g) above. 
  
 Reason: 
 The above conditions are required to ensure the proposed surface water 

drainage system will operate effectively and will not cause an increase in flood 
risk either on the site, adjacent land or downstream in line with SuDS for Devon 
Guidance (2017) and national policies, including NPPF and PPG. The 
conditions should be pre-commencement since it is essential that the proposed 
surface water drainage system is shown to be feasible before works begin to 
avoid redesign / unnecessary delays during construction when site layout is 
fixed. 

  
 
 
 
  
 NOTE 
 Advice from LEAD LOCAL FLOOD AUTHORITY 
  
 The applicant has proposed an alternative discharge location from the swale. 

The applicant previously proposed to discharge into the watercourse within the 
east of the site. The applicant has now shown an outfall into the ordinary 
watercourse adjacent to the Tarka Trail to the south of the site. The applicant 
will need to liaise with the relevant landowner/s to gain permission to construct 
an outfall within this watercourse (this outfall may also require Land Drainage 
Consent from Devon County Council's Flood and Coastal Risk Management 
Team). 

  

Page 122

Agenda Item 7



 If the applicant proposes to discharge to the ordinary watercourse to the east of 
the site, and the watercourse needs to be re-graded to allow this, then the 
applicant will need to submit details at the next stage of planning to confirm that 
it is appropriate to re-grade the watercourse. This would also require Land 

 Drainage Consent from Devon County Council's Flood and Coastal Risk 
Management Team. 

  
 The applicant has confirmed that groundwater shall be monitored prior to the 

detailed design of the surface water drainage system. Groundwater will need to 
be monitored prior to the next stage of planning. 

  
 If planning permission is approved for this site, then at the reserved matters 

stage, the applicant will need to submit cross-sections to demonstrate the 
formation of the permeable paving for each of the proposed permeable paving 
areas. The applicant will also need to submit cross-sections of the proposed 
swales to demonstrate the formation of the swales and side slopes of the 
swales. The swales will need to be appropriately landscaped. 

  
 The applicant has confirmed that green roofs, water butts and rain gardens will 

be assessed at the next stage of planning. The applicant may also wish to 
assess living walls and rainwater harvesting.  The applicant will need to ensure 
that all proposed outfalls are well monitored and maintained. 

 
17. As part of the reserved matters application details in relation to the potential for 

noise from the proposed foul pumping station on the occupiers of the closest 
proposed dwellings.  The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby 
approved. 

  
 Reason: 
 In the interests of residential amenity having regard to Policy DM01 of the 

adopted North Devon and Torridge Local Plan. 
   
18. The existing access shall be effectively and permanently closed in accordance 

with details which shall previously have been submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority as soon as the new access is brought into use and in 
any event prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby approved. 

  
 Reason:  
 To minimise the number of accesses on to the public highway and to provide a 

safe access to the site in accordance with Policy DM05 of the North Devon and 
Torridge Local Plan.  

 
19. As part of the first reserved matter application, a waste audit statement shall be 

submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. This statement 
shall include all information outlined in the waste audit template provided in 
Devon County Council's Waste Management and Infrastructure Supplementary 
Planning Document. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved statement. 

  

Page 123

Agenda Item 7



 Reason: 
 To minimise the amount of waste produced and promote sustainable methods 

of waste management in accordance with Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan 
and the Waste Management and Infrastructure Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

  
 
Informatives 
1. The above consent requires the submission of further details to be approved 

either before works commence or at identified phases of construction. 
  
 To discharge these requirements will mean further formal submissions to the 

Authority on the appropriate forms, which can be completed online via the 
planning Portal www.planningportal.gov.uk or downloaded from the Planning 
section of the North Devon Council website, www.northdevon.gov.uk. 

  
 A fee may be required [dependent on the type of application] for each separate 

submission [if several or all the details are submitted together only one fee will 
be payable]. 

  
 Further details on this process are available on the Planning section of the 

Council’s website or by contacting the Planning Unit at Lynton House, 
Commercial Road, Barnstaple. 

 
2. The development to which this permission relates is the subject of an 

agreement under, inter alia, Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 
3. Statement of Engagement 
 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy Framework the 

Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant and has 
negotiated amendments to the application to enable the grant of planning 
permission. This has included seeking further information.  The LPA has been 
required to apply the titled balance in regard to Paragraph 11 (d) of the National 
Planning Policy Framework and in this instance, on balance it is considered that 
the environmental harm to landscape and heritage assets is not considered to 
significant and demonstrable harm when considered in the balance with the 
Council's absence of a 5 year housing land supply.  

 
  

 
Appendix 
 
Site location plan. 
 

  
 

Page 124

Agenda Item 7



© Copyright and database right 2017 Ordnance Survey Licence No. 100021929. No unauthorised reproduction permitted.

Lynton House, Commercial Road,
Barnstaple, EX31 1EA

 71660 - Land at Chivenor Cross
Copy Supplied to
Accompany Planning
Committee Report

Scale: 1:5000
Date: February 2021Page 125

Agenda Item 7
Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning and 
Enforcement 

Appeals Report 
 

Strategic Development & Planning 
Place Services 

North Devon Council 
Lynton House, Commercial Road, 

Barnstaple, EX31 1DG 
 

 
 

  

 
REPORT TO: Planning Committee 
COMMITTEE DATE:  10th February 2021 
 
TOPIC: Planning and Enforcement Appeal Decisions received 
REPORT BY: Sue Thomas – Senior Planning Support Officer (Appeals) 
 

 
 
Please find attached copies of the Planning and Enforcement Appeal decisions received 
since those reported at the last Planning Committee Meeting. If Members wish to 
discuss any of the cases at the Planning Committee Meeting please would they email 
planningappeals@northdevon.gov.uk or telephone Sue Thomas on 01271 388296 by 
12 noon on 8th February 2021.   
 

 
 
Appendices 

A. Planning Appeal Decision re 71730 - Application for permission in principle for 
erection of dwelling and parking area – Little Ash, Chittlehampton, EX37 9QA. 
Appeal Dismissed – 11th January 2021. Appellant Application for Costs 
Dismissed – 11th January 2021 

B. Planning Enforcement Appeal Decision re 8105 – Storage of caravan and motor 
home - Land and Buildings at Trimstone Cross, West Down. Enforcement Notice 
Quashed – 28th January 2021 

C. Planning Appeal Decision re 70419 – Conversion of building to dwelling to 
include extension and recreation of driveway – Former Service Reservoir, Near  
Blackmoor Gate, Kentisbury EX31 4SJ. Appeal Dismissed - 28th January 2021. 
Appellant Application for Costs Allowed - 28th January 2021 

D. Planning Appeal Decision re 71198 – Reinstatement of one dwelling – Little 
Shortridge, Warkleigh EX37 9DD. Appeal Dismissed - 28th January 2021 

E. Planning Appeal Decision re 71476 – Conversion of water tank and land within 
its curtilage to one dwelling – Whiddon Service Reservoir, North Lane, Muddiford 
EX31 4HG 

 
  

 

Page 127

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site Visit made on 1 December 2020  
by Nick Davies  BSc(Hons) BTP MRTPI  

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 11 January 2021 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/X1118/W/20/3258772 
Little Ash, Chittlehampton, Umberleigh, Devon EX37 9QA 

  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant permission in principle. 
• The appeal is made by Mr & Mrs R Nicholls against the decision of North Devon District 

Council. 
• The application Ref 71730, dated 3 July 2020, was refused by notice dated  

10 August 2020. 
• The development proposed is residential development of one dwelling with parking and 

garden. 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Application for costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Mr & Mrs R Nicholls against North Devon 

District Council. This application is the subject of a separate Decision. 

Preliminary Matter 

3. The proposal is for permission in principle. The Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG) advises that this is an alternative way of obtaining planning permission 

for housing-led development. The permission in principle consent route has 2 

stages: the first stage (or permission in principle stage) establishes whether a 

site is suitable in-principle, and the second (or technical details consent stage) 
is when the detailed development proposals are assessed. This appeal relates 

to the first of these 2 stages. 

4. The scope of the considerations for permission in principle is limited to location, 

land use and the amount of development permitted1. All other matters are 

considered as part of a subsequent Technical Details Consent application, if 
permission in principle is granted. I have determined the appeal accordingly. 

Main Issue 

5. The main issue is whether the site is suitable for a dwelling, in principle, 

bearing in mind the settlement policies of the development plan, the 

accessibility of the site to services, and the effect of the development on the 

character and appearance of the countryside. 

 
1 PPG Paragraph: 012 Reference ID: 58-012-20180615 

Page 129

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3258772

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

6. The appeal site is a rough grass field, surrounded by hedgerows, approximately 

220 metres to the south of the village of Chittlehampton. A house called 

Blackmantle adjoins the site to the west, and another dwelling, Little Ash is 

situated some distance to the east. These two dwellings are surrounded by 
open agricultural land, which clearly separates them from the settlement. The 

appeal site therefore lies in countryside. 

7. The settlement strategy for the area is set out in the North Devon and Torridge 

Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted 2018) (the Local Plan). It directs most new 

development to northern Devon’s Sub-regional Centre, Strategic Centre and 
Main Towns. Policy ST07 addresses the spatial strategy for the rural area, 

where Local Centres will be the primary focus for development. Chittlehampton 

sits one tier lower in the hierarchy, as a Schedule B village, where development 
is enabled in accordance with the local spatial strategy. In the Countryside, 

beyond villages, development is limited to that which meets local economic and 

social needs.  

8. The local spatial strategy for Chittlehampton, set out in Policy CHI, is to deliver 

a minimum of 24 dwellings through extant planning permissions and a single 

site allocation. A development boundary for Chittlehampton is defined, outside 
of which the principle of residential development is only supported on an 

exceptional basis. The appeal site lies well outside this boundary. No 

exceptional circumstances have been identified to justify the development, and 
there is no evidence that the proposal would meet any particular local 

economic or social needs. The principle of a dwelling on the site would, 

therefore, conflict with Policies ST07 and CHI of the Local Plan. 

9. Chittlehampton accommodates a range of services, including a church, pub, 

village hall, shop/post office, and primary school. These are all situated within 
the main core of the village. A dwelling on the appeal site would be physically 

separated from the settlement, and its services, by the intervening fields. 

Occupants would have two alternative routes to access these services. 

10. The first is via a footpath that passes through a passageway under the first 

floor of Blackmantle, and across a field to arrive at the main village street, to 
the north. This route is approximately 330 metres in length. Whilst this is a 

walkable distance, the path is narrow, steep in parts, and has a rough surface. 

It would not, therefore, be suitable for pushchairs, wheelchair users or people 
with limited mobility. As the path is unlit, and crosses an open field, it would 

not be suitable for use outside daylight hours. Consequently, this route is only 

likely to be used for a limited proportion of journeys to access essential 

services.   

11. The alternative route is via the road into the village to the west. This would 
entail a walk of about 500 metres to the village hall, which is, again, a walkable 

distance. The road surface and width would be more suitable for pushchairs 

and wheelchairs, but there is no separate footpath, so pedestrians would have 

to share the carriageway with vehicles. Furthermore, there are considerable 
slopes to negotiate. These factors, together with the absence of lighting, would 

be likely to deter occupants from using sustainable travel options to obtain the 

services in the village via this route. 

Page 130

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3258772

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

12. The unsuitability of these routes for sustainable access to the village services 

means that occupants are likely to resort to private vehicles to make the 

journey into the village, or to opt to seek a wider range of services further 
afield. The appellant acknowledges that public transport to and from 

Chittlehampton is limited, and that residents are largely dependent on the 

private car for journeys beyond the village. Occupants of the dwelling would 

therefore be largely reliant on private transport to access services and facilities, 
placing the proposal in conflict with Policy ST10 of the Local Plan, which seeks 

to reduce the need to travel by car by ensuring good accessibility to services 

and community facilities.  

13. I am mindful that the Local Plan makes provision for some residential 

development in Chittlehampton. The evidence indicates that the extant 
permissions are within the development boundary, and that the allocated site 

adjoins it. Therefore, although the distance to the village centre maybe similar, 

future occupants of these dwellings would be able to access the services via 
relatively level roads, with lighting and segregated footways, so would be more 

likely to use them, and to choose sustainable transport modes to do so. 

14. Chittlehampton is a linear village, and there is a clear distinction between the 

built form of the settlement and the surrounding rolling countryside within 

which it is set. Although the evidence indicates that the appeal site has 
planning permission for domestic (equestrian) use, it has the appearance of a 

small, rough grass field. It therefore conforms with the characteristic 

patchwork of fields with hedgerow boundaries that surround the village, and 

thereby makes a positive contribution to the countryside setting of the 
settlement. Policy CHI (d) of the Local Plan seeks to retain the character of the 

village and its relationship with the countryside. 

15. This relationship is evident when approaching the village by road from the 

south. From here, Blackmantle is not visible, as it is around the bend in the 

road. Consequently, the village, including the prominent church tower, is seen 
on higher ground within an entirely rural setting. A dwelling on the appeal site 

would be in the foreground of these views, and would be an intrusive feature in 

the countryside setting of the village. Whilst the design of the dwelling could be 
controlled at Technical Details stage, it is the absence of development on the 

appeal site that makes such a positive contribution to the village setting.  

16. The importance of the surrounding countryside to the setting of the village is 

also apparent in views out of the settlement. The grounds of the village hall 

provide a vantage point from which the rolling, undeveloped landscape setting 
of the settlement can be appreciated. The distinction between the built form of 

the village and the surrounding countryside is evident from here, and plays an 

important role in the character of the settlement. Whilst Blackmantle is visible, 
the absence of development on the appeal site means that it is seen as an 

isolated rural dwelling. The proposed dwelling would result in a more 

consolidated pocket of development, which would be harmful to the landscape 

setting of the village. The proposal would, therefore, conflict with Policy CHI, 
and also with Policy ST14 of the Local Plan, which seeks to protect local 

landscape character. 

17. Therefore, when judged against policies relating to settlement pattern, 

accessibility to services, and countryside character, the location, land use and 

amount of development proposed would conflict with the development plan. As 

Page 131

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3258772

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

there are no policies in the Local Plan which positively favour development of 

this kind in this location, there would be a conflict with the development plan 

as a whole. 

Planning Balance 

18. The Council cannot currently demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 

housing sites. As a result, Paragraph 11 d) of the National Planning Policy 

Framework (the Framework) advises that permission should be granted unless 
any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a 

whole. 

19. The Framework seeks to achieve sustainable development across overarching 

economic, social and environmental objectives. The proposal would provide 
economic benefits through the creation of employment during the construction 

process, and the future spend of residents in the local economy. However, as 

the proposal is only for a single dwelling, these benefits would be limited. 

20. In terms of social benefits, the development would provide an additional 

dwelling, which would contribute towards addressing the shortfall in housing 
sites. It would also support the Framework’s objective of significantly boosting 

the supply of homes. However, the benefit of a single dwelling would not be 

substantial, and its separation from the village means it would not be located 
where it would readily enhance or maintain the vitality of the rural community. 

21. The dwelling would be alongside an existing house, and within reasonable 

distance of the village. It could not, therefore, be described as an isolated 

home in the countryside, which the Framework seeks to avoid. However, the 

nature of the routes into the village mean that occupants would not be able to 
easily access the services there by sustainable transport modes. Consequently, 

there would be a reliance on private vehicles, which would be contrary to the 

Framework’s aims to promote sustainable transport, and would fail to meet its 

environmental objective of moving to a low carbon economy. Furthermore, the 
Framework recognises the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, 

which would be harmed by the proposal. 

22. The benefits of the development are limited. Consequently, when assessed 

against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole, they are significantly 

and demonstrably outweighed by the harm to the settlement strategy, the 
increased reliance on private transport, and the adverse impact on the 

character of the countryside setting of Chittlehampton. As a result, the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply. 

Conclusion 

23. The proposal would conflict with the development plan as a whole, and there 

are no other considerations, including the provisions of the Framework, which 
outweigh this finding. Therefore, for the reasons given above, I conclude that 

the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Nick Davies   

INSPECTOR 

Page 132

Agenda Item 8
Appendix A

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Costs Decision 
Site visit made on 1 December 2020 

by Nick Davies  BSc(Hons) BTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 11 January 2021 

 

Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/X1118/W/20/3258772 

Little Ash, Chittlehampton, Umberleigh, Devon EX37 9QA 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 
322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Mr & Mrs R Nicholls for a full award of costs against North 

Devon District Council. 
• The appeal was against the refusal of permission in principle for residential development 

of one dwelling with parking and garden. 
 

Decision 

1. The application for an award of costs is refused. 

Reasons 

2. The Planning Practice Guidance (the PPG) advises that costs may be awarded 

against a party who has behaved unreasonably, and thereby caused the party 
applying for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal 

process. 

3. The applicants contend that the Council’s stance, that the proposed dwelling 

would be isolated, was contrary to case law established in the Court of Appeal1. 

Furthermore, it is argued that the Council failed to produce objective evidence 
to support its reasons for refusal. It is also claimed that the Council sought to 

introduce a new issue at appeal regarding archaeology, which, it is argued, 

should not be a consideration at the first stage of a permission in principle 
application. 

4. The PPG indicates that local planning authorities are at risk of an award of 

costs being made against them if they act contrary to, or do not follow, well-

established case law. The Braintree case provided some clarity on the meaning 

of “isolated” in paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the 
Framework). However, when applying the principles of the case, whether a site 

for a dwelling is considered isolated or not will still be a matter of fact and 

planning judgment, depending on the particular circumstances of the case. I 

concluded that the site was not isolated, due to its location adjacent to an 
existing dwelling, and its proximity to the settlement. Nevertheless, in view of 

its separation from the built form of the village, it was not unreasonable for the 

Council to have come to a different view. 

 
1 Braintree DC v SSCLG, Greyread Ltd & Granville Developments Ltd [2017] EWHC 2743 (Admin); 
[2018] EWCA Civ 610 

Page 133

Agenda Item 8
Appendix B

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3258772 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

5. The reference to “isolated” development was contained in a wider reason for 

refusal, which also related to a conflict with the settlement policies of the 

development plan. Whilst I did not agree that the development constituted 
isolated development, as described in paragraph 79 of the Framework, the 

Council’s evidence in support of the reason for refusal, as a whole, was clear 

and compelling. I concluded that the proposal would conflict with the 

settlement policies of the development plan. 

6. The second reason for refusal stated that the inaccessibility of the site to 
services and facilities would lead to occupants relying on private transport. I 

concluded, on the evidence, that the routes from the site into the main part of 

the settlement were not conducive to sustainable transport options, so there 

would be such a reliance. I also found that the proposal would be harmful to 
the landscape setting of the village. It therefore follows that I am satisfied that 

the Council produced compelling evidence to substantiate all of its reasons for 

refusal. 

7. The PPG indicates that local planning authorities are at risk of an award of 

costs being made against them if they introduce fresh and substantial evidence 
at a late stage, necessitating extra expense. In this regard, the archaeological 

issue was not a new matter. The Council’s decision notice carried an 

Informative note advising that, although not a reason for refusal, the potential 
for archaeological remains being present on the site should be addressed if an 

appeal was lodged. 

8. The applicants did not follow the advice in the Informative note to procure an 

archaeological desk-based assessment, or a programme of intrusive 

investigation. They did not address the issue in their appeal submission, and 
only did so briefly in their final comments. Consequently, regardless of whether 

the matter needed to be addressed at the first stage of a permission in 

principle application, the Council’s actions did not lead to any additional 

expense for the applicants.  

9. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour resulting in unnecessary or 
wasted expense, as described in the PPG, has not been demonstrated. 

 

Nick Davies 

INSPECTOR 

Page 134

Agenda Item 8
Appendix B

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
 

 

by Gareth Symons BSc(Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 28 January 2021 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/X1118/C/20/3259167 

Land and buildings on the south side of Trimstone Cross, West Down, 

Ilfracombe, Devon 

• The appeal is made under section 174 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 
amended by the Planning and Compensation Act 1991. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Clint Pain against an enforcement notice issued by North 
Devon District Council. 

• The enforcement notice was issued on 20 August 2020.  
• The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is: Unauthorised change of use 

consisting of the storage of a motorhome and a caravan. 
• The requirements of the notice are: 1. Remove the motorhome stored within the 

building edged blue on the attached location plan from the land edged in red on the 
attached location plan; 2. Remove the caravan whose approximate position is edged in 
green on the attached location plan from the land; 3. Remove any rubbish and or debris 
resulting from compliance with steps 1 and 2 from the land. 

• The period for compliance with the requirements is: 3 months. 
• The appeal is proceeding on the grounds set out in section 174(2)(f) and (g) of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended.  
 

 

Decision 

1. The Enforcement Notice (EN) is quashed.  

Procedural Matter 

2. Prior to determining the appeal, I sought the views of the appellant and the 

Council about not needing to visit the appeal site.  This is because there are no 

planning merits to consider and both sides had submitted sufficient evidence 
for me to consider the points in dispute under the two grounds of appeal 

pleaded.  Although the appellant did respond raising concerns about the 

enforcement action taken in general, no objection was raised to me not 
undertaking a site visit.  The Council had no objection.  I am satisfied that 

under the circumstances I have described, and in view of my findings below, no 

prejudice has been caused by not visiting the site. 

The Notice 

3. S55(2) of the 1990 Act defines what constitutes development.  There are two 

limbs.  One of those is the making of any material change in the use of any 

buildings or other land.  The EN in this appeal alleges an unauthorised change 
of use and refers to the ten-year time limit.  Whilst it goes on to confirm that 

the change of use involves the storage of a motorhome and a caravan, the 

Page 135

Agenda Item 8
Appendix C

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/C/20/3259167 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

development alleged to have taken place in breach of planning control is clearly 

one of change of use. 

4. To cease that use the EN must have a requirement for it to cease.  It does not.  

Simply requiring the current motorhome and caravan to be removed would not 

have the effect of ceasing the use of the land.  A possible consequence of this 
could be the effect of s173(11) of the 1990 Act.  Where an EN in respect of any 

breach of planning control could have required any activity to cease, but does 

not do so and all the requirements of the EN have been complied with then, so 
far as the EN did not so require, planning permission shall be treated as having 

been granted by virtue of s73A in respect of development consisting of the 

carrying out of the activity.   

5. In this case, without a cessation of use requirement, once steps 1-3 had been 

complied with, planning permission would be treated to be granted for a 
storage use of a motorhome and a caravan on the land affected in the EN.  

That is the land outlined in red.  Given that the Council has considered it 

expedient to issue an EN to cease such an activity, I cannot envisage that such 

a situation would be acceptable.  I must therefore address this issue and 
consider whether I can add to the ENs requirements. 

6. I have the power to correct or vary an EN under s176(1) of the 1990 Act 

provided that such actions would not cause injustice to the appellant or the 

local planning authority.  In my view, adding to the ENs requirements could 

have a material bearing on the case that the appellant may have wished to put 
under the grounds of appeal pleaded, particularly ground (f).  Furthermore, 

given the consequences of seeking to cease a storage use across all the land 

and buildings I cannot rule out that the appellant may have wished to appeal 
under other grounds.  Against this background, I find that the EN is not capable 

of variation without causing injustice and so I cannot exercise my powers. 

7. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the EN lacks a key step required 

for compliance.  It is not open to me to correct the error in accordance with my 

powers under section 176(1) of the 1990 Act, since injustice would be caused 
were I to do so. The enforcement notice is invalid and will be quashed.  The 

Council could, subject to it being considered expedient to do so, issue a further 

EN under the second bite provisions of s171B(4) of the 1990 Act. 

8. In these circumstances, the appeal on the grounds set out in section 174(2)(f) 

and (g) of the 1990 Act do not fall to be considered. 

 

Gareth Symons 

INSPECTOR 

Page 136

Agenda Item 8
Appendix C

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 
 

Appeal Decision  

Site Visit made on 6 January 2021  
by Nick Davies  BSc(Hons) BTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 28 January 2021 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/X1118/W/20/3255430 

Blackmoor Gate Service Reservoir, Former services reservoir Kentisbury, 
Nr Blackmoor Gate, Devon EX31 4SJ  
• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 
• The appeal is made by Mr Damian Pope (Valandea Ltd) against the decision of North 

Devon District Council. 
• The application Ref 70419, dated 29 August 2019, was refused by notice dated  

14 January 2020. 
• The development proposed is extension of building and setting out of driveway. 

 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Application for costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Mr Damian Pope (Valandea Ltd) against 

North Devon District Council. This application is the subject of a separate 

Decision. 

Preliminary Matters 

3. Notwithstanding the description of development set out above, which is taken 

from the application form, it is clear from the plans and accompanying details, 

that the development comprises the extension and conversion of the building 
to a dwelling, including the provision of a driveway. The Council dealt with the 

proposal on this basis and so shall I. 

Main Issues 

4. The main issues are: 

a) Whether the site is suitable for a dwelling, bearing in mind the 

settlement policies of the development plan and the accessibility of 

services; 

b) The effect of the development on the character and appearance of the 

landscape; and, 

c) Whether suitable foul drainage could be provided to serve the 

development. 

Page 137

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255430

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

Reasons 

Settlement policies and accessibility of services 

5. The appeal site lies in a rural location, approximately 3 kilometres to the south 
of Parracombe and 4.75 kilometres to the north of Bratton Fleming. There is a 

recreation centre, based around converted agricultural buildings, about 375 

metres to the southwest, and two clusters of farm buildings a similar distance 

to the east and west. Apart from these buildings, the site is surrounded by 
open agricultural fields, and therefore lies in the countryside, well outside any 

settlement. 

6. The site accommodates a disused reservoir, which is approximately 7.6 metres 

squared, surrounded by scrubby vegetation. The structure is partially 

underground, with concrete block walls extending about 1½ metres above 
ground level, and it has a flat roof covered in chippings. Prior approval1 was 

granted for the change of use of the building and land within its curtilage to a 

dwelling on 29 November 20182. This approval has not been implemented, so 
there is no residential use on the site. Consequently, Policy DM25 of the North 

Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted 2018) (the Local Plan), 

which relates to extensions to residential dwellings, is not relevant to the 

proposal. 

7. As the building is a reservoir, it has no doors or windows, and is entirely 
covered by a solid roof. The approval under Class P only permits a change of 

use. The building operations that would be necessary to implement the change 

of use, such as the installation of openings, and any other work required to 

render the building habitable, would need planning permission. The proposal, 
however, goes far beyond work to convert the existing building. It comprises 

the construction of an additional storey of accommodation over the entire 

footprint of the structure. This would more than double the above ground 
height and volume of the building, so is well beyond the scope of the permitted 

change of use. Accordingly, I have considered the appeal on the basis that it is 

for the change of use and extension of the building to create a new dwelling in 
the countryside.  

8. The settlement strategy of the Local Plan directs most new development to 

northern Devon’s Sub-regional Centre, Strategic Centre and Main Towns. Policy 

ST07 addresses the spatial strategy for the rural area, where Local Centres will 

be the primary focus for development. In the countryside, beyond villages, 
development is limited to that which meets local economic and social needs, 

rural building reuse, and development which is necessarily restricted to a 

countryside location. 

9. There is no evidence to indicate that an open market dwelling in this location 

would meet any local economic and social needs. Furthermore, it has not been 
sought to demonstrate that a countryside location is required for the dwelling, 

for example, to meet the needs of an agricultural business. Consequently, 

there would be conflict with Policy ST07, unless the proposal was for rural 

building reuse. 

 
1 Under the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 3, Class P of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended) 
2 Under Council Reference 65731 

Page 138

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255430

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

10. The reuse of disused and redundant rural buildings is addressed by Policy 

DM27 of the Local Plan. Such proposals are supported, subject to certain 

criteria being met, one of which is that the development can be achieved 
without significant external alteration, extension or substantive rebuilding. The 

extension proposed under the development would double the floorspace of the 

building and substantially increase its height and volume. It would, therefore, 

involve significant extension, so would not be supported by Policy DM27. 
Consequently, the development would be contrary to the settlement policies of 

the development plan. 

11. The nearest settlement is Parracombe, which lies 3 kilometres away, and has a 

very limited range of services. Bratton Fleming, which has a primary school, 

village shop and post office is about 7 kilometres away by road. There is no 
evidence to suggest that regular journeys to obtain services at either of these 

settlements could be made by public transport. The distances involved, and the 

nature of the roads and topography, is such that walking or cycling would not 
be attractive alternatives. Higher order services are even more distant, at 

Barnstaple and Ilfracombe. Access to public transport services to these 

settlements would not be easily available. Occupants of the dwelling would, 

therefore, be heavily reliant on private vehicles to access services and facilities. 

12. Paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 
advises that planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of 

isolated homes in the countryside, other than in specified circumstances that 

do not apply in this case. The physical separation of the site from any 

recognised settlement, and its remoteness from services, means that the 
proposed dwelling would be an isolated home in the countryside. 

13. Therefore, having regard to the settlement policies of the development plan, 

and the inaccessibility of services and facilities, the site is not suitable for a 

dwelling. The proposal is contrary to Policies ST05, ST07 and DM27 of the Local 

Plan, which seek to reduce the need to travel by car, limit development in the 
countryside, and set parameters for the reuse of rural buildings. The proposal 

would also conflict with the Framework’s aims to avoid isolated homes in the 

countryside and to promote sustainable transport. 

Character and appearance of the landscape 

14. The appeal site lies in attractive open countryside, close to the boundary of 

Exmoor National Park to the north and east. The North Devon and Torridge 
Joint Landscape Character Assessment describes the area as Moorland Edge 

Slopes. The appeal site displays many of the key characteristics of this 

landscape type, including views to Exmoor; a small, square field pattern with 

beech hedges on stone-faced banks; moorland influence in vegetation; and a 
sense of isolation, tranquillity and remoteness. The existing building on the site 

has a low profile, and the surrounding semi-wild vegetation and roadside 

boundary hedge, means it has been largely assimilated into the landscape. The 
current appearance of the site is, therefore, characteristic of the landscape 

within which it is located.  

15. The addition of a full storey above the existing structure would make it a much 

more prominent feature in the rural landscape. Its increased height would 

mean that it would be visible, over the eastern boundary hedge, from higher 
land in a wide arc from the northeast to the southwest, including views out of 

the National Park. The stark, cuboid building, with a large area of glazing, 

Page 139

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255430

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

would be an incongruous feature in the rolling agricultural landscape that forms 

the setting of the National Park. Moreover, significant levels of light would 

escape from the full height windows in the southeast elevation, intruding into 
its dark night skies. Some attempt has been made to reduce this impact, by 

angling the windows. However, a condition requiring the provision of 

automated blackout curtains would be an unreasonable imposition on future 

occupants, and unlikely to be enforceable. Consequently, light would still be 
discernible from the National Park to the east. 

16. The proposal would also be visible from closer quarters. The increased height 

and mass of the building would result in it being visible when approaching the 

site from the road junction to the northeast. From here, it would be seen on 

the ridge, so would be an intrusive feature on the rural skyline. It would also 
be a much more obvious feature than the existing structure when viewed from 

the road directly in front of the site. Furthermore, removal of vegetation to 

create the driveway, the presence of parked vehicles, and the domestication of 
the land around the building would further erode the contribution that the site 

makes to the landscape character of the area.  

17. The proposed extension and conversion would not, therefore, have a positive 

impact on the immediate setting of the building, and would be harmful to the 

character and appearance of the landscape. Consequently, the proposal would 
be contrary to Policies ST14, DM08A and DM27 of the Local Plan. These policies 

seek to protect and enhance the landscape character and distinctiveness of the 

setting of Exmoor National Park, including its dark skies. It would also conflict 

with the Framework’s aim to ensure that development contributes to and 
enhances the natural and local environment, by recognising the intrinsic 

character and beauty of the countryside. 

Foul drainage 

18. The site lies in an isolated rural location, distant from any mains foul water 

drains. It is not unusual for dwellings in such locations to be served by non-

mains foul drainage solutions. The submitted details indicated that a package 
treatment plant would be installed, in accordance with the Building Regulations, 

and the treated effluent would be disposed of into the neighbouring field, 

where there is an easement to dispose of foul or clean water. Whilst percolation 

tests have not been provided, there is no evidence to suggest that this would 
not provide a suitable means of disposal.  

19. Even if satisfactory percolation tests could not be demonstrated, no evidence 

has been provided to cast any doubt on the feasibility of providing a cesspool 

within the appeal site. Whilst this is the least favoured option in the foul 

drainage hierarchy, it is, nevertheless, not prohibited by the Flood Drainage 
Assessment Form. Their use must, however, be fully justified. The absence of 

foul sewers or suitable percolation tests would provide such justification. The 

plant could be located so that it would be easily accessible for emptying, and 
sufficient capacity could be ensured through prior submission and approval of 

details. Other legislation protects the environment from problems that may 

arise from poor maintenance. 

20. In these circumstances, had I been minded to allow the appeal, it would have 

been reasonable to impose an appropriately worded planning condition, to 
ensure that a suitable system of foul drainage was in place, prior to occupation 

of the dwelling. This would have ensured that the development met the 

Page 140

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255430

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          5 

requirements of Policy DM02 of the Local Plan regarding environmental 

protection. 

Other Considerations 

21. Two potential fallback positions have been identified: firstly, the Prior Approval 

under Class P (the PA); and secondly, a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed 

Use or Development (the CLD) granted on 16 May 20193 for alterations and 

extensions to the existing building, including an increase in its height. A second 
Certificate4 also confirms the lawfulness of the proposed creation of a parking 

and turning area. 

22. The PA permits the change of use of the building and the land within its 

curtilage to a dwelling. Bearing in mind the nature of the building, the change 

of use could not be implemented without operational development, which 
would require planning permission. Whilst the PA may confer some expectation 

that planning permission would be likely for a scheme based around the 

existing envelope of the building, there can be no such expectation that 
planning permission for a significant enlargement of the building would be 

forthcoming. In any event, as no application for operational development has 

been made, there is currently no fallback position that could be implemented. 

23. The appellant has drawn my attention to an appeal decision where an Inspector 

found Policy ST07 to be irrelevant, as the principle of residential use at the site 
had already been established through a Prior Approval under Class P. However, 

unlike the current proposal, in that case the Inspector was considering a 

scheme that involved minimal changes to the existing building, so was within 

the scope of the permitted change of use. It therefore carries little weight in 
my decision. 

24. The CLD confirms that, under the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 7, Class H of 

the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) 

Order 2015 (as amended) (the GPDO), the existing reservoir structure (which 

has a storage use) could be enlarged. The Council has questioned whether the 
CLD could be lawfully implemented, but the evidence does not support this 

view. The CLD has not been revoked, so it remains a fallback position that 

could be implemented. 

25. The scheme covered by the CLD includes a full storey above the existing 

structure, with a triangular extension on the north eastern side, to the same 
overall height. The building would have extensive glazing, and would be 

surrounded by a 2-metre high galvanised steel palisade fence for security 

purposes. The increased mass, greater extent of glazing, and the materials 
proposed, would result in the building being more harmful to the landscape 

than the appeal proposal. 

26. The approved drawings do, however, appear to represent an attempt to 

demonstrate the maximum environmental impact that could be achieved 

through permitted development, rather than to provide a logical and functional 
storage building. The amount of glazing proposed is unlikely to be practical, as 

it would reduce the level of storage that could take place within the building, 

and would compromise security. The very large and bespoke units of glazing 
would be expensive to manufacture and install, and would be unlikely to be a 

 
3 Under Council Reference 66473 
4 Under Council Reference 66066 

Page 141

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255430

 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          6 

viable proposition for a storage use, particularly as they would detract from the 

utility of the building. Furthermore, the shape of the extension, with its acute 

angled corner, would not be conducive to an efficient storage use. The 
implementation of the scheme approved under the CLD is, therefore, no more 

than a theoretical possibility. 

27. Nevertheless, the permitted development rights conferred by Schedule 2, Part 

7, Class H of the GPDO would still apply. The appellant has indicated that, if the 

appeal is unsuccessful, they would have to be implemented in some form to 
make the site financially viable. The extension and alteration of the building for 

a storage use is, therefore, a real prospect. However, the viability of a storage 

use would be dependent, in part, on the cost of the extension and alterations, 

and the functionality of the resultant building. Bearing these factors in mind, it 
is likely that the exercise of the permitted development rights would result in a 

much more utilitarian building than proposed under the CLD. Such a building 

would be unlikely to have a significantly, if any, greater impact on the 
character and appearance of the area than the proposed residential conversion. 

Planning Balance 

28. The proposal would conflict with development plan policies relating to the 

location of residential development and protection of the landscape. Planning 
law5 requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise. Potential fallback positions could represent such material 
considerations. 

29. For the reasons given above, the PA does not provide an implementable 

fallback position, and the implementation of the CLD is no more than a 

theoretical possibility. Consequently, having regard to relevant case law6,7, 

neither represents a material consideration that would weigh against the 
policies of the development plan. 

30. The potential extension of the building under the permitted development rights 

conferred by Schedule 2, Part 7, Class H of the GPDO is a real prospect. 

Therefore, the case law dictates that it is a material consideration. However, a 

practical storage building resulting from the utilisation of these rights, would be 
unlikely to have a markedly greater impact on the character and appearance of 

the area than the appeal scheme. Therefore, this fallback position only carries 

limited weight in the overall balance. Consequently, it does not outweigh the 
conflict with development plan policies. 

Conclusion 

31. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

 

Nick Davies 

INSPECTOR 

 
5 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 70(2) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 
6 Mansell v Tonbridge and Malling BC & others [2017] EWCA Civ 1314 
7 Gambone v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2014] EWHC 952 (Admin) 

Page 142

Agenda Item 8
Appendix D

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

 

Costs Decision 
Site visit made on 6 January 2021 

by Nick Davies  BSc(Hons) BTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 28 January 2021 

 
Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/X1118/W/20/3255430 

Blackmoor Gate Service Reservoir, Former services reservoir Kentisbury, 

Nr Blackmoor Gate, Devon EX31 4SJ 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 
322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Mr Damian Pope (Valandea Ltd) for a full award of costs 
against North Devon District Council. 

• The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for extension of building and 
setting out of driveway. 

 

Decision 

1. The application for an award of costs is allowed in the terms set out below. 

Reasons 

2. The Planning Practice Guidance (the PPG) advises that costs may be awarded 

against a party who has behaved unreasonably, and thereby caused the party 

applying for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the appeal 
process. 

3. The applicant claims that the Council has acted unreasonably in: 

a) Ignoring its own guidelines in relation to a fallback position; 

b) Ignoring case law, which was brought to its attention; 

c) Questioning the validity of a Certificate of Lawfulness; and, 

d) Changing its mind in relation to the drainage issue. 

4. On the first issue, the applicant relies on the advice published on the 

Consultation Portal area of the Council’s website, under the heading Frequently 

Asked Questions (FAQs). This part of the website provides generic answers to 

commonly asked questions. The relevant answer identifies what is meant by 
the term fallback position, and says that, once a fallback position has been 

established, an alternative proposal should be considered against that position. 

It is made clear on the webpage that the answers do not have any formal 
planning status, and are provided as informal guidance. 

5. The Officer’s Report clearly referred to the two potential fallback positions, and 

how the application should be considered against them. The report concluded 

that the fallback positions were hypothetical, so carried little weight. There 

was, consequently, no detailed comparison of the impacts of the proposed 
scheme and the fallback schemes. The report did not refer to the advice set out 

Page 143

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255430 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

in the FAQs, but, given that it has no formal planning status, I do not find that 

was unreasonable. 

6. On the second issue, the PPG advises that local planning authorities are at risk 

of an award of costs against them if they act contrary to, or do not follow, well-

established case law. The Officer’s report does not specifically refer to the 
document submitted with the application entitled “Fallback Legal Position”, or 

all of the case law referred to in it. However, the Officer’s Report did include a 

summary of the most recent Court of Appeal decision1 that it contained. The 
Council was therefore aware of established case law relating to the 

circumstances in which a fallback position is a material consideration. 

7. The conclusion of the Officer’s Report makes it clear that the fallback positions 

were considered as a material consideration. It was then a matter for the 

Council, as decision-maker, to determine the weight that the fallback position 
should be given in the overall planning balance. The Council’s conclusion that 

they were of limited weight was not irrational, and I came to a similar 

conclusion in my decision, albeit for different reasons. I do not therefore find 

that the Council acted contrary to established case law, so find no 
unreasonable behaviour on this issue. 

8. The Certificate of Lawfulness (the CLD) referred to in the third issue was 

granted in May 2019. It confirms that, under the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 

7, Class H of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

(England) Order 2015 (as amended) (the GPDO), the existing reservoir 
structure could be enlarged in accordance with an approved drawing. The 

Officer’s Report, however, suggests that unauthorised engineering operations 

had taken place to remove earth around the structure without planning 
permission. It is argued that “as the permitted development works are enabled 

by unauthorised development, the LPA do not consider the applicant could 

undertake the Part H extensions within permitted development”. At the time of 

determining the application, therefore, the Council’s position appeared to be 
that the CLD could not be implemented. 

9. The applicant’s appeal statement contains evidence that the removal of the 

earth banks took place some time ago, before he took ownership of the land. 

That being the case, the CLD was approved after the works took place. Based 

on the applicant’s evidence there were, therefore, no grounds for the Council to 
have questioned the ability to implement the development approved under the 

CLD. 

10. The Council’s statement did not include any information to undermine the 

evidence in the applicant’s statement. Nevertheless, the Council persisted with 

its position at paragraph 2.5 of its appeal statement, where it is explained that 
“in other words as the removal of earth around the structure has been 

undertaken without the benefit of planning permission it is contended the fall-

back position is not applicable in any event”. Consequently, the applicant was 
compelled to provide further evidence in response to the Council’s statement. 

11. Section 192(4) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 provides that the 

lawfulness of any use or operation for which a CLD is in force “shall be 

conclusively presumed unless there is a material change, before the use is 

instituted or the operations are begun”. The Council has not provided any 

 
1 Mansell v Tonbridge and Malling BC & others [2017] EWCA Civ 1314 

Page 144

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255430 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

evidence to demonstrate that there has been any such material change since 

the CLD was granted. Consequently, its position casting doubt on the ability to 

implement the CLD was unreasonable, and the appellant was put to the 
unnecessary expense of providing additional evidence on this point.     

12. The application on the fourth issue is based on the fact that the Council stated 

in correspondence that there were no drainage concerns with the proposals, 

but subsequently included a reason for refusal relating to the inadequacy of the 

proposed foul drainage provision. In response, the Council says that the 
reference in their correspondence to drainage was only meant to relate to 

surface water drainage. However, that was not clearly stated, and there was no 

reference elsewhere in the correspondence to any issues regarding foul 

drainage. 

13. I have some sympathy with the Council on this matter, because, although the 
National Planning Policy Framework encourages local planning authorities to 

work pro-actively with applicants, there was no obligation for officers to provide 

such a comprehensive explanation of the likely outcome of the application. 

However, the correspondence did give the impression that there were no 
technical issues that needed to be addressed. Had the applicant been made 

aware of the concerns, additional information could have been provided, and 

the reason for refusal could have been avoided. Instead, the applicant was 
compelled to provide additional evidence as part of the appeal. 

14. The additional information demonstrated that mains foul drainage was not 

achievable and that, if percolation tests proved unsatisfactory, a cesspool could 

be installed as a last resort. Based on the additional evidence, I concluded that 

the matter could have been addressed through an appropriately worded 
planning condition. The PPG advises that planning authorities are at risk of an 

award of costs for refusing planning permission on a planning ground capable 

of being dealt with by conditions, where it is concluded that suitable conditions 

would enable the proposed development to go ahead. I therefore find that the 
inclusion of the fourth reason for refusal was unreasonable, and, as a result, 

the applicant was put to unnecessary expense in the appeal process in this 

regard. 

Conclusion  

15. I therefore find that unreasonable behaviour by the Council, resulting in 

unnecessary and wasted expense, as described the PPG, has been 
demonstrated and that a partial award of costs is justified. 

Costs Order 

16. In exercise of the powers under section 250(5) of the Local Government Act 

1972 and Schedule 6 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended, 
and all other enabling powers in that behalf, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that 

North Devon District Council shall pay to Mr Damian Pope (Valandea Ltd), the 

costs of the appeal proceedings described in the heading of this decision, 
limited to those costs incurred in providing evidence on the ability to implement 

the CLD, and in relation to the fourth reason for refusal; such costs to be 

assessed in the Senior Courts Costs Office if not agreed.  

Page 145

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255430 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

17. The applicant is now invited to submit to North Devon District Council, to whom 

a copy of this decision has been sent, details of those costs with a view to 

reaching agreement as to the amount. 

 

Nick Davies 

INSPECTOR 

Page 146

Agenda Item 8
Appendix E

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 6 January 2021 

by Nick Davies  BSc(Hons) BTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date:  28 January 2021 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/X1118/W/20/3255871 

Little Shortridge, Warkleigh, Umberleigh EX37 9DD 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr David Gillanders against the decision of North Devon District 
Council. 

• The application Ref 71198, dated 21 February 2020, was refused by notice dated  
22 June 2020. 

• The development proposed is to reinstate dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues are: 

a) Whether the site is suitable for a dwelling, bearing in mind the 

settlement policies of the development plan and the accessibility of 
services and amenities; 

b) The effect of the development on the character and appearance of the 

countryside; and, 

c) The effect of the development on biodiversity. 

Reasons 

Settlement policies and accessibility of services 

3. The appeal site lies in a rural area approximately 2 kilometres to the northwest 

of Chittlehamholt and 2.8 kilometres to the southeast of Umberleigh. There is a 

complex of agricultural buildings approximately 200 metres to the west, and a 
stone-built barn about 50 metres to the north. Apart from these buildings the 

site is surrounded by open agricultural land. It therefore lies in the countryside 

outside any settlement. 

4. The site contains the remnants of a long-abandoned dwelling, and the proposal 

is described as being for its reinstatement. However, apart from one gable end 
and chimney, the walls of the derelict building have not generally survived 

above the height of the ground floor window openings, and the ruins are 

largely overgrown with vegetation. As long ago as 1985, an Inspector’s 
decision1 concluded that the remains “were far too dilapidated to form the basis 

 
1 Appeal Ref: T/APP/G1115/A/84/17989/P4 

Page 147

Agenda Item 8
Appendix F

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

of a new dwelling, and the state of them led me to the conclusion that a 

dwelling had not been occupied on the site for many years”. 

5. Policy DM26 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011 – 2031 (adopted 

2018) (the Local Plan) addresses replacement dwellings in the Countryside. 

The supporting text makes it clear that the Policy does not apply to derelict 
buildings where the residential use has been abandoned; such 'replacement' 

would be regarded as a new dwelling. Accordingly, notwithstanding the 

description of the proposal, I have considered the appeal on the basis that it is 
for a new dwelling in the countryside. 

6. The settlement strategy of the Local Plan directs most new development to 

northern Devon’s Sub-regional Centre, Strategic Centre and Main Towns. Policy 

ST07 addresses the spatial strategy for the rural area, where Local Centres will 

be the primary focus for development. In the countryside, beyond villages, 
development is limited to that which meets local economic and social needs, 

rural building reuse, and development which is necessarily restricted to a 

countryside location.  

7. There is no evidence to indicate that an open market dwelling in this location 

would meet any local economic and social needs. Furthermore, it has not been 

sought to demonstrate that a countryside location is required for the dwelling, 
for example, to meet the needs of an agricultural business. Consequently, 

there would be conflict with Policy ST07, unless the proposal was for rural 

building re-use. 

8. Policy DM27 of the Local Plan addresses the re-use of disused and redundant 

rural buildings. Such proposals are supported, subject to certain criteria being 
met, one of which is that the development can be achieved without significant 

external alteration, extension or substantive rebuilding. Very little of the 

original building remains, and no structural evidence has been submitted to 
demonstrate that the remnants could be retained as part of a reinstatement. 

Even if they could, they would amount to a very small proportion of the 

resultant building. Almost the entire first floor, and the whole roof would be 
newly built. The extent of the necessary work would amount to substantive 

rebuilding. The development would not, therefore, be supported by Policy 

DM27, so would conflict with the settlement policies of the development plan. 

9. Chittlehamholt has a limited range of services, including a community shop, 

village hall and pub. However, occupants of the dwelling would have to travel 
about four kilometres by road to obtain these services. As the roads are 

narrow, unlit and do not have footways or cycle lanes they are not conducive to 

sustainable modes of transport. Furthermore, there is no evidence that there 

are any public transport facilities along these roads. There may be more direct 
routes, via public footpaths, but they would also be unlit and would still involve 

a walk of more than 2 kilometres. The services at Umberleigh are similarly 

distant. Higher order facilities at South Molton are about 8 kilometres away, 
and not easily accessible by public transport. Occupants of the dwelling would, 

therefore, be heavily reliant on private vehicles to access services and facilities. 

10. Paragraph 79 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 

advises that planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of 

isolated homes in the countryside, other than in specified circumstances that 
do not apply to this case. The physical separation of the site from any 

Page 148

Agenda Item 8
Appendix F

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

recognised settlement, and its remoteness from services, means that the 

proposed dwelling would be an isolated home in the countryside. 

11. Therefore, having regard to the settlement policies of the development plan, 

and the inaccessibility of services and facilities, the site is not suitable for a 

dwelling. The proposal is contrary to Policies ST07 and DM27 of the Local Plan, 
which seek to limit development in the countryside, and set parameters for the 

re-use of rural buildings. The proposal would also conflict with the Framework’s 

aims to avoid isolated homes in the countryside and to promote sustainable 
transport. 

12. In arriving at this conclusion, I am mindful that planning permission has been 

granted for conversion of the stone barn, to the north of the site, to a dwelling. 

However, the evidence indicates that this proposal complied with Policy DM27 

of the Local Plan. The re-use of a rural building is also one of the circumstances 
where paragraph 79 of the Framework allows for an isolated home in the 

countryside. This permission does not, therefore, alter my conclusion that the 

appeal site is not suitable for a new dwelling. 

Character and appearance of the countryside 

13. The appeal site lies on the eastern slope of a river valley in attractive 

countryside. The area is characterised by rolling agricultural fields, with copses 

and larger areas of woodland. Apart from isolated clusters of agricultural 
buildings, there is a general absence of development, which contributes to the 

tranquillity and landscape character of the area. 

14. The remnants of the previous dwelling are visible from the opposite side of the 

valley, but their ruinous and overgrown condition mean that they have largely 

been assimilated into the landscape. The clearance of the vegetation, and the 
construction of a new first floor and roof, over an extensive building footprint, 

would result in a much more noticeable feature in the landscape. Although 

there is some tree screening immediately to the north and south of the site, 

the new house would be readily visible from the road on the opposite side of 
the valley, and from the higher land to the north. It would be an intrusive 

feature that would be harmful to the appearance of the largely undeveloped 

river valley slope. 

15. The site is also visible from the public footpath that runs past the site. Due to 

the overgrown nature of the remains, they are currently barely discernible to 
passing walkers. This footpath would also form the access to the dwelling, and 

the plans indicate the provision of parking and turning facilities within the 

curtilage of the proposed dwelling. Some improvement to the existing track 
would be necessary to facilitate its regular use by domestic vehicles. The large 

new dwelling would be a much more obvious feature in the landscape, and 

would be visible along the length of the footpath when approaching from the 
east, as well as when passing the site. Together with the access improvements 

and vehicle parking provision, the proposal would have a significant and 

harmful impact on the character and tranquillity of the landscape as 

experienced by users of the footpath. 

16. For these reasons, I conclude that the development would be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the countryside. Consequently, the proposal 

would be contrary to Policies ST14 and DM08A of the Local Plan, which seek to 

ensure that development protects and enhances local landscape character and 

Page 149

Agenda Item 8
Appendix F

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3255871 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          4 

distinctiveness, including its tranquillity. It would also conflict with the 

Framework’s aim to ensure that development contributes to and enhances the 

natural and local environment, by recognising the intrinsic character and 
beauty of the countryside. 

Biodiversity 

17. The Council’s Sustainability Officer has commented that the application did not 

include enough detail to assess the impacts of the proposal on protected 
habitats and species. In these circumstances, the Council considered that a 

Preliminary Ecological Assessment should have been undertaken to inform any 

decision on the proposal. No further expert evidence has been submitted with 
the appeal. 

18. Taking account of the evidence before me, the building does not have a roof, 

so is unlikely to provide significant roosting or nesting facilities for those 

protected species normally associated with barns. The overgrown nature of the 

building, and the presence of trees and other vegetation within the site may 
provide habitat for a range of species. The proposals are, however, largely 

limited to the part of the site where the previous building was located. The 

larger site could be retained without significant disturbance, and could 

accommodate mitigation and enhancement measures. 

19. I therefore conclude that it is unlikely that the development would result in 
harm to protected species that could not be suitably mitigated, and that there 

is scope to achieve net gains. However, in the absence of evidence to 

demonstrate the absence of protected species, I cannot safely conclude that 

this is the case. In these circumstances I would have had to consider whether it 
was possible to impose a condition requiring the prior approval of an ecological 

survey, together with a requirement for a mitigation plan if any protected 

species were found to be present. This would have necessitated consultation 
with the parties. As I am dismissing the appeal for other reasons, I do not need 

to pursue this issue further. 

Other Matters 

20. The appellant contends that the remnant building should have been listed, and 

that the proposal will facilitate the preservation of historic building features, 

including a bread oven. However, little evidence has been provided regarding 

any special historic or architectural interest of the previous building. In any 
event, little of it remains, so the benefit of preserving the ruins carries little 

weight in my decision. 

21. It is also suggested that the development would be likely to reduce travelling to 

the site, due to its current use. However, apart from a small amount of 

external storage, there did not appear to be any significant activity on site that 
would generate more traffic than a large family dwelling. 

Conclusion 

22. For the reasons given above, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed. 

Nick Davies 

INSPECTOR 

Page 150

Agenda Item 8
Appendix F

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 4 January 2021 

by M Bale BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State  

Decision date: 29 January 2021 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/X1118/W/20/3260179 

Whiddon Service Reservoir, North Lane, Muddiford, Barnstaple EX31 4HG 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Neil Woofenden against the decision of North Devon District 

Council. 
• The application Ref 71476, dated 24 April 2020, was refused by notice dated 10 June 

2020. 
• The development proposed is conversion of a water tank (reservoir) and the land within 

its curtilage from (Use Class B8) to one dwelling (Use Class C3). 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issues 

2. The main issues are:  

(i) the effect of the development on the character and appearance of the 

area; 

(ii) the effect on highway safety; 

(iii) the effect on biodiversity interests; and  

(iv) whether appropriate foul drainage facilities would be provided. 

Reasons 

Character and appearance 

3. Permission has previously been refused and an appeal1 dismissed for the 

change of use of this reservoir to a dwelling. While there are no particular 

landscape designations or protections, the earlier Inspector found that the 
building operations required to facilitate the conversion of the structure would 

cause significant harm to the character and appearance of the area. This was 

found to have resulted in a conflict with the aims of Policies ST01, ST14, DM04 

and DM27 of the North Devon and Torridge Local Plan 2011-2031 (LP) and the 
National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework). Although timber cladding 

and a green roof would go some way to assimilating the building into the 

landscape, the current proposal would also result in this harm.  

 
1 Ref. APP/X1118/W/19/3220870 

Page 151

Agenda Item 8
Appendix G

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3260179 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

4. Since the previous Decision, timber fencing and solar panels have been erected 

at the site. At the time of my site visit, the solar panels were lying down and 

barely visible, but the fencing was intrusive in the landscape. These items 
would be removed as part of the development, and permitted development 

rights could be withdrawn to prevent further structures being erected at the 

site.  

5. However, while the removal of the fence and solar panels (if re-erected) would 

result in some visual improvement over the current situation, the residual, 
previously identified, long-term harm from the building operations, presence of 

cars, and any domestic paraphernalia that could not be prevented through 

planning conditions would remain. Therefore, there would not be an overall 

improvement to the character and appearance of the area or the setting of the 
building and a conflict would remain with the aims of LP Policies ST14, DM04, 

and DM27 that seek to ensure that development protects the quality of the 

natural environment, landscape character, and has a positive impact on the 
immediate setting of the building.  

Highway Safety 

6. The previous Inspector found that visibility was restricted in one direction, 

could not be improved, and that there would be a harmful effect on highway 
safety if vehicles were to reverse out of the site. It would be possible to reverse 

into the site instead of out, but this driver behaviour could not be controlled. 

The plans indicate that the likely small number of future users would be able to 
manoeuvre within the site so that two parked vehicles could be accommodated, 

but do not demonstrate that turning would be possible.  

7. There are likely to have been some traffic movements at the access in 

connection with the reservoir use. However, the appellant’s claim that it has 

been in frequent use by servicing and maintenance vehicles is unsubstantiated 
by evidence, so I attribute this limited weight. I, therefore, find that an 

increase in movements would be a likely consequence of the change of use. 

8. The road past the site is an unclassified rural lane, unlikely to accommodate a 

large amount of traffic. However, for the reasons given, the evidence before 

me does not demonstrate that the previously identified visibility shortcomings 
would not result in unacceptable harm to highway safety. The proposal would, 

therefore, conflict with those aims of LP Policy DM05 and the Framework that 

seek to ensure that development proposals provide a safe and well designed 
vehicular access and egress.   

Biodiversity 

9. The existing structure is a sealed, subterranean tank, which would appear to 

provide limited opportunities for access by protected species. However, there is 
no robust evidence to demonstrate that it has no ecological interest. While a 

green roof and managed planting would be provided as part of the 

development, there is no substantive evidence that this would result in a 
biodiversity enhancement over the existing situation. 

10. It may well be that the Council validated the application without an ecological 

survey but, that the Council did not seek such information while considering 

the application does not indicate that there would be no effect. Moreover, in 

the absence of this type of evidence, the previous Inspector found a conflict 

Page 152

Agenda Item 8
Appendix G

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/X1118/W/20/3260179 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

with LP Policy DM08 relating to the conservation of the natural environment. 

There is insufficient evidence to lead me away from that conclusion. While a 

condition could be used to secure a construction and environmental 
management plan, the evidence does not demonstrate that any adverse effects 

could be avoided in this way.   

11. I have no doubt that the appellant could provide mitigation for any effects on 

the Braunton Burrows Special Area of Conservation, through a planning 

obligation or similar. However, no such mitigation is before me so I cannot 
conclude that adverse effects on the integrity of this site, in combination with 

other development, would not arise. The proposal would, therefore, conflict 

with LP Policies ST14 and DM08 which seek to ensure the protection of 

designated sites.  

Foul drainage 

12. The Council is concerned that the appellant has not demonstrated why foul 

drainage methods that it considers to be preferable to the proposed cess pit 
have not been proposed. However, there is no substantive evidence that the 

development would result in pollution of the water environment. As such, I find 

no conflict with those aims of LP Policies ST03, ST14, DM02, DM04 or DM08 

that seek to ensure that development is well designed, does not cause pollution 
or harm biodiversity interests. The lack of harm is a neutral consideration.  

Other matters 

13. The proposal would make a small contribution to meeting the District’s housing 

needs. However, given that only one additional dwelling would be provided, I 

give this benefit limited weight. The harm that I have identified, therefore, 

significantly and demonstrably outweighs the benefits of granting permission. 

14. Prior approval has been given for the change of use of the reservoir to 

residential under permitted development rights, which could result in similar 
effects to this scheme on highway safety and biodiversity. However, that 

Decision did not allow any building operations and so would not have a 

comparable effect on the character and appearance of the area. Moreover, 
there is no substantive evidence that it would proceed without a proposal for 

building operations, such as those proposed here and, so, I give that extant 

permission limited weight.   

Conclusion 

15. There would be adverse effects on the character and appearance of the area, 

highway safety and biodiversity. For these reasons, the proposal would conflict 

with the development plan, read as a whole. Material considerations do not 
indicate otherwise that permission should be granted.  

16. Accordingly, the appeal is dismissed.  

M Bale 

INSPECTOR  

 

Page 153

Agenda Item 8
Appendix G

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meetings held on 13th January 2021 and 20th January 2021.
	Minutes
	Minutes of Previous Meeting

	6 66135: Outline application for erection of one Local Needs dwelling & access (some matters reserved) (amended plans) at: Barleycott, Muddiford, Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 4ES.
	66135_Appendix A_Location Plan_Feb 2021
	66135_Appendix B_Design & Access Statement_Feb 2021
	66135_Appendix C_Position Report re Rural Settlements_Feb 2021

	7 71660: Outline application for up to 59 residential units and associated infrastructure, some matters reserved (appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) (additional information) at Land at Chivenor Cross, Chivenor, Braunton EX31 4BN
	71660_Appendix A_Feb 2021

	8 Appeals Report
	Appeals Report Feb 2021_Appendix A_Appeal Decision 71730
	Appeals Report Feb 2021_Appendix A_Costs Decision 71730
	Appeals Report Feb 2021_Appendix B_Appeal Decision
	Appeals Report Feb 2021_Appendix C_Appeal Decision 70419
	Appeals Report Feb 2021_Appendix C _Costs Decision 70419
	Appeals Report Feb 2021_Appendix D_Appeal Decision 71198
	Appeals Report Feb 2021_Appendix E_Appeal Decision


